NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT THE FIFTEENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE MEMBERS OF

BY-HAND/E- MAIL

NOTICE OF 15™ ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

CARLSBERG INDIA PRIVATE LIMITED WILL BE HELD THROUGH VIDEO CONFERENCING (“vC") /
OTHER AUDIO-VISUAL MEANS (“OAVM”) VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS AS PER THE SCHEDULE GIVEN

BELOW:
Day and Date | 16" September 2021
Time 10:30 AM

Place

Audio, Video Conferencing, 04" Floor, Rectangle No.1, Commercial Complex, D4,
Saket, New Delhi—110 017.

ORDINARY BUSINESS:

To receive, consider, approve and adopt the Audited Financial Statements (standalone and
consolidated) for the Financial Year ended on March 31, 2021 along with the Reports of
Auditors and Directors thereon.

To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without modification(s), the following resolution
as an Ordinary Resolution:

"RESOLVED THAT the Audited Financial Statements including Consolidated Financial
Statements of the Company and its Associate Company NCC Crowns Private Limited,
comprising the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2021, the Statement of Profit and Loss Accounts,
Cash Flow Statements for the financial year ended on that date, together with the notes
thereto, Report of the Board of Directors and Auditors’ Report, as circulated to the
shareholders and laid before the meeting, be and are hereby received, considered, approved
and adopted."

Appointment of M/s T.R Chadha and Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants (Firm Registration
Number: 006711N/N500028) as Statutory Auditor of the Company for a term of 4
consecutive years commencing 2021-2022 till 2024-2025.

To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without modification(s), the following resolution
as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 139 read with Section 141 and Section
142 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Audit & Auditors) Rules, 2014
(including and statutory modification (s)) or re-enactment thereof and all other applicable
provisions, if any, and pursuant to the recommendations of the Board of Directors, M/s T.R
Chadha and Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants (Firm Registration Number: 006711N/N500028)
be and are hereby appointed as statutory auditors of the Company for a period of four (4)
financial years commencing from 2021-2022 till 2024-2025 at a remuneration as may be
decided by the Board of Directors of the Company in consultation with the statutory auditors.
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SPECIAL BUSINESS:

3. Toappoint Mr. Peter Steenberg (DIN: 07440024) as a Director of the Company:
To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without modification(s), the following resolution
as an Ordinary Resolution:
“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 149, 152, 161 and other applicable
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Appointment and
Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014 made thereunder (including any statutory
modification{s) or re- enactment thereof for the time being in force), Mr. Peter Steenberg
(DIN: 07440024) who is eligible for appointment be and is hereby appointed as a Director of
the Company, with effect from the date of this Annual General Meeting.”

4. To appoint Mr. Soren Frederik Flensborg (DIN: 09106072) as a Director of the Company:

To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without modification(s), the following resolution
as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 149, 152, 161 and other applicable
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Appointment and
Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014 made thereunder (including any statutory
modification(s) or re- enactment thereof for the time being in force), Mr. Soren Frederik
Flensborg (DIN: 09106072) who is eligible for appointment be and is hereby appointed as a
Director of the Company, with effect from the date of this Annual General Meeting.”

/By_gder of the Board of Directors

A Indla Prlvate Linfited

7

o /Ashwfn Kﬂmar Aggarwal
\—/ Company Secretary

Date: 6™ September 2021 M. No A26499
Place: Gurugram
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NOTES:

1. CONSIDERING THE PRESENT COVID-19 PANDEMIC, THE MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS
(“MCA”) HAS VIDE ITS GENERAL CIRCULAR NO. 14/2020 DATED APRIL 8, 2020, GENERAL
CIRCULAR NO. 17/2020 DATED APRIL 13, 2020, GENERAL CIRCULAR NO. 20/2020 DATED
MAY 5, 2020, GENERAL CIRCULAR NO. 22/2020 DATED JUNE 15, 2020, GENERAL CIRCULAR
NO. 33/2020 DATED SEPTEMBER 28, 2020, GENERAL CIRCULAR NO. 39/2020 DATED
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND CIRCULAR NO. 02/2021 DATED JANUARY 13, 2021 PERMITTED
CONVENING OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (“AGM”/ “MEETING”) THROUGH VIDEO
CONFERENCING (“VC”) OR OTHER AUDIO VISUAL MEANS (“OAVM”), WITHOUT THE
PHYSICAL PRESENCE OF THE MEMBERS AT A COMMON VENUE. In accordance with the MCA
Circulars and provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’), the 15™ AGM of the Company
is being held through VC/OAVM means. The deemed venue for the 15 AGM shall be the
Registered Office of the Company. The framework prescribed by MCA in said circulars would
be available to the members for effective participation in following manner:

a. Company is convening its 15" AGM through VC/OAVM and no physical presence of
members, directors, auditors and other eligible persons shall be required at venue of
general meeting.

b.  Notice of the 15™ AGM is being sent through email to all members as on i.e. 7t
September 2021 on their registered email id with the Company and no physical copy of
the same would be dispatched. If any member wants to update his/her registered email
id, may send request for the same by writing to Company Secretary at
Ashwin.Aggarwal@carlsberg.asia.

C. The link for joining the meeting is being given in the email through which the notice of
AGM is being circulated.

d. Members and Participants, to whom this notice is being circulated, are allowed to
submit their queries, questions etc., relating to accounts or any matter to be presented
during the AGM, before the meeting in advance by writing to Company Secretary at
Ashwin.Aggarwal@carlsberg.asia. Further, queries, questions may also be posed
concurrently during the general meeting by writing at Ashwin.Aggarwal@carlsberg.asia.

e. Members, directors, auditors and other eligible persons to whom this notice is being
circulated are advised to attend the general meeting through video conferencing about
15 minutes before the scheduled time to ensure proper connectivity.



f. In case of any assistance is required before or during the AGM with using the technology
before or during the general meeting, in accessing the meeting, the members may
contact Mr. Ashwin Aggarwal, Company Secretary at Ashwin.Aggarwal@carlsberg.asia
or call at 9873839322.

PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF THE ACT, A MEMBER ENTITLED TO ATTEND AND VOTE AT
THE MEETING IS ENTITLED TO APPOINT ANOTHER PERSON AS A PROXY TO ATTEND AND
VOTE AT THE MEETING INSTEAD OF HIM/HER SELF AND SUCH PROXY NEED NOT BE A
MEMBER OF THE COMPANY. Since this AGM is being held pursuant to the MCA circulars
through VC / OAVM, physical attendance of Members has been dispensed with. Accordingly,
the facility for appointment of proxies by the Members will not be available for this AGM and
hence the proxy form and attendance slips are not annexed to this notice.

Since the 15" AGM will be held through VC/ OAVM, the Route Map of the venue of the
meeting is not annexed hereto.

in view of the relaxation provided by MCA vide MCA Circulars, the Financial Statements,
Auditor's Report, Board’s Report and Notice of AGM are being sent only by email to those
Members whose email addresses are registered with the Company and no physical copy of the
same will be provided. If any member wants to update his/her registered email id, may send
request for the same by writing to Mr. Ashwin Aggarwal, Company Secretary at
Ashwin.Aggarwal@carlsberg.asia.

Pursuant to Section 113 of the Companies Act, 2013, Corporate Members intending to send
their authorized representatives to attend the meeting are requested to send to the Company
a certified copy of the Board Resolution along with identity documents such as Passport of its
authorized representative to attend and vote on their behalf at the Meeting. The said
Resolution shall be sent to the Company by e-mail at Ashwin.Aggarwal@carlsberg.asia of Mr.
Ashwin Aggarwal, Company Secretary of the Company or at the registered office address of the
Company before the commencement of the meeting.

Members attending the meeting through VC / OAVM shall be counted for the purpose of
reckoning the quorum under Section 103 of the Act.

The Register of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel and their shareholding maintained
under Section 170 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Register of Contracts or Arrangements in
which Directors are interested maintained under Section 189 of the Companies Act, 2013 will
be available for inspection electronically by the Members during business hours on a working
day and during the AGM.. All other documents referred to in the Notice and Explanatory
Statement will be available for inspection in electronically by the Members during business
hours on a working day and during the AGM. . All the information shall be provided
electronically.

The Statement pursuant to the provisions of Section 102 of the Companies Act, 2013 in respect
of ltem No. 3 and 4 is annexed herewith and forms an integral part of the notice.
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PROCEDURE FOR JOINING THE AGM THROUGH VC /OAVM:

The Company will provide VC /OAVM facility to its Members for participating at the AGM:

a. Members will be able to attend the AGM through VC / OAVM by using the link which
would be given to all the members, directors and auditors before the AGM at their

registered email id with the Company.

b. Members may join the AGM through laptops, smartphones, tablets and iPads for better
experience. Further, Members will be required to use Internet with a good speed to avoid

any disturbance during the Meeting.

c. Participants connecting from mobile devices or tablets or through laptops connecting via
mobile hotspot may experience Audio/Video loss due to fluctuation in their respective
network. It is, therefore, recommended to use stable Wi-Fi or LAN connection to mitigate

any glitches.

W{#ﬁ&gf the Board of Directors

/ForEarishery India Private Limited

-]

A.\____/’ o’ &
\o - %vﬁwﬁumarﬁxggarwal

Bt Company Secretary

Date: 6 September, 2021
Place: Gurugram

M. No. A26499
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THE EXPLANATORY STATEMENT IN RESPECT OF SPECIAL BUSINESS PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS
OF SECTION 102 OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013 READ WITH SECRETARIAL STANDARDS

ITEM NO. 3

This is to inform the members that the Board of Directors of your Company at their Meeting held
on March 22, 2021 appointed Mr. Peter Steenberg (DIN:07440024) as an Additional Director of the
Company with effect from March 22, 2021 and in terms of Section 161(1) of the Companies Act,
2013 read with the Companies (Appointment and Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014, Mr. Peter
Steenberg (DIN:07440024) shall hold office as an Additional Director upto the date of the

forthcoming Annual General Meeting or the last date on which Annual General Meeting should
have been held, whichever is earlier.

Accordingly, in terms of the requirements of the Section 149, 152, 161 and any other applicable
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies {Appointment and Qualification
of Directors) Rules, 2014, approval of the members of the Company is required for the
appointment of Mr. Peter Steenberg (DIN:07440024) as a Director of the Company.

in this regard, the Company had received a notice from Mr. Peter Steenberg {DIN: 07440024)
signifying his intention to be appointed as a Director of the Company.

In compliance with the provisions of Secretarial Standards, following are the brief particulars of
Mr. Peter Steenberg (DIN: 07440024):

ge 47 Years -
Qualifications Professional
Experience | 20+ Years
Terms and conditions of Appointment Representative Director on Board
Amt of remuneration sought to be paid N/A
Remuneration last drawn N/A
Date of first appointment on the Board 22.03.2021
Shareholding in the company N/A
Relationship with directors, Manager, KMP of the | N/A
Company
No of Meetings of Board attended during the year 2020- | Nil
21
Other directorship/ membership/ chairmanship of | N/A
committees of the Board

None of the Directors or any other Key Managerial Personnel or their relatives except Mr. Peter

Steenberg (DIN: 07440024) are in any way concerned or interested in proposed resolutions either
financial or otherwise. .

The Company has disclosed all the related information and to the best of understanding of the
Board of Directors no other information and facts are required to be disclosed that may enable

members to understand the meaning, scope and implications of the items of business and to take
decision thereon.
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The Board of Directors is of the opinion that his vast knowledge and varied experience will be of
great value to the Company and hence recommends the resolution at Item No 03 of this Notice
for your approval to be passed as Ordinary Resolution.

ITEM NO. 4

This is to inform the members that the Board of Directors of your Company at their Meeting held
on March 22, 2021appointed Mr. Soren Frederik Flensborg (DIN: 09106072) as an Additional
Director of the Company with effect from March 22, 2021 and in terms of Section 161 (1) of the
Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Appointment and Qualification of Directors)
Rules, 2014, Mr. Soren Frederik Flensborg (DIN: 09106072) shall hold office as an Additional
Director upto the date of the forthcoming Annual General Meeting the last date on which Annual
General Meeting should have been held, whichever is earlier.

Accordingly, in terms of the requirements of the Section 149, 152, 161 and any other applicable
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Appointment and Qualification
of Directors) Rules, 2014, approval of the members of the Company is required for the
appointment of Mr. Soren Frederik Flensborg (DIN: 09106072) as a Director of the Company.

In this regard, the Company had received a notice from Mr. Soren Flensborg (DIN: 09106072)
signifying his intention to be appointed as a Director of the Company.

In compliance with the provisions of Secretarial Standards, following are the brief particulars of
Mr. Soren Frederik Flensborg (DIN: 09106072):

53e rs

Qualifications

Professional

Experience

20+ Years

Terms and conditions of Appointment

Representative Director on Board

committees of the Board

Amt of remuneration sought to be paid N/A
Remuneration last drawn N/A

Date of first appointment on the Board 22.03.2021
Shareholding in the company N/A
Relationship with directors, Manager, KMP of the | N/A
Company

No of Meetings of Board attended during the year Nil

Other directorship/ membership/ chairmanship of | N/A
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None of the Directors or any other Key Managerial Personnel or their relatives except Mr. Soren
Frederik Flensborg (DIN: 09106072) are in any way concerned or interested in proposed
resolutions either financial or otherwise.

The Company has disclosed all the related information and to the best of understanding of the
Board of Directors no other information and facts are required to be disclosed that may enable
members to understand the meaning, scope and implications of the items of business and to take
decision thereon.

The Board of Directors is of the opinion that his vast knowledge and varied experience will be of
great value to the Company and hence recommends the resolution at Item No 04 of this Notice
for your approval to be passed as Ordinary Resolution.

By Order of the Board

ForCarlgberg Indla Private Limited

o—= J’,?'
U) —‘i l'

* win Kumar Aggarwal

..@mpany Secretary
Date : 6% September, 2021 M. No. A26499

Place : Gurugram
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Members of Catlsberg India Private Limited
Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of Carlsberg India Private Limited
(the “Company”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2021 and the Statement of Profit and
Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash
Flows for the year then ended, and notes to the standalone financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as the “Standalone
Financial Statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, except for
the possible effects of the matters described in the ‘Basis for Qualified Opinion’ Section of our report, the
aforesaid standalone financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“the
Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting
Standards prescribed under section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards)
Rules, 2015, as amended, (“Ind AS™) and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state
of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2021, its profit, total comprehensive income, its cash flows and the
changes in equity for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

We draw your attention that the standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 have been
approved by the Board of Directors in its meetings held on September 6, 2021 by majority of the directors
and three directors have not approved the same. We further draw your attention that the standalone financial
statements for the year ended March 31, 2020 and year ended March 31, 2019, which were audited by previous
statutory auditor, were also approved by the Board of Directors in its meetings held on November 2, 2020
and January 9, 2020, respectively, by majority of the directors and three directors did not approve the same.
Reasons for non-approval of standalone financial statements by the said three directors, as communicated by
the Company, for the years ended March 31, 2021 and Match 31, 2020 are given in attached Annexure C and
Annexure D of our report, respectively.

We draw your attention to note 55(a) to the standalone financial statements regarding differences in
viewpoints amongst the shareholders of the intermediate holding company of the Company which has
petcolated to the Company level and resulted in various exchanges of communications and notices between
certain directors of the Company on one hand and other directors and the Company on the other hand. As
described in the said note, three directors of the Company (referred to in the said note as 'Complaining
Directors') have sent letters to the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) and the Ministry of Commerce and
Industry (MCI) with a copy to the Ministty of Finance (MoF), to take cognizance and investigate into the
alleged itregularities and illegalities in the Company contained in the said letters. In this regard, the Deputy
Registrar of Companies, NCT of Delhi and Haryana, Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India
(RoC Office), sought certain information from the Company to which the Company had replied refuting all
allegations raised against the Company and the seven directors. The Company has received an email

communication dated October 23, 2020 from the RoC Office, that it has closed this complaint against the

Company.

Further, as described in note 55 (b) to the standalone financial statements, the previous statutory auditor of
the Company has reported to the Ministry of Corporate Affairs under Section 143(12) of the Companies Act,
2013 on September 24, 2020. The RoC Office has initiated inspection of books of accounts under Section

T R Chadbha & Co., a partnership firm converted into T R Chadha & Co LLP [y

(A limited liability partnership with LLP Identification No. AAF-3926) with effect from 28t December,/Zi15 /A \ e
la. e ] I |

Corporate & Regd. Office: B-30, Connaught Place, Kuthiala Building, New Delhi - 110001 | ~\ " ¥ '
Phone: 43259900, Fax: 43259930, E-mail: dethi@trchadha.com NN '
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206(5) of the Companies Act, 2013. Pursuant to the same, the Company received notices on November 26,
2020 and July 7, 2021, from RoC Office whereby information and documents were sought from the
Company. The Company has submitted all the information and documents to the RoC Office, as required by
them vide its letters dated December 16 & 20, 2020, April 1, 2021 and July 21, 2021.

Considering the divergent and conflicting views amongst the ditectors and pending conclusion by respective
Regulatory Authorities on the matters raised in the aforementioned letters, we are unable to comment on the
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations and adjustments and disclosures that may be required in
the financial statements.

We draw your attention to note 55(a), 55(c) and 55(d) to the standalone financial statements regarding the
Company's practice of incurring expenditure on trade discounts, promotional schemes, advertisement and
sales promotion aggregating to Rs. 2,188 million (MINR) (FY 2019-20: 3,012 MINR) including 1,836 MINR
(FY 2019-20: 2,166 MINR) which are deducted from Revenue from Operations. As described in the aforesaid
notes, in October 2018, a speak up matter was reported concerning the legality and administration of
Company’s discount practices. Under supervision of the Audit Committee of the Board, a comprehensive
review of its trade practices was conducted which identified certain internal controls issues in relation to the
modus operandi of the discount procedures namely, lack of written agreements between the Company and
third party beneficiaries, lack of proper compliance with Know Your Customers (KYC) norms by third party
beneficiaries, lack of checks and balances on utilisation of amounts allocated to area sales managers, lack of
consistency in rebate amounts provided to the beneficiaries.

Consequently, the management obtained external legal opinions, insights of the industry practices from the
consulting firm and carried out internal analysis and made recommendations to the Board of the Company.
The same was approved by the majority of the Board of Directors of the Company, in its meeting held on
February 25, 2020, which inter-alia included sending intimation to various State Authorities and Corporations
and develop comprehensive trade program process and controls.

As described in the said note, the Complaining Directors voted against the management recommendations
stating that payments without explicit approvals from State Excise Authorities and to other than license
holders, in their view, will lead to breach of laws and misappropriation of Company’s funds.

Further, as described in the abovementioned note, the Company has obtained legal opinions with respect to
the legality of its advertisement and promotional activities including brand extension promotion. The Board,
by majority, holds the view that its advertisement and promotional activities are in line with industry wide
practices and the Company and its advising external legal firm have not come across any enforcement with
respect to the same until to date. However, the Complaining Directors are of the opinion that the advertising
and promotional activities of the Company are not in compliance with the law.

Considering the divergent views amongst the directors and pending conclusion of the matters by Authorities,
we are unable to comment on the compliance with the applicable laws and regulations and adjustments and
disclosures that may be required in the financial statements.

We draw your attention to note 55(f) to the standalone financial statements regarding communication received
by the company during the earlier financial years through its Vigil Mechanism pertaining to certain alleged
unlawful/unethical practices. As desctibed in the said note, the internal investigations indicated certain
internal control weaknesses and a possibility that certain practices of the Company in earlier years might not
be in compliance with the applicable laws, the Company's Code of Ethics & Conduct and policies, although
the amount involved could not be ascertained. Further, as described in the said note, certain investigations
regarding matters reported during current financial year are ongoing.

T R Chadha & Co., a partnership firm converted into T R Chadha & Co LLP !
(A limited liability partnership W|th LLP Identification No. AAF-3926) with effect from 28™ December, 2015

Corporate & Regd. Office: B-30, Connaught Place, Kuthiala Building, New Delhi - 110001 7B
Phone: 43259900, Fax: 43259930, E-mail: delhi@trchadha.com i




10.

11.

Chartered Accountants

T R Chadha & Co LLP m

Considering the divergent views amongst the directors on the above and pending conclusion of the ongoing
matters, we are unable to comment on the compliance with the applicable laws and regulations and
adjustments and disclosures that may be required in the financial statements.

We draw your attention to note 55 (g) to the standalone financial statements regarding the ongoing matters
related to the contraventions with certain provisions of the Competition Act, 2002 by the Company and its
past and current employees and directors. During the year, the Company and certain current and past
employees filed their respective responses to the report of Director General of Competition Commission of
India (CCI). CCI heard the matter on February 11 and March 2, 2021 and after hearing the parties involved,
reserved it for the judgment. As described in the said note, management, along-with its legal advisors, believe
that there are mitigating factors to counter presumptions made against the Company by the CCI under the
Competition Act, 2002, which have also been highlighted in the comments / objections to the investigation
report and during hearing submissions filed by the Company and accordingly, they are of the view that it is
not practicable to state an estimate of its financial effect, if any.

Pending conclusion of the matter by CCI including the quantum of the penalty that may be levied on the
Company, we are unable to determine the adjustments and disclosures that may be required in the financial
statements.

We draw your attention to note 50 to the standalone financial statements regarding certain related party
transactions for the year amounting to MINR 99 (FY 2019-20: MINR 58) and total amount payable as on
March 31, 2021 amounting to MINR 246 (As on March 31, 2020: MINR 142), which ate pending for approval
by the Board of Directors as required under the Articles of Association of the Company. Pending such
approval, we are unable to comment on the compliance with the applicable laws and regulations and
adjustments and disclosures that may be required in the financial statements.

We conducted our audit of the standalone financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing
(SAs), as specified under Section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further
described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements’ Section of
our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ‘Code of Ethics’ issued by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requitements and the Code of Ethics. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
qualified audit opinion on the standalone financial statements.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw your attention to note 55 (e) to the standalone financial statements regarding the Complaining
Directors’ view that the Vigil Mechanism is not in compliance with Indian Company Law and matters are
being handled outside of the Company’s governance mechanism. The Board, by majority, supported by
external counsel opinion, are of the view that the Vigil Mechanism is operating in compliance with the
requirements of the Companies Act, 2013.

We draw your attention to note 55 (i) to the standalone financial statements in respect of default made by the
Company in holding its Annual General Meeting for financial year ended March 31, 2019 within the stipulated
timelines in accordance with the provisions of Section 96 of the Companies Act 2013 including non-laying of
annual financial statements in accordance of Section 129 of the Companies Act 2013. As stated in the said
note, during the current financial year, the Company management has filed the compounding 'lpplll:'ltiOﬂ
under the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the matter is pending as on date 'ma as'per thf:

|
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management the financial impact, if any, of the above matter on the financial statements of the Company, is
not expected to be material.

. We draw your attention to note 57 to the standalone financial statements, that few of the minutes of meetings

of the Board of the Company are not approved/ signed/maintained in accordance with the timelines
mentioned in the Secretarial Standards read with Section 118 of the Companies Act 2013. Further, minutes
of few committee meetings (not the statutory committees formed under the Companies Act) pertaining to
the previous financial years and minutes of one committee meeting for the current financial year are not

approved/ signed/ maintained.

As described in the aforesaid note, the Company is evaluating the same and is in the process of filling
compounding application under the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 with respect to the delay in
maintenance of minutes of the Board Meetings.

We draw your attention to note 58 to the standalone financial statements which explains that management has
considered various internal and external information available up to the date of approval of financial results in
assessing the impact of COVID-19 pandemic in the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 and
will continue to monitor changes in future economic conditions. Based on management evaluation, no further
materdal impact on the carrying amounts of cutrent and non-current assets (including financial assets) is
expected. The eventual outcome of the impact of COVID-19 may be different from that estimated as on the
date of approval of these financial statements.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of any matter mentioned above.

Other Information

The Company's management and Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comptises the information included in the Company's Directors” Report but does not include the
financial statements and auditors' report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appeats to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a matetial misstatement of this other information,
we ate required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and those chatged with govetnance for the standalone financial
statements

The Company's management and Board of Directors are responsible for the mattets stated in section 134(5)
of the Act with respect to the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair view of the
financial position, financial performance including other comprehensive income, cash flow and changes in
equity of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the
Accounting Standards specified under section 133 of the Act This responsibility also includes maintenance of
adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act, for safeguarding of the assets of
the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of
approptiate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were oeram:lg cftn:cmrr:lv

T R Chadha & Co., a partnership firm converted into T R Chadha & Co LLP
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for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting recotds, relevant to the preparation and presentation
of the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In prepating the financial statements, management and Board of Directors are responsible for assessing the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. Board of Directors is also responsible for overseeing
the Company's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s teport that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these standalone
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, mistepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal financial control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also
responsible for expression of our opinion on whether the company has adequate internal financial
controls with reference to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

¢  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e  Conclude on the approptiateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the standalone financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern.

e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone financial statements,

including the disclosures, and whether the standalone financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the financial statements that, individually or in aggregate,
makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the finanefal statements
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may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our
audit work and in evaluating the results of our work; and (i) to evaluate the effect of any identified
misstatements in the financial statements.

. We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Others Matters

. The Comparative financial statements of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2020, were audited by

another auditor whose teport dated November 2, 2020, expressed Disclaimer of Opinion on those
statements.

Repott on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2016 (“the Order”) issued by the Central

Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of Section 143 of the Act, we give in the “Annexure A”, a
statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order.

As tequired by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

(a) We have sought and, except for the matters described in 'Basis for Qualified Opinion' section of our
report, obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were
necessaty for the purposes of our audit.

(b) Except for the possible effects of the matters described in "Basis for Qualified Opinion' section of our report,
in our opinion, propetr books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as it
appears from our examination of those books.

() The Standalone Balance Sheet, the Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other
Comprehensive income), the Standalone Statement of Changes in Equity and the Standalone Cash Flow
Statement dealt with by this report are in agreement with the books of account and the records
maintained for the purpose of preparation of standalone financial statements.

(d) Except for the possible effects of matters described in Basis for Qualified Opinion' section of our report,
in out opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards specified under
Section 133 of the Act, as applicable.

(e) Except for the possible impact of the matters described in ‘Basis for Qualified Opinion™ section of our
report, we did not come across any matters that may have an adverse effect on the functioning of the
company

T R Chadha & Co., a partnership firm converted into T R Chadha & Co LLP 7 Arc et
(A limited liability partnership wnth LLP Identification No. AAF-3926) with effect from 28" December, 2015 <S>

Corporate & Regd. Office: B-30, Connaught Place, Kuthiala Building, New Delhi - 110001
Phone: 43259900, Fax: 43259930, E-mail: delhi@trchadha.com




T

®

®)

®

Chartered Accountants |

R Chadha & Co LLP | O‘\(

On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 31st March, 2021 taken on
record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31st March, 2021 from being
appointed as a director in tetms of Section 164 (2) of the Act.

The qualifications relating to maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith are as stated in
the “Basis of Qualified Opinion™ section of our report.

With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting of the Company
and the operating effectiveness of such controls refer to our separate report in Annexure B. Our report
expresses a qualified opinion on the operating effectiveness of the Company’s internal financial controls
over financial reporting of the Company for reasons stated therein.

With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of
the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and
according to the explanations given to us:

a. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position in the
standalone financial statements (Refer Note 21, 39 and 55(f) to the standalone financial
statements).

b. The Company has long-term contracts as on 31% March 2021 for which there were no material
foreseeable losses. The Company did not have any derivative contracts as on 31t March 2021

c. There was no amount which were required to be transfetred to the Investor Education and
Protection Fund by the Company during the year ended March 31, 2021.

24. With respect to the matter to be included in the Auditors' Report under Section 197(16):

The Company is a private limited company and accordingly the requirements as stipulated by the provisions of
Section 197 are not applicable to the Company. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has not prescribed other
details under Section 197(16) which are required to be commented upon by us.

For T R Chadha & Co LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm cgistmti?)"_\To.: 006711N/N500028

Hite

Partner
Membership No: 502955

Place: Gurugram
Date: 6% September 2021

UDIN- 21502955AAAAECA4752
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“Annexure A” as referred to in paragraph 22 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements’ section of out report of even date

(@ The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative details
and situation of fixed assets.

(b) The fixed assets have been physically verified by the Management during the year according to a
phased programme designed to cover all the items over a period of 3 years which, in our opinion,
is reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its assets. Pursuant to the
programme, a portion of the fixed assets has been physically verified by the Management during
the year and no material discrepancies were noticed on such verification.

(¢)  Thetitle deeds of immovable properties are held in the name of the Company except certain parcels
of freehold land amounting to net cartying amount of MINR 52 and a leasehold land amounting
to net carrying amount of MINR 37. These freehold and leasehold lands are pending for transfer
in the name of the Company in the revenue records. (Refer Note 3A and 3B to the financial
statements for details).

The physical verification of the inventory excluding stocks with third party and goods in transit, has been
conducted by the Management at reasonable intervals during the year. In respect of inventory lying with
third parties, these have substantially been confirmed by them. The discrepancies noticed on physical
verification of inventory as compared to book records were not material and have been appropriately
dealt with in the books of accounts.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanation given to us, the Company has not
granted any loans, secured or unsecured, to companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or other
parties covered in the register maintained under section 189 of the Act. Therefore, the provisions of
Clause 3(iii) of the Order are not applicable to the Company.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanation given to us, the Company has not
granted any loans or made any investments, or provided any guarantees or security to the parties covered
under Section 185 of the Act. Further, in our opinion, and according to the information and explanations
given to us, the Company has complied with the provisions of Section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013
in respect of the investments made.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanation given to us, the Company has not
accepted any deposits from the public within the meaning of Sections 73 to 76 of the Act and the Rules
framed thereunder. Accordingly, the provisions of Clause 3(v) of the Order are not applicable to the
Company.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanation given to us, the Central Government
of India has not specified the maintenance of cost records under sub-section (1) of Section 148 of the
Act, for any of the products of the Company. Accordingly, the provisions of Clause 3(vi) of the Order
are not applicable to the Company. .
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% (@) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and records of the
Company examined by us, the Company is generally regular in depositing undisputed statutory dues in
respect of goods and services tax, income tax, employees’ state insurance, provident fund, duty of
Customs, duty of Excise, professional tax, value added tax, cess and other material statutory dues, as
applicable, with the appropriate authorities. Further, there were no arrears of undisputed statutory dues
as at 31st March 2021, which were outstanding for a period of mote than six months from the date they
became payable.

(b) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the
Company examined by us, the particulars of dues of income tax, sales tax, service tax, duty of excise, value
added tax and entry tax as at March 31, 2021 which have not been deposited on account of a dispute, are

as follows:

Name of Statute Nature of dues Period to | Total Amount | Amount | Forum where dispute
which the Involved Paid is pending
amount including under
relates interest & Protest
penalty (MINR)
(MINR)
Central Excise Act Excise Duty 2009-15 6 0 | CESTAT
and Customs Act
Central Excise Act Excise Duty 2015-17 6 0 | Commissioner
and Customs Act (Appeals)
Central Excise Act Excise Duty 2012-17 6 6 | Commissioner State
and Customs Act Excise
Eatry Tax Act Entry Tax 2012-15 17 17 | Joint Commissioner of
Commercial Taxes
(Appeals)
Finance Act 1994 Service Tax 2007-15 36 1 | CESTAT
Finance Act 1994 Service Tax 2007-12 75 - | Commissioner of
Setvice Tax
Finance Act 1994 Service Tax 2010-12 15 - | Directorate General of
Central Excise
Intelligence
Income Tax Act Tax Deducted at 2012-14 57 - | Commissioner of
Source Income Tax (Appeals)
Sales Tax Act and Local Sales Tax/ 2014-15 2 2 | Tribunal
Value Added Tax Act | Central Sales
Tax/Value Added Tax
Sales Tax Act and Local Sales Tax/ 2014-17 65 - | Appellate Authority
Value Added Tax Act | Central Sales
Tax/Value Added Tax
Sales Tax Act and Local Sales Tax/ 2015-16 921 Assessing Officer
Value Added Tax Act | Central Sales
Tax/Value Added Tax
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Sales Tax Act and Local Sales Tax/ 2012-18 17 Commercial Tax
Value Added Tax Act | Central Sales Officer
Tax/Value Added Tax
Sales T'ax Act and Local Sales Tax/ 2009-17 298 15 | CST Appellate
Value Added Tax Act | Central Sales Authority
Tax/Value Added Tax
Sales Tax Act and Local Sales Tax/ 2012-14 1 - | Deputy Commissionet,
Value Added Tax Act | Central Sales Commercial taxes
Tax/Value Added Tax
Sales Tax Act and Local Sales Tax/ 2013-14 1 1 | Indirect Tax board
Value Added Tax Act | Central Sales
Tax/Value Added Tax
Sales Tax Act and Local Sales Tax/ 2013-17 130 47 | Joint Commissioner of
Value Added Tax Act | Central Sales Commercial Taxes
Tax/Value Added Tax (Appeals)
Sales Tax Act and Local Sales Tax/ 2013-14 5 5 | Tribunal
Value Added Tax Act | Central Sales
Tax/Value Added Tax
8.  According to the records of the Company examined by us and the information and explanations given

10.

11.

13.

to us, the Company has not defaulted in repayment of any loan or borrowing to any financial institution
or bank. The Company does not have any loan or borrowing from Government and has not issued any
debentures.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company did not raise
any money by way of initial public offer or further public offer (including debt instruments) and term
loans during the year. Accotrdingly, the provisions of clause 3 (ix) of the Order are not applicable to the
Company.

During the course of our examination of the books and records of the Company and according to the
information and explanation given to us, except for the possible effects of matters described in “Basts of
Qualified Opinion” section of our main audit report, we have neither come across any other instance of
material fraud by the Company or on the Company by its officers or employees, noticed or reported
during the year, nor have we been informed of such case by the Management.

The provisions of Section 197 read with Schedule V of the Companies Act 2013 are not applicable to the
Company. Accordingly, the provisions of clause 3 (xi) of the Order are not applicable to the Company.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is not a
Nidhi company. Accordingly, the provisions of Clause 3 (xii) of the Order are not applicable to the
Company.

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination of the records
of the Company, the Company has entered into transactions with the related parties in compliance with
provisions of Section 188 of the Companies Act 2013. The details of such related party transactions have
been disclosed in the financial statements as required under Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 24,
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Related Party Disclosures specified under Section 133 of the Act. Further, although the company has
constituted an Audit Committee, it is not required to constitute such Committee under Section 177 of
the Act and accordingly, to this extent, the provisions of Clause 3 (xiif) of the Order are not applicable
to the Company. Also refer Paragraph 8 of the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section of our report.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not
made preferential allotment or private placement of shares or fully or partly convertible debentures during
the year. Accordingly, the provisions of clause 3 (xiv) of the Order are not applicable to the Company.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not
entered into non-cash transactions with Directors or persons connected with him. Accordingly, the
provisions of clause 3 (xv) of the Order are not applicable to the Company.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is not
required to be registered under Section 45-1A of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934. Accordingly, the
provisions of clause 3 (xvi) of the Order are not applicable to the Company.

For T R Chadha & Co LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No.: 006711N/N500028

Hitesh Garg 7 — /
Partner
Membership No: 502955

Place: Gurugram
Date: 6% September 2021
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“Annexure B” as referred to in paragraph 23(g) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirtements’ section of our report of even date

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of Carlsberg India Private Limited
(“the Company”) as of 315 March 2021 in conjunction with our audit of the standalone financial statements
of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls with
reference to Financial Statements based on the internal controls over financial reporting criteria established
by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on
Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by The Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India (ICAI). These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance
of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient
conduct of its business, including adherence to Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the
prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records,
and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to exptess an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference to
Financial Statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note
on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) and the Standards
on Auditing, issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent
applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both applicable to an audit of Internal Financial Controls
and, both issued by ICAI Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate
internal financial controls with reference to Financial Statements was established and maintained and if
such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial control system with reference to Financial Statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit
of internal financial control with reference to Financial Statements included obtaining an understanding of
internal financial control with reference to Financial Statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropdiate to provide a basis for our
qualified audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system with reference to Financial
Statements.
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Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

A company's internal financial control over financial reporting with reference to financial statements is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company's internal financial control over financial reporting with reference to financial
statements includes those policies and procedures that:

a) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;

b) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessaty to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditutes of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and

c) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the
possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error
or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls
over financial reporting with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that
the internal financial control over financial reporting with reference to financial statements may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our audit, material weaknesses
have been identified in respect of the certain matters, as desctibed in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion”
paragraph of our Audit Report on the Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2021.

A ‘material weakness’ is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal financial control over
financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s
annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the possible effect of the material weaknesses described in the Basis for Qualified
opinion paragraph above on the achievement of the objectives of the criteria, the Company has, in all
material respect, an adequate internal financial control system with respect to financial statements and such
mternal financial controls with refetence to financial statements were operating effectively as at March 31,
2021 based on the internal financial control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company
considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal
Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.
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We have considered the material weaknesses identified and reported above in determining the nature,
timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the Standalone Financial Statements of the Company
for the year ended March 31, 2021 and these material weaknesses have, inter alia, affected our opinion on
the said Standalone Financial Statements and we have issued a qualified opinion on the said Standalone
Financial Statements.

For T R Chadha & Co LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regjstration No.: 00671 1N /N500028

Hitesh Garg
Partner
Membership No: 502955

Place: Gurugram
Date: 6% September 2021
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Summary of the Minutes of CIPL Board Meeting held on 6th September 2021 related to approval of
financial statements 2020/21:

DIRECTOR’S VOTES FOR/AGAINST THE APPROVAL OF THE ACCOUNTS AND THE REASONS FOR THEIR
VOTES

VOTING

Voted in Favour of the Resolution for Approval/Adoption of the Financial Statement 2020-21: Mr.

Jan Rasmussen, Mr. Troels Stollberg, Mr. Soren Flensborg, Mr. Nilesh Patel, Mr. Muthuraman
Ramanathan and Mr. Peter Steenberg.

Voted Against the Resolution for Approval/ Adoption of the Financial Statement 2020-21: Mr.
Prabhat Singh, Mr. Pawan Jagetia and Mr. Kalpataru Tripathy.

REASONS FOR SUPPORT OR DISSENT

Mr. Pawan Jagetia (dissenting): Mr. Pawan Jagetia voted against and stated that the Audit Report is
a good summary and T. R. Chadha and Co., LLP {“the Auditors”) has pointed out several weaknesses
and issues in incurring the expenses relating to the trade discounts. He stated that the expenses
relating to trade discounting are very significant amounts (INR 2.188 Billion in the current financial
year and INR 3.012 Billion in the last year) which CIPL has spent and that the independent auditor
were not convinced on these expenses, hence have given qualified opinion. He also noted that he is
not in agreement with the remuneration booked for CIPL managing director which in his view was not

in line with the contract or with remuneration committee’s approval. He disagreed with the
statements of Mr. Stollberg (noted below).

Mr. Peter Steenberg, Chairman: Mr. Steenberg voted for, and stated that the audit has been
proceeded based on the audit plan approved by the Audit Committee on 7™ April 2021. He stated
that while the Board should be concerned by the highlighted issues, the Auditors have recognised and
confirmed that they have seen improvements over the Financial year with the internal controls, which
is an evidence that the Company is on the right track. He stated that the Auditors have also recognised
the fact that the discussions/disputes at the holding company has reached the Company level, which
is reflected in the Audit Report and that the Auditors have pointed to the fact that the divergent views
from the complaining directors is a significant factor so that they have deemed necessary to issue a
qualified opinion. He stated that it will be a key task for the management that CIPL continue to improve
and strengthen the internal controls further. He stated that the Audit Committee and the Board has
clear processes with the compliance tracker, and they do regularly monitor progress. He stated that
despite the qualification, the Auditors has concluded that the Financial Statements gives a true and
fair picture of the Company. He stated that based on the review that he has done, in his view, the
readers of these statement will be provided a true and fair picture of the Company’s affairs to the
extent required by the Indian Accounting Standards. He thanked the management for their hard work.
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Mr. Kalpataru Tripathy (dissenting): Mr. Kalpataru Tripathy voted against and stated that the three
complaining directors are non-executive directors and not involved directly in the Company'’s affairs.
He stated that the views of the three directors are personal to them. Noting that the Auditors were
privy to a lot of information including legal opinions, Mr. Tripathy stated that the divergent view was
an issue in the last financial year. He did not find it logical that the Auditors did not take an
independent opinion based on the information/documents made available to them in the current
financial year. He noted that he is not sure whether that was the only reason or if the Auditors are still
not convinced despite of the information provided to them. He stated that the Auditors should take
an independent view on the matters.

Mr. Troels Stollberg: Mr. Troels Stollberg voted for, and invited the attention of the Board members
to certain paragraphs from the Audit Report that (a) financial statements regarding differences in
viewpoints amongst the shareholders of the intermediate holding company of the Company which
has percolated to the Company level; (b) the previous statutory auditor of the Company has reported
to the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) under Section 143(12) of the Companies Act, 2013, and
that MCA inspection is still pending; and (c) the Auditors have qualified the Audit Report and express
inability to comment on the compliance with the applicable laws and regulations and adjustments and
disclosures that may be required in the financial statements considering the divergent and conflicting
views amongst the directors and pending conclusion by respective Regulatory Authorities. He also
noted that according to communication received from RoC by the Company, the Complaints of the
complaining directors has been closed on 23 October 2020. He stated that in view of the aforesaid,
he is not surprised that the current Auditors have based their qualified opinion on divergent views and
the current ongeing inspection by the MCA.

Mr. Prabhat Singh (dissenting): Mr. Prabhat Singh voted against and stated that he is doing so for the
reasons stated by Mr. Pawan Jagetia.

Mr. Jan Thieme Rasmussen: Mr. Jan Thieme Rasmussen voted for.

Mr. Nilesh Patel: Mr. Nilesh Patel voted for.

Mr. Muthuraman Ramanathan: Mr. Muthuraman Ramanathan voted for.

Mir. Soren Flensbhorg: Mr. Soren Flensborg voted for.

shwin Aggarwal .
(Company Secretary)
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Ssummary of the Minutes of CIPL Board Meeting held on 2 November 2020 reiated to approval of
financial statements 2019/20:

DIRECTOR’S VOTES FOR/AGAINST THE APPROVAL OF THE ACCOUNTS AND THE REASONS FOR THEIR
VOTES

VOTING

Voted in Favour of the Resolution for Approval/Adoption of the Financlal Statement 2019-20: Mr.
Graham Fewkes, Mr. Troels Stollberg, Mr. Philip Hodges, Mr. Jan Rasmussen, Mr. Nilesh Patel, Mr,
Muthuraman Ramanathan and Mr. Mark Jongejan.

Voted Agalnst the Resolution for Approval/ Adoption of the Financial Statement 2019-20: Mr.
Pawan Jagetia and Mr. Kalpataru Tripathy

Abstained from Voting: Mr. Prabhat Singh
REASONS FOR SUPPORT OR DISSENT

Mr. Prabhat Singh (abstaining): Mr. Singh abstained as he only recently had been appointed director,
after the financial years 2019/20.

Mr. Troels Stollberg: Mr. Troels Stollberg voted for, as he considered the financial statements to be
true and falr and had noted the Registrar of Companies had closed their case related to allegations
regarding the Company.

Mr. Kalpataru Tripathy (dissenting): Mr. Kalpataru Tripathy voted against as the auditors had not
confirmed the veracity of certain financlal statements made by management.

Mr. Pawan Jagetia (dissenting): Pawan Jagetia voted against and stated that PW has noted several
issues with compliances, accounting, reporting and governance in their draft Audit Reports. He stated
that he continues to have serious reservations about business practices, compliances and
transparency in running of the Company which was also reflected in his letters/emails to CIPL Board
and Managing Director of the Company. This gave him no confidence in the Financlal Reports and

accompanying statements in governance and internal controls prepared by the executive
management.

Mr. Mark Jongejan: Mr. Mark Jongejan voted for, as he considered the financlal statements to be true
and fair.

Mr. Jan Thieme Rasmussen: Mr. Jan Thieme Rasmussen voted for, for the same reasons as stated by
Mr. Troels Stollberg and Mr. Mark Jongejan.

Mr. Nilesh Patel: Mr. Nilesh Patel voted in favour of the resolution, strongly rejected the allegations

made by Mr. Pawan Jagetia and stating the allegations by Mr. Pawan Jagetia were made as part of the
sharehoider dispute.
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Mr. Muthuraman Ramanathan: Mr. Muthuraman Ramanathan voted in favour of the resolution.

Mr. Graham Fewkes: Mr. Graham Fewkes voted for, expressing confidence in management, given the
detailed work of the audit committee and the fact that the Registrar of Companies had closed their
case regarding allegations about CIPL.

Mr. Phil Hodges, chairman: Mr. Phil Hodges voted for, expressing confidence in the managing director
and the CFO, noting the recommendation made by Mr. Mark Jongejan as audit committee member,
he found the financial statements to be true and fair, and as the auditors had not found any materlal
misrepresentations and the Registrar of Companies has closed their case.

Yours truly,

Philip A. Hodges, Chairman OZI I ' 2020
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Carlsberg India Private Limited
CIN:U15111DL2006PTC148579
Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2021

(Rupees in million, except for share data and if otherwise stated)

Particulars Notes As at As at
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3A 5,416 5,606
Right-of-use assets 3B 263 299
Capital work-in-progress 3A 79 276
Other intangible assets 4 5 5
Financial assets
i. Investments 5 123 123
ii. Loans 6 77 85
iii, Others 7 2 1
Deferred tax assets 42 2,116 2,372
Income tax assets 8 60 327
Other non-current assets 9 37 49
Total non-current assets 8,178 9,143
Current assets
Inventories 10 3,572 4,222
Financial assets
i. Trade receivables 11 3,800 3,100
ii. Cash and cash equivalents 12 2,724 211
iii. Bank balances other than (ii) above 13 70 70
iv. Loans 14 7 4
v. Others 15 83 94
Other current assets 16 1,229 1,598
Total current assets 11,485 9,299
Total assets 19,663 18,442
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Equity Share capital 17 576 576
Other equity 18 12,321 11,375
Total Equity 12,897 11,951
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Financial Liabilities
i. Lease liabilities 3B 36 65
ii. Others 20 31 47
Provisions 21 286 242
Deferred income 22 3 4
Total Non-current liabilities 356 358
Current liabilities
Financial Liabilities
i. Borrowings 19 245 845
ii. Lease liabilities 3B 52 57
iii. Trade payables
(a) total outstanding dues of micro and small 23 146 132
enterprises
(b) total outstanding dues other than (iii)(a) above 23 3,676 3,433
iv. Others 24 152 181
Contract liabilities 282 45
Provisions 26 80 84
Other current liabilities 25 1,776 1,355
Deferred income 22 1 1
Total Current liabilities 6,410 6,133
Total Liabilities 6,766 6,491
Total Equity and liabilities 19,663 18,442

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

This is the balance sheet referred to in our report of even date.

For T R Chadha & Co LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Re tion No.: agb711N / N5gno28
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Partner Erag e
Membership No. : 502055 oA
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Date :
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Nilesh Patel

Managing Director

DIN: 01805278
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Date : 06’ o9 2.’
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Pradyumna Maheshwari
Chief Financial Officer
PAN: AAYPM5481D

Place : Chauny ram
Date :
ate 05/09,202./

T‘or!and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
berg India Private Limited

Mutiiiraman Rﬂm:u'm/

Executive Director
DIN: 07411088
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Cofnpany Secretary
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Carlsberg India Private Limited
CIN:U15111DL2006PTC148579

Statement of profit and loss for the year ended March 31, 2021
(Rupees in million, except for share data and if otherwise stated)

Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
Notes
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Revenue
Revenue from operations 28 41,470 55,693
Other income 29 121 81
Other (losses) - net 29 (11) (8)
Total income (I) 41,580 55,766
Expenses
Cost of materials consumed 30 5,980 9,266
Purchases of stock in trade = 1
Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and stock in 31 168 (479)
trade
Excise duty expense 27,570 35,738
Employee benefits expense 32 1,906 2,176
Finance costs 33 26 40
Depreciation and amortization expense 27 720 915
Net impairment loss on financial and contract assets 5, 52(b)(i) - 6
Other expenses 34 4,010 6,219
Total expenses (IT) 40,380 53,882
Profit before exceptional items and tax (I - II = III) 1,200 1,884
Exceptional items (IV)
Impact on account of Covid 19 (Refer Note 58)
- On net relisable value of Inventories of finished goods (Also refer note 10 & note 31) - 197
- On Provision for sales return (Also refer note 28 and 34) - 152
- On Provision for discount on sale of finished goods (Refer Note 28) - 42
Profit before tax (III - IV = V) 1,200 1,493
Tax (expense)/credit: (VI)
Current tax (refer note 42) - -
Deferred tax (refer note 42) (253) (1,652)
Profit/(Loss) after tax (V + VI = VII) 947 (159)
Other comprehensive Income/(loss) (VIII)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
- Remeasurement of post employment benefit obligations 11 (13)
- Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss (3 3
Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (VIII) 8 (10)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (VII + VIII = IX) 955 (169)
Earnings/(Loss) per equity share (refer note 35)

1. Basic 16.35 (2.86)

2. Diluted 1153 (1.93)

The above statement of profit and loss should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

This is the statement of profit and loss referred to in our report of even date.
Note: Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms adopted by the company.

For T R Chadha & Co LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registratign No.: 006711

Hitesh Garg
Partner
Membership No. : 502955 4

Place: Cnaiv-ugyesr) _——

Date : "|Q1, %2——'

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

arlsherg India Private Limited

\J

Nilesh Patel

Managing Director

DIN: 01805278

Place : Ty Yo

Date : 0‘7:‘?,} 3-61f

Pradyumna Muheshwari
Chief Financial Officer
PAN: AAYPM5481D
Place : Craa

Date : yem

6e|&q) 202

Muthuraman Ramanathan
Executive Director
DIN: 07411088

Place: Grat rarr
Date : UG,&Q}Q@ 1}

Plage ; Gz,q



Carlsberg India Private Limited

CIN:U15111DL2006PTC148579

Cash Flow Statement for the year ended March 31, 2021

(Rupees in million, except for share data and if otherwise stated)

For the year ended

For the year ended

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
A Cash flow from operating activities
Profit before income tax 1,200 1,493
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation expense and impairment loss 720 915
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 1
Interest income (56) (22)
Liabilities no longer required written back (13) -
Finance costs 26 40
Net exchange differences 7 12
Operating profit before working capital changes 1,884 2,439
Adjustments for:
{Increase)/Decrease in inventories 650 (1,510)
(Increase)/Decrease in trade receivables (700) 111
Increase/(Decrease) in trade payables 263 458
Decrease/(Increase) in financial assets (current and non-current) 15 7
(Increase)/Decrease in other current and non current assets 369 (178)
Increase/(Decrease) in provisions 50 34
Increase/(Decrease) in financial and other liabilities (current and non-current) 683 (244)
Cash (used) in operations 1,330 (1,322)
Direct taxes paid (net of refund) 267, (z90]
Net cash inflow from operating activities (A) 3481 Bar
B Cash flow from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment = 1
Payments for property, plant and equipment (329) (579)
Interest received 56 22
Payments for purchase of investments - [6)]
Movement in bank deposits (having original maturity of more than 3 months) (1) (0)
Net cash (outflow) from investing activities (B) (274) (557)
C  Cash flows from financing activities
Share based payment reserve (net) 9) [&3Y)
Proceeds from short term borrowings - 600
Repayment of short term borrowings (600) -
Principal elements of lease payments (59) 49
Finance charges paid (26) (40)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities (C) (694) 480
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 2,513 750
Cash and cash equival atthe b of the year 211 (539)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (refer note 12) EEE) 211
Cash and cash equivalents as per above comprise of the following
Cash in hand o o
Balances with scheduled banks:
- On current accounts 197 211
- on demand deposits (original maturity upto 3 Months) 2,527 -
2,724 211
Non-cash investing activities
- Acquisition of right-to-use assets 74 72

Notes:

1 The above Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under the indirect method as set out in IND AS - 7 on Statement of Cash Flows notified under section
133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) [Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended].

2 Figures in brackets indicate cash outflow.

Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms

d d by the

The above statement of cash flows should be read in ion with the

y.

ying notes.

This is the statement of cash flows referred to in our report of even date.

For T R Chadha & Co LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No.: 006711N / N500028

Hitesh Garg

Partner

Membership No. : 502955

Place: - 57)
Date :

°¢|e9 (202

rg India Private Limited

Nilesh Patel

Managing Director
DIN: 01805278

Place: Chairied yapr
at[:;j’aozj

Date :

Pradvumna MahEshwar
Chief Financial Officer
PAN: AAYPM5481D

Place: Crgay

Date :

o)
eClei/ 02

. Forand on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Carls

.

Muthuraman Ram,mnm/

Executive Director

DIN: 07411088
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Date:
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CARLSBERG INDIA PRIVATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 March 2021
(Rupees in million, except for share data and if otherwise stated)

1. Corporate information

Carlsberg India Private Limited (the “Company”) is a Private Limited Company domiciled in India
having CIN U15111DL2006PTC148579. The Company has been incorporated under the provision of
Companies Act, 2013 (“Act’). The address of the Company’s registered office address is 4th Floor,
Rectangle No. 1, Commercial Complex, D-4, Saket, New Delhi- 110017.

The Company is a subsidiary of South Asian Breweries Pte. Ltd., Singapore.

The Company is primarily engaged in the business of manufacturing and sale of alcoholic beer. The
Company was incorporated in 2006 and has established breweries, spread across various parts of the
country.

2. Significant accounting policies

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
standalone financial statements. The accounting policies followed in preparation of these financial
statements are consistent to all the years presented except where a newly issued accounting standard is
initially adopted or a revision to an existing accounting standard requires a change in the accounting
policy hitherto in use.

2.1. Basis of preparation

a) Compliance with IND AS
These financial statements comply in all material aspeets with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS)
as per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 notified under Section 133 of
Companies Act, 2013, (the ‘Act’) and other relevant provisions of the Act.

b) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). These financial

statements are presented in Indian Rupees (INR), which is also the Company’s functional currency and
presentation currency.

All amounts have been rounded-off to the nearest millions, unless otherwise indicated.
¢) Historical Cost Convention

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following items:

Items Measurement basis
Certain financial assets and liabilities Fair value
Share Based Payments Fair Value

d) Measurement of fair values

Fair value is the price that would be received from sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either —

. In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

. In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to/ by the Company.




CARLSBERG INDIA PRIVATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 March 2021
(Rupees in million, except for share data and if otherwise stated)

The Company has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values.
This includes a valuation team that has overall responsibility for overseeing all significant fair value

measurements, including Level 3 fair values, and reports directly to the Corporate Financial Reporting
Lead.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole-

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable market data as
far as possible. If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different
levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the
same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire
measurement.

Fair values of financial instruments at each reporting date are disclosed in Note 52.
2.2 Significant accounting policies
a) Current and non-current classification

All assets and liabilities are classified into current and non-current.

Assets
An asset is classified as current when it satisfies any of the following criteria:

a) it is expected to be realised in, or is intended for sale or consumption in, the Company’s normal
operating cycle;

b) itis held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

¢) itis expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting date; or

d) itis cash or cash equivalent unless it is restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability
for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

Current assets include the current portion of non-current financial assets. All other assets are classified
as non-current.

Liabilities
A liability is classified as current when it satisfies any of the following criteria:

a) itis expected to be settled in the Company’s normal operating cycle;

b) itis held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

c¢) itis due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting date; or

d) the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the reporting date. Terms of a liability that could, at the option of the counterparty,
result in its settlement by the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

Current liabilities include current portion of non-current financial liabilities. All other liabilities are
classifted as non-current.

Operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash
or cash equivalents. Based on the nature of services and the time between the acquisition of assets for




CARLSBERG INDIA PRIVATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 March 2021
(Rupees in million, except for share data and if otherwise stated)

processing and their realisation in cash and cash equivalents, the Company has ascertained its operating
cycle being a period within 12 months for the purposes of classification of assets and liabilities as current
and non-current.

b) Foreign currency transactions and translations

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the Company at the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange
rates are recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

All monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency are restated at the end of accounting period.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are recorded
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.

Exchange difference on restatement/ settlement of all monetary items are recognized in the Statement
of Profit and Loss.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

¢) Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

i. Financial assets
Classification

The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
- those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income,
or through profit or loss), and
- those measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the business model
in which the investment is held.

For investments in equity instruments, this will depend on whether the company has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI).

Initial recognition and measurement
Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognized when they are originated. All
other financial assets are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual

provisions of the instrument.

All financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not recorded
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition or issue
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of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss
are expensed in profit or loss.

Classification and subsequent measurement
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at:

» Financial assets at amortised cost
=  Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)
» Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

A financial asset being ‘debt instrument’ is measured at the amortised cost if both of the following
conditions are met:

« The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for
collecting contractual cash flows, and

= The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

Afinancial asset being ‘debt instrument’ is measured as at the FVTOCI if both of the following criteria
are met:

e The asset is held within the business model, whose objective is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets, and

> The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are SPPI on the principal amount outstanding.

The company makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at
an instrument level because this best reflects the way the business is managed, and information is
provided to the management.

A financial asset being equity instrument is measured at FVTPL.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI as described above are
measured at FVTPL.

On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets
the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Subsequent measurement

Financial assets at amortised cost:

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses, if any. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method and are recognised in the
Statement of profit and loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL:

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest
income, are recognised in the Statement of profit and loss.

Derecognition

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction
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in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred
or in which the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recognised in the Statement of profit and loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognizes loss allowances using the Expected Credit Loss (ECL) model for the
financial assets which are not fair valued through profit or loss. Loss allowance for trade
receivables with no significant financing component is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL. For all other financial assets, expected credit losses are measured at an amount equal to
the 12-month ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk from initial
recognition, in which case those financial assets are measured at lifetime ECL. The changes
(incremental or reversal) in loss allowance computed using ECL model, are recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Individual receivables which are known to be uncollectible are written off by reducing the carrying
amount of trade receivable and the amount of the loss is recognised in the Statement of Profit and
Loss within other expenses. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to
other income.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

All financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

A financial liability is initially measured at fair value minus, in the case of financial liabilities not
recorded at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are attributable to the liability.

Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, or it is a derivative
or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair

value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in the Statement of
profit and loss.

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition
is also recognised in the Statement of profit and loss.

Derecognition

The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. An exchange with a lender of debt instruments with
substantially different terms is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability
and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, a substantial modification of the terms of
an existing financial liability (whether or not attributable to the financial difficulty of the debtor) is
accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new
financial liability. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in statement of profit and loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

The Company on a case to case basis elects to account for financial guarantee contracts as a financial
instrument or as an insurance contract, as specified in Ind AS 109 on Financial Instruments and Ind
AS 104 on Insurance Contracts. The Company has regarded all its financial guarantee contracts as
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iv.

d)

e)

g)

insurance contracts. At the end of each reporting period the Company performs a liability adequacy
test, (i.e. it assesses the likelihood of a pay-out based on current undiscounted estimates of future
cash flows), and any deficiency is recognized in the Statement of profit and loss.

Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the balance sheet when,
and only when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it
intends to settle them on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or
the counterparty.

Equity share capital

Equity shares are classified as equity and proceeds from issuance of equity shares are recognised as
equity share capital in equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new equity
shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Dividends

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorized and no
longer at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed
at the end of the reporting period.

Investment in Joint Venture

Investment representing equity interest in Joint Venture are carried at cost less any provision for
impairment. Investments are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Property, plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement

Freehold land is carried at cost. All other items of property, plant and equipment are measured at
cost, which includes capitalized borrowing cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any).

Cost of an item of property plant and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import
duties and non - refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates, any directly
attributable cost of bringing the item to its working condition for its intended use and estimated
costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located.

Machinery spares parts are classified as property, plant and equipment when they are expected to be
utilized over more than one period or when they are expected to be used only in connection with an
item of property, plant and equipment. Other spares are carried as inventory.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they
are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gains or losses on disposal of an item of property plant and equipment are recognised in the
Statement of Profit and Loss.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is recognized as an increase in the carrying amount of the asset when it is
probable that future economic benefits deriving from the cost incurred will flow to the enterprise
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
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The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will
flow to the Company and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are
recognized in the Statement of profit and loss as incurred.

iii. Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated on cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their estimated
residual values over their estimated useful lives using the straight - line method and is generally
recognised in the statement of profit and loss. Assets acquired under finance leases are depreciated
over the shorter of lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Company
will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Freehold land is not depreciated.

Depreciation on additions (disposals) is provided on a pro-rata basis i.e. from (upto) the date on
which asset is ready for use (disposed off).

Depreciation method, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and
adjusted if appropriate. Based on technical evaluation and consequent advice, the management
believes that its estimates of useful lives as given below best represent the period over which
management expects to use these assets. The residual values are not more than 5% of the original
cost of the asset.

The estimated useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment for the current and comparative
periods are as follows:

Asset Management estimate of useful life

Buildings (other than factory buildings) 60 years

Factory buildings 30 years

Roads 30 years

Plant and machinery (including electrical 2-15 years*

machinery and laboratory equipment)

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Office equipment 5 years

Vehicles 5years

Computers 3 years

Leasehold improvements Over the period of lease or estimated useful
lives of assets, whichever is lower

Leasehold land (classified as finance lease) Over the period of lease

* Useful lives of plant and machinery will be further reduced by the depreciation due to extra shift.
Depreciation on additions is provided on a pro-rata basis from the date of acquisition/ installation.

Depreciation on the disposal/ deduction from the property, plant and equipment is provided upto
the disposal/ adjustment, as the case may be.

h) Imtangible assets
i. Recognition and initial measurement

Intangible assets acquired by the Company are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and
accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes any directly attributable incidental expenses necessary to make the assets ready for its
intended use.
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ii. Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied
in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognized in Statement of profit and
loss as incurred.

iii. Amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised in the Statement of profit and loss over their estimated useful lives
using the straight line method.

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets are as follows:
- Software 3 years
- Brand 10 years

The amortisation method and the useful lives of intangible assets are reviewed annually and
adjusted as necessary.

iv. Derecognition

i)

»

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or when no future benefits are expected from its use
and disposal. Losses arising from retirement and gains or losses arising from disposal of an intangible
asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and are recognised in the Statement of profit and loss.

Inventories

Raw materials, packing materials and stores and spares, work-in progress and finished goods are
stated at lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost of raw materials comprises cost of purchases.
Cost of work-in progress and finished goods comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the
basis of normal operating capacity. Cost of inventories also include all other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and condition. Costs are assigned to individual items of
inventory on the basis of first-in-first-out basis. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after
deducting rebates and discounts. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary

course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Cash and cash equivalent

For the purpose of presentation in the Statement of Cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include
cash on hand, balances with banks, cheques on hand and deposits with banks and other short term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible
to known amount of cash which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value, and bank
overdraft. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the balance sheet.

k) Impairment of non—financial assets

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other
than deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication on impairment. If any such
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that do not generate independent cash inflows are
grouped together into cash-generating units (CGUs). Each CGU represents the smallest group of
assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
CGUs.
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The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use or its fair value less costs
to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

In respect of other assets for which impairment loss has been recognised in prior periods, the
Company reviews at each reporting date whether there is any indication that the loss has decreased
or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. Such a reversal is made only to the extent that the asset’s carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

1) Employee benefits
i.  Short-term employee benefits

All employee benefits payable / available within twelve months of rendering the service such as salaries,
wages and bonus etc., are classified as short-term employee benefits and are recognised in the statement
of profit and loss in the period in which the employee renders the related service. The liabilities are
presented as current employee obligation in the balance sheet.

ii. Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed

contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
amounts.

Provident fund and Employee state insurance are defined contribution plans. The Company expenses
its contribution towards provident fund which are deposited with the Regional Provident Fund
Commissioner.

iii. Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan.

iv.  Gratuity

The Company’s obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by
estimating the amount of future benefit that employee have earned in current and prior periods,
discounting that amount.

The calculation of defined benefit obligation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using
projected unit credit method.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation denominated in INR is determined by discounting
the estimated future cash outflows by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on
government bonds that have terms approximating to the terms of the related obligation. The benefits
which are denominated in currency other than INR, the cash flows are discounted using market yields
determined by reference to high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which
the benefits will be paid, and that have terms approximating to the terms of the related obligation.

Remeasurements of the defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI).

The Company determines the interest expense on the defined benefit liability for the period by applying
the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period
to the then- defined benefit liability, taking into account any changes in the defined benefit liability
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during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Interest expense and other expenses
related to defined benefit plans are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that
relates to past service (‘past service cost’ or ‘past service gain’), the gain or loss on curtailment is
recognised immediately in the Statement of Profit and Loss. The Company recognises gains and losses
on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs.

v.  Other long-term employee benefit obligations

The Company provides benefits of compensated absences under which un-availed leaves are allowed to
be accumulated and availed in future. The liabilities for compensated absences is the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods.

These long term employee benefits are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end
of the period in which the employees have rendered the related service and are measured as the present
value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the
end of the reporting period using the projected unit credit method, calculation for which is performed
annually by a qualified actuary.

Remeasurements as a result of experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are
recognised in the Statement of profit and loss.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the balance sheet as the entity does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting period, regardless
of when the actual settlement is expected to occur.

vi. Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to certain grade of employees in the form of class B
share in Carlsberg A/S (the Ultimate Holding Company) via the Long-Term Incentive Plan (‘Plan’), an
equity settled scheme:

Liabilities for the Company’s share are recognised as employee benefit expense over the relevant service
period. The liabilities are remeasured to fair value at each reporting date and are presented as provisions
in the balance sheet.

Employee options

The fair value of options granted under the Plan is recognised as an employee benefits expense with a
corresponding increase in Share based payment reserve under equity. The total amount to be expensed
is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

- including any market performance conditions (e.g., the share price)

- excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (e.g.
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over a specified time
period), and

- including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (e.g. the requirement for employees to save or
holdings shares for a specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the Company receives details
from Carlsberg A/S, which provides its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to
original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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m) Bonus plans

The Company recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses. The Company recognizes a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

n) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows (representing the best estimate
of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date) at a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.
The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. Expected future operating losses are not
provided for.

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events not wholly within the
control of the entity. Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or
the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

0) Earnings per share

@ Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

) the profit attributable to owners of the Company

° by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the financial year.
(i) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share
to take into account:

° the after income tax effect of interest and other financial costs associated with dilutive
potential equity shares, and
o the weighted average number of additional equity shares that would have been outstanding

assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential equity shares.

P) Revenue recognition
Sale of products:

Under Ind AS 115, the Revenue from sales of goods are recognised when the control of the promised
goods has transferred which generally occurs when goods are delivered to the customer, the customer
has full discretion over the channel and price to sell the products.

Revenue is recognized based on the price specified in the contract, net of the estimated volume
discounts and incentive schemes. Accumulated experience is used to estimate and provide for such
variable consideration, and the revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that
a significant reversal in the revenue will not oceur.

Financing Components

The Company does not have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised
goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence,
the Company does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money.

A Contract liability is recognised where payment received from the customers exceeds the goods sold
by the Company. The same has been disclosed as ‘Contract liability’ .

Income from Royalty arrangements:
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r)

s)

v

u)

Royalty income is recognized, on an accrual basis, at agreed rate on sale of branded products by the
licensee, in accordance with the terms of the agreement.

Revenue from contract manufacturing arrangements:

The Company has entered into arrangements with contract manufacturing arrangements, where-in
contract manufacturer, manufactures and sell on behalf of the Company. The Company evaluates its
revenue arrangements with Contract Manufacturers to identify agency relationship. Accordingly, the
transactions of the contract manufacturers under such arrangements have been recorded as gross
revenue, purchases, excise duty and expenses as they were transactions of the Company.

Dividends

Dividends are recognised in the statement of profit or loss only when the right to receive payment is
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Company, and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end
of financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the statement of profit and loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities
are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Preference shares, which are mandatorily redeemable on a specific date, are classified as liabilities.
The dividends on these preference shares are recognised in profit or loss as finance costs.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs (including exchange differences relating to foreign
currency borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs) incurred
in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition or
construction of an asset which necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Interest income or expense
Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method.

The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument to:
- the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
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v)

- the amortised cost of the financial liability.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised initially as deferred income at fair value when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and the Company will comply with the conditions associated with

the grant; they are then recognised in the Statement of profit and loss as other Income on a systematie
basis.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and recognised in the Statement of profit or loss
over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate and
presented within other income.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are included in non-
current liabilities as deferred income and are credited to the Statement of profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the expected lives of the related assets and presented within other income.

w) Leases

As a lessee:

The entity leases various properties and warehouses. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.

During the year, additions amounted to MINR 74 and depreciation to MINR 59.

The lease expenses recognised in the income statement related to short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets recognised in the income statement in the year was and amounted to MINR 5.

For disclosures of the lease liabilities, please refer to note no 3B.
Accounting estimates and judgements
Lease and service contracts

At inception of a contract, management assesses whether the contract is or contains a lease.
Management considers the substance of any service being rendered to classify the arrangement as either
a lease or a service contract. Particular importance is attached to whether fulfilment of the contract
depends on the use of specific assets. The assessment involves judgement of whether the entity obtains
substantially all the economic benefits from the use of the specified asset and whether it has the right
to direct how and for what purpose the asset is used. If these criteria are satisfied at the commencement
date, a right-of-use asset and a lease liability is recognised in the statement of financial position.

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option. Extension
or termination options are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be
extended, or not terminated. The term is reassessed if a significant change in circumstances occurs. The
assessment of purchase options follows the same principles as those applied for extension options.

At the commencement date, the entity recognises a lease liability and a corresponding right-of-use asset
with the same amount, except for short-term leases of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.

A right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which equals the initial lease liability and initial direct
costs, less any lease incentives received. The entity has applied the practical expedient option allowed
under Ind AS by using a portfolio approach for the recognition of lease contracts related to assets of the
same nature and with similar lease terms.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less depreciation and impairment losses,
adjusted for remeasurement of the lease liability. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter
of the lease term or the useful life of the asset. The impairment testing of lease assets follows the same
principles as those applied for property, plant and equipment.
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X)

Right-of-use assets are recognised as property, plant and equipment.

The entity has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases with a term of 12
months or less, and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments related to such leases are recognised in
the income statement as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Lease liability

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments at the reporting
date, discounted using the entity’s average incremental borrowing rate. A remeasurement of the lease
liability results in a corresponding adjustment of the related right-of-use assets.

Extension or termination options are included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be
extended, or not terminated. Consequently, all cash outflows that are reasonably certain to impact the
future cash balances are recognised as lease liabilities at the initial recognition of lease contracts. On an
ongoing basis, the entity reassesses the circumstances leading to it for not recognising extension or
termination options.

As a Lessor

Lease income from operating leases where the group is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-
line basis over the lease term unless the receipts are structured to increase in line with expected general
inflation to compensate for the expected inflationary cost increases. The respective leased assets are
included in the balance sheet based on their nature

Income tax

The Income tax expenses or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by change in deferred
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the standalone financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss). Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only

if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the statement of profit and loss, except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
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y) Segment reporting

z)

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision maker.

In accordance with Ind AS 108 — Operating Segment, the operating segments used to present segment
information are identified on the basis of internal reports used by the Company’s Management to
allocate resources to the segments and assess their performance.

The Board of Directors is collectively the Company’s “chief operating decision maker” or “CODM”
within the meaning of Ind AS 108.

Critical estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition,
will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the
Company’s accounting policy.

This note provides an overview of the areas that involved a higher degree of judgment or complexity,
and of items which are more likely to be materially adjusted due to estimates and assumptions turning
out to be different than those originally assessed. Detailed information about each of these estimates
and judgments is included in relevant notes together with information about the basis of calculation
for each affected line item in the financial statements.

Critical estimates and judgements

The areas involving critical estimates or judgements are:

- Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax credits - Note 42

- Provisions and contingencies - Note 21 and 39

- Matters referred to in Note 55

- Estimation of defined benefit obligations - Note 48
- Estimation of current tax expense and payable — Note 42
- Impairment of trade and other receivables — Note 9, 11, 14, 15, 16 and 46
- Impairment of property, plant and equipment — Note 3 and 46
- Estimation/uncertainties relating to Global Health Pandemic (Covid-19)- Note 58
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the Company and
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Recent accounting pronouncements
On March 24, 2021, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) through a notification, amended
Schedule III of the Companies Act, 2013. The amendments revise Division I, IT and III of Schedule IIT

and are applicable from April 1, 2021. The company is in the process of evaluating the impact of these
amendments on the presentation and disclosure of financial statement.
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Carlsberg India Private Limited

CIN:U15111DL2006PTC148579

Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021
(Rupees in million, except for share data and if otherwise stated)

3B. Leases
Right-of-use assets Land (refer Building Total
noteiandii)

Cost
Amount recognised as at April 1, 2019 - 99 99
Reclassified on account of adoption of Ind AS 116 193 - 193
Add: Additions made during the year - 72 72
Cost at March 31, 2020 193 171 364
Add: Additions made during the year - 74 74
Less: Disposals during the year - 66 66
Cost at March 31, 2021 193 179 372

Impairment/amortisation
Impairment/amortisation as at April 1, 2019 - = 3

Reclassified on account of adoption of Ind AS 116 14 - 14
Add: Depreciation charge for the year 2 49 51
Depreciation and impairment losses at March 31, 2020 16 49 65
Add: Depreciation charge for the year 2 59 61
Less: On disposals during the year - 17 17
Depreciation and impairment losses at March 31, 2021 18 91 100
Carrying amount at March 31,2021 175 88 263
Carrying amount at March 31,2020 177 122 299
Lease liabilities AsatMarch As atMarch
31, 2021 31, 2020
Non-current 36 65
Current 52 57
Total 88 122

i. Leaseholdland:
a. The title deeds of leasehold land in Alwar amounting to net carrying amount of MINR 37 (MINR 38 as on March 31,
2020) is in the name of “South Asia Breweries Private Limited” (erstwhile name of the Company). This leasehold land is
pending change of the name of the Company in the revenue records.

b. In relation to certain parcel of Leasehold land situated in Mysore,Karnataka having net carrying amount of MINR
15.01 as on March 31, 2021 (MINR 15.17 as on March 31, 2020), a Petition has been filed by certain individuals against
some other individuals in Karnataka High Court .The Company has received the possession letter from Karnataka
Industrial Area Development Board "KIADB", however, it is yet to receive the physical possession of the land on account
of the stated dispute. During the previous year, the Company has filed an impleading application to be included as a
party to the ongoing litigation , which has been allowed.

ii. Leased assets :

Leasehold land represents assets where Company is a lessee for a lease term which generally expire within ninety
nine/ninety five years




Carlsberg India Private Limited

CIN:U15111DL2006PTC148579

Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021
(Rupees in million, except for share data and if otherwise stated)

4 Other intangible assets

Reconciliation of carrying amount

A. Gross carrying amount (deemed cost) Brand Software Total
As at March 31, 2019 20 79 99
Add: Additions during the year - 4 4
As at March 31, 2020 20 83 103
Add: Additions during the year - 3 3
Less: Disposals / adjustments during the year 20 (0] 20
As at March 31, 2021 - 85 85

Accumulated amortisation

As at March 31, 2019 20 75 95
Add: Amortisation charge for the year - 3 3
As at March 31, 2020 20 78 98
Add: Amortisation charge for the year - 3 3
Less: On disposals / adjustments during the year 20 0 20
As at March 31, 2021 - 80 80
Net carrying amount

As at March 31, 2021 - 5 5
As at March 31, 2020 - 5 5




Carlsberg India Private Limited

CIN:U15111DL2006PTC148579

Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021
(Rupees in miltion, except for share data and if otherwise stated)

Asat As at
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
5 Fi ial agsets (; ent)-

in equity instr
Unquoted equity shares of joint venture company
Bquity shares (carrying amount at cost)
NCC Crowns Private Limited 123 123
[ March 31, 2021 - 12,300,000 (March 31, 2020 - 12,300,000) equity
shares having face value of Rs. 10 each] - Fully paid-up

Total Unquoted equity shares of joint venture company 123 123
In in go ities at amortised cost

National Saving Certificate® [} o
Total in gow ities at amortised cost o )

Investment in preference shares
Preference shares (carrying amount at cost)
Kaama Breweries Private Limited #

[ March 31, 2021 - 266 (March 31, 2020 - 92) compulsorily convertible 4 4
preference shares having face value of Rs. 10 each] - Fully paid-up

Less: Impairment in value of investments ## (4) {4)
Total Investment in preference shares - -
Aggregate of unquoted i 123 123

Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investments 4
## This impairment loss March 31, 2021 - Nil (March 31, 2020 - MINR 4) has been included under "Net impairment loss on financial
and contract assets” disclosed as a separate line item in the Statement of Profit and Loss account.

* Pledged as security with sales tax authorities

6 Fi ial assets (; rent)- Loans
Security deposits LT3 100
Less : Loss allowance 0151 (15)
b d 5.
Break-up of security details
(a) Loans considened good - Secuped - -
(b) Loans considered good - L d 77 85
(c) Loans which have significant increase in Credit Risk - -
(d) Loans- credit impaired 15 15
Total 92 100
Loss allowance (15} (s)
Total loans 77 85
7 85
7 Fi ial assets (; ) - Others
Deposits with banks with maturity period of more than twelve months* 2 1
Interest accrued but not due on bank deposits o ]
2 L

* These comprises of fixed deposit under lien with value added tax/sales tax authorities of the respective state governments.

8 Income tax assets

Advance income tax [net of provision for income tax - MINR Nil (March 60 327
31,2020 - MINR Nil)]

60 227
Movement of income tax assets
Opening balance 327 k<
Less: Current tax expense for the year - -
Add: Taxes paid ( net of refund ) (267} 260
Closing balance 60 327

9 Other non-current assets

Unsecured, considered good
Capital advances 5 17
Advances other than capital advances
Prepayments 4 4
Balances with government authorities - state excise and sales tax 28 28
authorities # .

37 49
Unsecured, considered doubtfiul
Capital advances 2 3
Advances other than capital advances
Balances with government authorities - state excise and sales tax 63 83
authorities
Less : allowance for doubtful balances {65) (67)

a7 49

# Includes amount paid under protest against various tax demands under appeal.

Note: Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms adopted by the company.
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Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021
(Rupees in million, except for share data and {f otherwise stated)

10

11

12

As at Asat
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Inventories
(at lower of cost and net realisable value)

Raw materials *1 ### 397 387
Packing material *2# 31 605
Work- in-progress 150 146
Finished goods *3 : Beer ## 2411 2,781

Stock-in-trade
-Soda and Club glasses 1 1
Stores and spares *4 302 302
2572 4,222

*#1 Net of provision for obsolete raw material inventory amounting to MINR 5 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 5). The amount recognised as an
expense amounted to MINR 5 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 5) in the statement of profit and loss. The amount of  inventory written off
against provision amounted to MINR 5.

*2 Net of provision for obsolete packing material inventory amounting to MINR 3 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 12). The amount recognised
as an expense amounting to MINR 2 ( March 31, 2020 - MINR 12) in the statement of profit and loss. The amount of inventory written
off against provision amounted to MINR 11.

*3 Net of provision for obsolete finished goods inventory amounting to MINR 143 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 76). The amount recognised
as an expense amounted to MINR 73 ( March 31, 2020 - MINR 7) in the statement of profit and loss. The amount of inventory written off
against provision amounted to MINR 6.

*4 Net of provision for obsolete spares inventory amounting to MINR 28 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 14). The amount recognised as an
expense amounted to MINR 14 ( March 31, 2020 - MINR Nil) in the statement of profit and loss.

# Includes goods in transit amounting to MINR 24 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 11}
## Includes goods in transit amounting to MINR 268 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 540)
### Includes goods in transit amounting to MINR 5 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 28}

During the year an amount of MINR 2 ( March 31, 2020 - MINR 199) was recognised as an expense for finished goods inventories carried
at net realisabie value.

Financial assets (current) - Trade receivables
Trade receivables
Trade receivables 4,262 3,458
Receivables from related parties (refer note 50) 13 20
Less: Loss allowance (475) (378)
Total receivables 2.800 3,100
Break-up of trade receivable
(a) Trade receivables considered good - Secured - a
(b) Trade receivabl idered good - { d 3,800 3.100
(c) Trade receivables which have significant increase in Credit Risk - -
(d) Trade receivables - credit impaired. 75 378
Total 4,275 3,478
Loss Allowance (475) (378)
Total trade receivables 3,800 3,100
‘The Company’s exposure to credit and currency risks are disclosed in Note 52.
Financial assets (current) - Cash and cash equivalents
Balances with banks

- on current account * 197 211

- on demand deposits (original maturity upto 3 Months) 2,527 -
Cash on hand o a
Cash and cash equivalents in balance sheet 2,724 211

* There are no restriction except for the balances amounting to MINR 0.t (March 31,2020 - MINR 0.1) where there are restrictions on
withdrawa! of the amount with regard to cash and cash equivalents as at end of the reporting period and prior periods.

Note: Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms adopted by the company.
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Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021
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Asat Asat
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
13 Financial assets (current) - Other bank balances
Bank deposits with original maturity of more than three month but upto 66 68
twelve months®
Interest accrued but not due on bank deposits 4 2
70 0

* These comprises of fixed deposit under lien with value added tax/sales tax authorities of the respective state governments.
The Company’s exposure to credit and currency risks are disclosed in Note 52.

14 Financial nasets (current) - Loans

Security deposits 13 10
Less : Loss allowance (6) (6)
Total loans 7 4

Break-up of security details

{a) Loans considered good - Secured -

(b) Loans considered good - Unsecured 7 4
(c) Loans which have significant increase in Credit Risk = -

(d) Loans- credit impaired & 6
Total 13 10
Loss allowanee (6) (6)
Total loans 7 4

The Company's exposure to credit and currency risks are disclosed in Note 52.

15 Financial assets (current) - Others

Insurance claims receivable o

1

Other receivables k23 44

Government grant receivable 107 107

Less : Loss allowance * (58) (58)
83 94

Break-up of financial assets (current) - Others

(a) Loans considered good - Secured - =

(b) Loans considered good - { i 83 o4

(c) Loans which have significant increase in Credit Risk - -

(d) Loans- credit impaired 58 58

Total 42 153

Loss allowance (58) (58)

Total loans 83 9

The Company has been awarded certain government grants for making capital investments in the state of Bihar and Maharashtra. The

is entitled to reimt of value added tax on sales and other costs under investment promotion subsidy.

The Company’s exposure to credit and currency risks are disclosed in Note 52.
* Loss allowance for grant receivable for making capital investment in bihar.

16 Other current assets

Unsecured considered good, unless otherwise stated

Prepayments 211 239

Balances with government authorities - excise, goods and services tax and 954 1,085

sales tax authorities

Advances to suppliers 62 157

Indirect taxes and state excise duties paid in advance a 117
1,229 1508

Unsecured, considered doubtful

Advances to suppliers 85 87

Balances with government authorities - excise, goods & services tax and 6 6

sales tax authorities

Less : allowance for doubtful balances (on) 93)
1,020 1,598

Note: Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms adopted by the company.
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Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021
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Particulars

17. Share capital

Authorised :
154,580,000 (March 31, 2020 : 154,580,000) equity shares of Rs.10 each fully paid up.

25,000,000 (March 31, 2020 : 25,000,000) 2% cumulative redeemable preference shares of Rs. 10
each.

Issued, subscribed and paid up:

57,612,591 (March 31, 2020 : 57,612,591) equity shares of Rs.10 each fully paid up.

*24,511,333 number of 2% cumulative redeemable preference shares of Rs 10 each (total face value of Rs 245,113,330) are classified as financial liability (Refer Note 19).

Reconciliation of number of shares outstanding at the beginning and end of the reporting period :

Outstanding at the beginning of the year
Equity shares allotted during the year
Outstanding at the end of the year

Preference Share:
Outstanding at the beginning of the year
Preference shares allotted during the year
Outstanding at the end of the year

(a) Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to equity shares

Asat
March 31, 2021

As at
March 31, 2020

1,546 1,546

250 250

1,796 1,796

576 576

576 576
57,612,591 57,612,591
57612501 57,012,501
24,511,333 24,511,333
24,511,333 24,511,333

The Company has single class of equity shares, having a par value of Rs. 10 per share. Each shareholder is eligible to one vote per share held. The equity shares are entitled to receive dividend as declared from

time to time subject to payment of dividend to preference shareholders. In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of equity shares shall be entitled to receive all of the remaining assets of the

Company, after distribution of all preferential amounts, if any. Such amount will be in the proportion to the number of equity shares held by shareholders.

(b) Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to preference shares

The Company has issued optionally convertible cumulative redeemable Preference Shares of Rs.10 each at par in the financial year 2006-07. These preference shares were issued to South Asian Breweries Pte.
Ltd., Singapore (Holding Company). These preference shares are fully convertible into equity shares of equal face value or, at such terms and conditions as may be decided by the Board from time to time. The

preference shares are redeemable at the option of the Shareholder. The preference Shares shall be redeemed at par by the Company at any time from the date of issue i.e. March 15, 2007, however not later
than 20 years from March 15, 2007. The holders of these shares are entitled to a minimum cumulative dividend of 2% and maximum equal to State Bank of India’s PLR plus 300 basis points. Considering the
fact that the preference shares may be converted into equity shares of equal face value or, at such terms and conditions as may be decided by the Board, and that the holder of the shares has an option to
redeem preference shares at any point in time, the preference shares have been classified as current financial liability. In the event of liquidation, preference shareholder has a preferential right over equity

shareholders to be repaid to the extent of paid-up capital and dividend in arrears on such shares.

(c) Shares in respect of each class in the company held by its holding company or its ultimate holding company including shares held by subsidiaries or associates of the holding

company or the ultimate holding company in aggregate

Equity share
South Asian Breweries Pte. Limited, Singapore (Holding Company) including its nominee

2% cumulative redeemable preference shares
South Asian Breweries Pte. Limited, Singapore (Holding Company)

(d) Shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the company is set out below:

Equity share
South Asian Breweries Pte. Limited, Singapore (Holding Company) including its nominee

2% cumulative redeemable preference shares
South Asian Breweries Pte. Limited, Singapore (Holding Company)

() Carlsberg A/S Denmark is the ultimate holding company and does not hold any shares in the Company directly.

As at As at
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
No. of Shares Amount in MINR  No. of Shares Amount in MINR
57,612,591 576 57,612,591 576
24,511,333 245 24,511,333 245
As at As at
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
No. of Shares % of holding No. of Shares % of holding
57,612,591 100 57,612,591 100
24,511,333 100 24,511,333 100




Carlsberyg, India Private Limited

CIN:U15111DL2006PTC148579

Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021
(Rupees in million, except for share data and if otherwise stated)

As at As at
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

18 Other equity
Reserve and Surplus

Securities premium 19.481 19,481
Capiltal reserve 135 135
Retained earnings (7,295) (8,250)
Share based payment resene 9
12,321 11,375
a) Securities premium
Balance at the beginning and end of the year 19,481 19,481
b) Capital reserve
Balance at the beginning and end of the year 135 135
¢) Retained earnings
Balance at the beginning of the year (8.250) (8,081)
Add: Profit/(loss) for the vear 947 (159)
Other Comprehensive income/(loss)- Remeasurement of 8 (10)
post employment defined benefit obligation (net of tax)
Balance at the end of the year (7.295) {B.250)
d) Share based payment reserve (refer note 49 and 32)
Balance at the beginning of the year 9 40
Add: Addition during the year 31 9
Add: Adjustment made during the year - 4
Less : Utilised during the year (40) (44)
Balance at the end of the year - 9

Nature and purpose of reserves

i. Capital Reserves:;

Capital reserves were recognised in earlier years on account of business combination in past, for which the Company had elected not to

apply [ND AS 103 retrospectively by availing ion in respect of Busi Combination under IND AS 101 as at April 1, 2015.

ii. Share based payment reserve: i
The share based payment reserve is recognised on account of long term incentive program settled in performance share units given to
certain employ ees of the Company. Each performance share unit gives right to the employee to receive one Carlsberg B share listed on
NASDAQ OMX, Copenhagen of Carlsberg A/S, the ultimate holding Company. The reserve is utilised to make payments to Carlsberg
A/S for the amount debited by Carlsberg A/S, on vesting of these share in the hands of employee.

19 Financial liabilities- Borrowings
Current borrowings

Unsecured
From banks:
Short term loan* # . 600
Others:
2% optionally convertible/ I
shares (Refer note 17 and note (a) below)

245 245

245 845
= =

* Carlsberg Breweries A/S, Denmark a [ellow subsidiary of the Company has given letter of comfort to BNP Paribas India. However, the
letter of comfort does not amount to an indemnity or a guarantee, nor shall it makes Carlsberg Brewery A/S liable for compliance by the
Company with the funding arrangement.

# These borrowings had a maturity period ranging from 7 days to 30 days bearing interest rate ranging from 7.50% to 8.15% and were repaid
in April 2020.

(a) The Company has issued optionally convertible i P Shares of Rs.10 each at par in the financial year 2006-07.
These preference shares were issued to South Asian Breweries Pte. Ltd., Singapore (Holding Company). These preference shares are fully
convertible into equity shares of equal face value or, at such terms and conditions as may be decided by the Board from time to time. The

shares are red ble at the option of the Shareholder. The preference Shares shall be d at par by the C y at any
time from the date of issue i.e. March 15, 2007, however not later than 20 years from March 15, 2007. The holders of these shares are
entitled to a minimum cumulative dividend of 2% and maximum equal to State Bank of India’s PLR plus 300 basis points. Considering the
fact that the preference shares may be converted into equity shares of equal face value or, at such terms and conditions as may be decided by
the Board, and that the holder of the shares has an option to redeem preference shares at any point in time, the preference shares have been
classified as current financial liability.

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from fi ing activities to Ind AS 7 - Cash flows
The ct in the C /s linbilities arising from (i i ivities can be classified as foll
Particulars Current borrowings
Net debt as at March 31, 2019° -
Proceeds of current borrowings (net) 600
Interest expense o
Interest paid (o)
Net debt as at March 31, 2020* 600
Repayment of current borrowings {600)
Interest expense 17
Interest paid a7

Net debt as at March 31, 2021* -
*Net debt does not include overdraft as the same has been considered as a part of cash and cash equivalents (refer note 12).

20 Fi ial liabilities (; ent) - Others

Deposits from customers 31 47

31 47

Note: Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms adopted by the company.
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As at Asat
21 Provisions - Non-current
Provision for employee benefit obligations
Gratuity (refer note 48) 145 132
Provision for litigations * 14t 110
286 9%
* Future cash outflow in respect of above litigations are determinable only on receipt of judgement/decisions pending with various
forums/authorities.
Provision for litigations pertains to excise and sales tax litigations. These provision have not been di d as it is not practicable for

the Company to estimate the timing of the provisions utilisations and cash flow, if any, pending resolutions.

P Tetonts

in pr for
Movements in provision for litigation during the financial year, are set out below:

Asat Asat
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Opening balance 110 110
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss E E
Adjustment made during the year 4

Closing balance 141 110

f about provisions and eritical jud
Provision for tax litigati disp ludes provisions made mainly for probable claims arising out of certain tax matters

under various statutes. These estimates take into account the specific circumstances of each matter and relevant external advice, are
inherently judgmental and could change substantially over time as each matter progresses. The ultimate liability for claims may vary
from the amounts provided and is d upon the of the relevant p dings, change in ci and there can be
no assurance that the ultimate result will not differ from the provisions reported in the Company’s financial statements by a material
amount. The timing and probability of the outflow and expected reimbursements if any with regard to these matters, depends on the
ultimate settlement / conclusion of these matters.

a

22 Deferred income

Government grant 4 &

4 5

Non-current portion 3 )
Current portion 1 1

4 5

23 ial linbilities ( ) - Trade bl

Trade payables : micro and small enterprises (Refer note 37) 146 132
Trade payables : others 3249 3195
‘Trade payables to related parties (Refer note 50)# 427 238
3.822 34565

#Includes MINR 80 (31 March 2020 - MINR 24) pertaining to payable on account of share based payment transaction.
‘The Company's exposure to currency and liquidity risks related to trade payable is disclosed in Note 52.

24 Fi ial liabilities ( ) - Others
Deposits from customers 27 23
Employee related payables 91 55
Security deposits from clearing and forwarding agents 3 3
Capital creditors 31 100
152 181
The Company’s exposure to currency and liquidity risks related to above financial liabilities is disclosed in Note 52.
25 Other current liabilities
Statutory dues
- VAT/CST/GST 905 444
- Withholding taxes 81 112
- Provident fund 1 13
- Excise duty payable (net) - -85
1,776 1,955
26 Provisions - Current
Provision for employee benefit obligations
Gratuity (refer note 48) 3 7
Compensated absences (refer note 48) 77 77
80 84
27 Dx iation and amortisati
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 656 861
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 61 51
Amortisation of intangible assets 3 3
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For the year ended  For the year ended
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
28 Revenue from operations
Sales of products (including excise duty)

Finished goods :
Beer (Refer Note (a) & Note (b)) 41,174 55,279
Traded goods:
Soda and club glasses 2
Other operating revenue
Scrap sales 185 254
Royalty income i 158
41,470 55,693
R ciliation of r price:
Contract price (Gross) 43,306 57,859
Adjustment for:
Discounts as per contract/schemes (Refer Note (b)) (1,836) (2,166)
Revenue from operations 41,470 55,693
Notes:

(a) Excludes provision for sales return of finished goods amounting to Nil (March 31, 2020 - MINR 149) shown as Exceptional items
in Statement of Profit & Loss account.

(b) Excludes provision for discount on sale of finished goods amounting to Nil (March 31, 2020 - MINR 42) shown as Exceptional
items in Statement of Profit & Loss account.

29 Other income and other gain / (losses)
(a) Other income
Interest income under the effective interest method :

- From deposits with banks 35 18
- From others 21 4
Miscelianeous income 51 58

Liabilities no longer required written back 13 -
Government grants 1 1
121 81

(b) Other gains / (losses)

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 1
Foreign exchange (loss) (11) ©
(1) (8)

30 Cost of materials consumed

Raw materials consumption
Opening stock 387 214
Add : Purchases during the year 1,581 2,627
Less : Closing stock 397
1,571 2,454
Packing materials consumption
Opening stock 605 663
Add : Purchases during the year 4,115 6,754
Less : Closing stock au 605
4,400 812
5.080 5,266
31 Ch ini ies of finished goods, work-in-progress and stock in trade
Inventories at the end of the year
- Finished goods (Beer) 2,411 2,781
- Stock in trade (Soda and club glasses) 1 1
- Work-in-progress (Beer} 150 146
2,562 2,928
Add: Separately disclosed as Exceptional item in Statement of Profit & Loss ) 07
account #
2,562 3,125
at the beginning of the year
- Finished goods (Beer) 2,781 1,435
- Stock in trade (Soda and club glasses) 1 1
- Work-in-progress (Beer) 146 129
2,928 1,565
( /d in i i 366 (1,560)
Increase/( decrease) of excise duty on finished goods (198) 1,081
Total 168 @79

# Impact of expiry of finished goods Nil (March 31, 2020 - MINR 197) appearing in Exceptional item in Statement of Profit & loss
account. (Also Refer Note 10)

Note: Zero represents amount below ronnding-off norms adopted by the company.
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32 Employee benefits expense
Salary, wages, gratuity and bonus (refer note 48)
Contribution to provident fund and other funds (refer note 48)
Employee share based payment expense (refer note 49)
‘Workmen and staff welfare expenses

33 Finance costs
Interest expense on borrowiogs
Interest expense on dealer deposit
Interest and finance charge on lease liabilties

Other expenses

Consumption of stores and spares
Contract manufacturing expenses
Power and fuel

Advertisement and promotion
Selling and distribution expenses
Rent

Rates and taxes

Insurance

Tepairs and maintenanoe:

- plant and machinery

- buildings

-others

Recruitment expenses

Sales promotion expenses
Royalty

Bank charges

Auditors' remuneration:*

- for statutory audit #

- for tax auditww

- for other services

- for reimbursement of out of pocket expenses
Security expenses

Travelling and conveyance expenses
Legal and professional expenses
Miscellaneous expenses ###

* including goods and services tax, as applicable.
# includes Nil (March 31, 2020 : MINR 11) pertaining to previous financial year.
## Includes Nil ( March 31, 2020 : MINR 1) pertaining to previous financial year

For the yearended For the year ended
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

1,727 2,006
75 63
3t 9
73 98
1,906 2,176
16 29
2 2
8 9
26 40
109 152
746 957
342 521
160 530
980 1,632
5 229
678 813
8 3
78 106
10 12
55 48
12 22
192 274
295 413
2 2
3 22
1 1
- 4
[ 1]
40 44
48 122
129 173
uz 129
4,010 6,219

### Excludes Nil ( March 31, 2020 : MINR 2) pertaining to cost of drainage relating to provision for sales return on account of
Covid 19 which is separately disclosed in Exceptional items in Statement of Profit & Loss account.

Note: Zero represents amount below ding-off norms ad d by the
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35 The computation of basic/diluted earnings/(loss) per share is set cut below:

e

37

38

a9

Particulars As at Asut
March 31, 0% _ March 31, 2020
Profit/loss as per Stalement of Profit and Loss (MINR) 947 (159)
Leas: Dividend on lative redeemable prefe shares (MINR) 3 5)
Less: Corporate dividend lax (MINR) * - [¢}]
Profil/(loss) afier lax tiributable Lo equity sharcholders (MINR) 942 (165)
‘Weighted average number of equity shares oulstanding during the year 57,612,591 57,612,591
Nominal value per share (INR) 10 1o
Bnslc enrnings/(loas) per share (INR) 16.35 (2.86)

Weighted average number of preference shares outstanding during the year (refer

Nole 17) 24:511,333 24,511,333
Number of Polential Equity shares 24,514,333 24,511,333
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (INR) 11.53 {1.93)
*C dividend tax was applicabie only up to FY 2019-20.

Operating Segments

Operating are defined fan ise for which discrete financial informalion is available that is evaluated regularly by the chiel
operaling decision maker, in deciding how Lo allocate and assessing perfc The Company’s chief ing decision maker is its Board of
Directors and the Company has only one reporiable business segment i.e. Beer, which is reviewed by its baard of directors. As the company has single
reporiable segment, the segment wise disclosure requirement of IND AS 108 on ion segment is not applicable. The Company’s reveaue from external

customer is from sales wilhin India. There are two customers having revenue amounling (o 10% or more of Company's total revenue.

Cuslomer 1 - MINR 6,629 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 7,806)
Customer 2 - MINR 6,562 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 7,090)
Dues to micro and small enterprises

The Company has ceriain dues lo suppliers registercd under Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act,2006 (MSMED Act). The disclosure
pursuant lo the said MSMED Act are as follow:

Dues to micro and small suppliers As at March 31, As at March 31,
2021 2090

Amount due lo suppliers regisiered under MSMED Acl and remaining unpaid as at
end

Year:
- 'Principal amount 146 132
- Tolerest thereon * 2 1

Principal and interest amounts paid lo supplicrs registered under MSMED Act, - -
beyond the appointed day during the year.

Interest due and payable for the year (where the principal has been paid but interest T ]
under MSMED Act, 2006 not paid)

Interest due and payuble al the end of accounling year, lowards suppliers regisicred 6 4
under MSMED Act * ,
Further inlerest remaining due and payable for carlier years 4 a

* The Company has not provided for interest on the balance oulstanding as the Company docs not envisage any material impact on the financial stalements in
this regard.
The informatiou given above is to the extent such parties have been identified by the Company on the basis of information disclosed by the supplicrs.

Capital and other eommitments
As at March 31, As at March 31,

20m1 2030
Capltal eommitments
The Company hs i for open ining to be [0 256
excculed on capital eccount
T g,
Contingent liabflitiea
As at March 31, As at March 31,
20T z20z0
Dividend on 2% Lati fe h, {from March 15, 2007) * 69 78
Claims not acknowledged as debis (to the extent quantified) 10 10
Service tax demands (including interest and penalty) 266 251
Central excise matters (including interest and penalty) 14 1
Sales tax matters (including interest and penalty) 500 546
Entry lax matters (including inlerest and penalty) - 6
Slale excise matlers 135 13
Ineusime lox imaliers 57 -
Others (refer note (a) below) 6 %
Other matters {refer noles (b) below and note 55 (R}
Also refer note 3()
*C dividend tax was applicable oaly up to FY 2019-20. Therefore, Lhe amount as on 31 March 2021, does not include Corporate dividend tax.

Note: Zero represents amount below rotmding-olf nurms sdopted by the sonpany.
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(a)

®)

(c)

40

The Company acquired Lhe assels of [limneel Breweries Limited (HDL) from [ndustrial Finonee Corporation of India (IFCT) in Mu) 2007, Al the lmu. ol
acquisilion, recovery proceedings were pending against HBL for Providenl Fund (PF) dues prior lo 2007 by the Empl Fund ¢
(EPFO), Himachal Pradesh. HBL had, agains Lhe said recovery proceedings, obtained a stay order from e Prenident Frund Tribesnal,

The Company had reccived a nolice from the EPFO on November 19, 2007 for Lhe recovery of Provident Fund ducs against the brewery which was acyuined
and being operated by the Company.

In 2008, lhe EPFO got the Provident Fund Tribunal slay order vacated from the High Courl of Himachal Pradesh and issued notice lo the Company on
September 11, 2008 for the recovery of old dues amounling 1o MINR 4 6 perlaining Lo liability of HDL. Subsequently, the EPIFO on January 6, 2009 attached
one bank account of the Company against which the Company filed a Wril Pelilion in the High Cour! of Himachal Pradesh stnling thal the Company is not
liable Lo pay lhese dues as this liability accrues lo HBL and HDL is contesling the matter before Lhe Provident Fund Tribunal. The High Court of Himachal
Pradesh udmitled Lhe Writ Petition of Lhe Company and granted stay order on January 9, 2009 subject 1o submissinn of bank guarantee of MINR 3 by the
Company, which has been done. The Company’s bank account has heen releascd. Tlowever, pending We final oulcome of the case, the amount has been
disclosed as a conlingent liability,

An Appeal filed by enlity 11BL was dismissed by learned CGIT-cum-Labouc Courl-I1, Chandigarh vide Order No. MA No. 1 of 2019 dated March 11, 2021, CIPL
received a Notice dated April 26, 2021, and subsequent letters dated June 3, 2021 and June 18, 2021 for deposit of Lhe dues for an amount of MINR 1.7 on
account of Lhe appeal of 1limneel has been disposed off and holding CIPL liable lo make such payment. Accordingly, CIPL had filed a writ pelition before the
Shimla High Court secking slay and quashing of such Nolices. The Hon'ble Shimla High Court had agreed to grant sty in 1he implementation of the orders,
subjeet lo CIPL depasiling the amount of MINR 1.7 with the Court, which has been done. However, pending Lhe final oulcome of Lhe case, Lhe amount has been
disclased as a contingent liability

During the year in July 2020, GST intellj di d a scarch dings at three b ies of Lhe Company in relation to laxability of spent grin/cattle
feed under Goods and Service Tax (GST) Act. The Company has nol recrived any demand nolice in respect of the search proceedings. In Seplember 2020, the
Company has also filed a representation before GST council requesting to clarify taxnbility of the spent grain, as the spent grain was exempl under VAT
regime,

In December 2018, the Company made a represcntation lo Centrnl Board of Ipdircet Taxes and Customs {(CUIC) o seck clarification vn Lreatment and
valuation of inler office services under Lhe Goods and Service Tax (GST) Act. Pending revert from CBIC, Lhe Company, based on legal opinion, believes that

Wiere is o supply by HO 1o other units of the insofar as the lised carried oul by employres of head office are concerned; and no GST
is required Lo be paid thereon
During the financial year ended March 131, 2020, one of the former capl (then Deputy ing Dircetor), who is also one of the three Complaining

Direclors referred 10 in Nole 55(a) , had written a letter doled August 27, 2019 lo the Company, with a copy to Central Provident Fund Commissioner, stating
Un1 dunng his employment from July 1, 2014 lo March 31, 2018, the Company has under reporied basic wages by not including fixed allowances for

Icul. of loyer's ibulion under section 29(1), 29(3) of the scheme which resulled inlo breaches under section 30(1) of tie $cheme. In reference lo
this letier, the Company has received a letler dated Oclober 14, 2020 from the Regional Office of Lhe Employee Provident Fund Organisation, New Delhi on

October 19, 2020 (“Letter from EPFO™), seeking information of period of service, initial pay and components of salary in relation lo the employnzent of the
complainunt. The Company has sent a response lo APFC, South Delhi via ¢-mail on Oclober 23, 2020, Subsequently, on 2:3rd December 2020, Lhe Company
recrived a show cause notiee from PF authorilies requesting to deposit the differential amount of PF. The Company calcalated and d ited Lhe di ial

amount wilh the PF authorilies.

Leases

The enlity leases various properiics and warchouses, Lease lerms are negotialed on an individual basis and conlain a wide range of different Lermas and
condilions.

During Lhe yrar, additions amounted to MINR 74 (31 March 2020- MINR 72) and depreciation to MINR 59 (3t March 2020- MINR 51).

The lcase expenses recognised in the income statement related to short-term leases and leases of low-value asscts recognised in the income slalement in Lhe
yrar was and amounled to MINR 5 (31 March 2020- MINR 44).

For disclosures of Lhe lease linbililies, please refer lo note no 3D

Operuting leases - Company as a leasor

The Company has culered ints ing lease n its leasehold land. Some of the signifi lerms and conditions for Lhe are:
- the lease arrangements are generally renewable on the expiry of lease yrar subject 1o mutual agreement.

- no subletting of the premises or any part thereof is permissible wilbout the prior written consent of lessor.

- Operaling lease arrangement is non-cancellable in nature with a lock-in period of 15 years,

The minimum amount receivable in future towards non - cancellable lease agreemeats is as under:

For the year For the year

Particulars ended ended

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Receivable wilhir one year o o

Receivable between one and five years 1 1

Receivable above five years L 1

Total 2 =z

The lease rentals recognized as income and value of assets given on lease included in For the year For the year

property, plant and equipment ended ended

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

A. Lease rentals recoguized as income during the year o o
D. Value of asscls given on lease included in property, plant and equipment

- Gross carrying amount 3 g

- Net carryiog amount 4 Rl

Nole: Zero represcats amount below rounding-off norms adopled by the company.
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A.

D.

Income taxes

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Year ended Year ended
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Current fox
Current period - -
Deferred tax
{(Decrease)/1ncrease in deferred tax liabilities - (129)
Decrease in deferred tax assets 253 1,781
Total current tax exy 253 1,652

Significant estimates

With increased size of operations, improved efficiencies and wider footprint, the Company has consistently earned tax profits from Financial Year 2016-17. Further, the Company has prepared an estimate of
the probable future taxable profits. The Company is confident that with the consistent growth pattern over the years and in future, it will be able to generate the future taxable profits as estimated and utilize
the unused tax losses in the reasonable period of time. Considering the aforementioned facts, the Company has recognized deferred tax asset on the undisputed and unused tax losses and other temporary

differences in its books of account.

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

March 51, 2021

March 31, 2020

Profit before tax

Note:
(i) Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms adopted by the company,

1,200 1.493
Tax using the Company’s domestic tax rate - March 2021 : 25.168% (March 2020 : 25.168%)) 302 376
Effect of:
Non-deductible expenses 5] 4
Unrecognised timing differences of previous year now rexersed in current year (133)
True up impact on account of filing of last year income tax return 123 -
Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses and unabsorbed depreciation (31)
Reversal of deferred tax on account of possible disallowances 101
MAT credit written off on account of adoption of concessional rate of tax* M
Impact of change in rate of tax from 34.944% to0 25.168% * - 1113
(ther items 8 Fs
Income Tax Expense 254 1,652
* During the previous year, the Company has opted to pay current tax at the concessional tax rate of 25.168% from FY19-20 onwards, as against erstwhile tax rate of 34.944%.
Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
Before tax Tax (expense) Net of tax Before tax Tax (expense) Net of tax
benefit benefit
R of defined benefit liability (asset) 11 (k)] £l (13l 5 (8)
11 £3) B f3) 5 (8)
. Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:
Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities Net deferred tax asset/(liabilities)
March 31, 2021 March 31,2020 March 31,2021  March 31,2020 March 31, 2021 Maerch 31, 2020
Property, plant and equipment 70 120 - 70 120
Share based payment reserve - 2 - - 2
Provisions for employee benefit obligations 77 68 - - 77 68
Provisions for Obsolete inventory and allowances for doubtful balances 202 159 202 159
Provision for litigations and others provisions 17 74 17 74
Tax losses and unabsorbed jation 1,650 1,949 - 1,650 1,949
Deferred tax assets/ linbilities 2,010 2972 - - 2,116 2,372
Offsetting of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities - - - = =
Net deferred inx ausets 2,116 2,372 - - z,016 2,37
in p y diffe:
L as at hid ised in isedin R ised in 1 as at
March 31, 2020 profitorloss  equity during 20- OCI during 20- March 31, 2021
during 20-21 21 21
Property, plaat and equipment 120 (500 - - 70
Share based payment reserve 2 @ - =~ =
Provisions for employee benefit obligations 68 12 - 3) 77
Provisions for Obsolete inventory and allowances (or doubtful balances 159 43 - - 202
Provision for litigations and others provisions 74 43 - - 117
Tax losses and unabsorbed depreciation 1,949 (299) - - 1,650
2,372 (2532) - (3) 2,116
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43 Transfer Pricing

The Company has appointed independent consultant for conducting a transfer pricing study to determine whether the transactions with the associate
enterprises were undertaken at "arm'’s length prices". The management confirms that all transactions with associate enterprises are undertaken under arms-
length. The transfer pricing study for the year ended March 31, 2020 has been completed which did not result into any adjustment.

44 The Company has filed Advance Pricing Agreement renewal application with Central Board of Direct Taxes for the Financial Years 2019-20 to 2023-24 for
the most appropriate transfer pricing method for the following transactions:
i) Brand marketing expenses
ii) Payment of royalty for using technical know-how and trade marks
iii) Payment of royalty for using technical know-how and trade marks for the sublicensed states

45 The Company has entered into agreement with a contract manufacturing units for manufacturing of its beer brands. As per the terms of the contracts, the
Company has control over raw/packing material and finished goods (beer). The collection from customers and payment to suppliers is also done by the
Company. Accordingly, the Company has recorded the related sales, purchases, consumption and other expenses, as such, in these financial statements.
Below is the surnmary of transactions in respect of the aforesaid arrangement:

Particulars For the year ended For the year ended

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
Sales of products (gross) 13,940 18,508
Excise duty (9,762) (12,494)
Sales of product (net) 4,179 6,014
Cost of raw materials and packing materials consumed 1,869 2,380
Other manufacturing expenses 811 1,061

46 The Bihar State Government vide its notification dated April 5, 2016 imposed ban on trade and consumption of foreign liquor in the State of Bihar with
immediate effect. Pursuant to such notification, writ petitions were filed with the Hon'ble High Court at Patna requesting to set aside the said notification or
to defer its implementation or to direct the authorities to make payment for beer supplied till the date of aforesaid notification, refund all advance duties
and taxes paid by the Company and compensate for losses incurred on account of such abrupt notification. Vide notification dated April 9, 2016, the Bihar
State Government allowed production of beer in the state of Bihar for export to outside states.

With respect to supplies made to the Bihar State Beverage Corporation (BSBCL), including those in transit for delivery and also those already been placed in
the bonded warehouse, the Hon'ble High Court at Patna Vide an interim order dated April 13, 2016, expressed it prima facie view (subject to final order)
that sale having been completed, transfer of property in specific goods having taken place, the goods of BSBCL and what BSBCL does with those goods
would be Corporation’s look out, subject to full payment being made to the manufacturers in respect thereof.

The Hon'ble High Court at Patna vide its order dated September 30, 2016 set aside the notification dated April 5, 2016 and section 19(4) of the Bihar Excise
Act, 1915 as ultra vires the Constitution of India. The Bihar State Government has preferred a special leave petition (“SLP") before the Hon'ble Supreme
Court of India against the judgement of the Hon'ble High Court of Patna pursuant to which. As an interim measure, the Hon’ble Supreme Court has directed
that there shall be stay of operation of the order passed by the Hon'ble High Court at Patna.

All India Brewers Association has also filed a counter affidavit to the petition on behalf of the Company and other breweries with the Hon'ble Supreme
Court of India and the matter is sub-judice.

Subsequently, the Bihar Government enacted the Bihar Prohibition and Excise Act, 2016 imposing complete prohibition of liquor and intoxicants in the
territory of the State of Bihar effective October 2, 2016.

On January 24, 2017, the Bihar State Government has decided not to renew existing brewery licenses from the financial year 2017-18. The said Notification
also mentions that, upon application, permission shall be granted for manufacture of non-alcoholic drinks / beverages.

However, considering the fact that the Company is not carrying out any production in the state and is still to recover the advance duties / taxes paid, the
management as a matter of abundant caution had provided for impairment loss / doubtful receivables in relation to the aforesaid plant in previous financial
years. Impairment loss of MINR 1,709 was recognised in previous financial years.

47 Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) expenditure

There is no amount which is required to be spent on CSR activities in the current financial year as per Section 135 read together with Section 198 of the
Companies Act, 2013 in view of past accumalated losses.
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48
A

o

(i)

Eanl benefits obligati
Defined contribution plan
The Company has certain defined contribution plans. Contributions are made to provident fund in India for employees at the rate of 12% of basic salary as per regulations. The
contributions are made to registered provident fund administered by the government. The obligation of the Company is limited to the amount contributed and it has no further
contractual nor any constructive obligation. The Company also contributes towards Employee's State Insurance. The expense recognised during the period towards defined contribution
plan is MINR 75 (March 31, 2020 : MINR 63) including amount for ESIC of MINR 1 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 1)
Defined Benefit Plans
As at March 31, 2021 As at March 31, 2020
Net defined benefit liability- gratuity plan (Non funded) 148 139
Total employee benefit liabilities 148 139
Non current 145 132
Current 3 7
For details about the related employee benefit expenses, see Note 32.
Defined benefit plans:-
Gratuity:
The Company has a defined benefit gratuity plan which is unfunded. The Gratuity plan is governed by the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972 which entitles an employee, who has rendered
at least five years of continuous service (Company consider one year of continuous service), to gratuity at the rate of fifteen days wages for exery completed year of service or part thereof
in excess of six months, based on the rate of wages last drawn by the employee concerned.
Liability with regards to Gratuity is accrued based on actuarial valvation at the balance sheet date, carried out by independent actuary.
For details about the related employee benefits plan, See Note 2.2 (1) of accounting policies.
Reconciliation of the net defined benefit liability- Defined benefit plans
The following table set out the status of the defined benefits plans:
Chunge in defined benefit oblioition
Particulars As at March 31, 2021 As at March 31, 2020
Balance at the beginning of the year 139 o8
Benefits paid (16) @]
Current service cost 27 28
Interest cost 9 8
Past service cost - o
Actuarial losses/(gains) recognised in other comprehensive income (11) 13
- changes in demographic assumptions - o
-ch in fi ial ion: - 14
- experience adjustments (11) (1)
Balance at the end of the year 148 139
Total defined benefit obligati Y =
a. r ized in the of profit and loss
Particulars For the year For the year ended
ended March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
Current service cost 27 28
[nterest cost 9 8
Past service cost = =
37 36
b, ement r ized directly in other comprehensive income
Particulars For the year For the year ended
= ended March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
Actuarial losses/(gains) on defined benefit obligation (11) 13
(11) 13

Note: Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms adopted by the cormpany.
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(iii) Defined benefit obligation

@)

a. Actuarial assumptions
Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages):

Particulars For the year For the year ended

ended March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Discount rate 6.79% 6.79%

Future salary growth 8.00% 8.00%
Attrition rate (% movement)

- Upto 30 years 3.00% 3.00%

- From 31to 44 years 2.00% 2.00%

- Above 44 years 1.00% 1.00%

Mortality rate inclusive of provision of provision for disability 100% of Indian Assured 100% of [ndian Assured

Lives Mortality (2012-14)  Lives Mortality (2012-14)

The discount rate assumed is determined by reference to market yield at the balance sheet date on government bonds. The estimate of future salary increase, considered in actuarial
valuation, take account of inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors such as supply and demand in the employment market.

b. Sensitivity analysis

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial ions, holding other ions would have affected the defined benefit obligation

bv the ameunts shown below,
Change in nssumptions For the year ended Mareh 31, 2021 For the vear ended March 31, 2020

Increase Decresse Intrease Decrease

Discount rate {0.5% movement) {a 10 (8 9
Future salary growth (0.5% movement) 10 9) 0 8
Attrition rate (0.5 % movement) - - - ~

The above sensitivity analysis are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the
assumption may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligations to significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the defined
benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method in the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the defined benefit liability recognised in the
balance sheet.

The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compare to the prior period.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 16.37 years (March 31, 2020 - 16.69 years). The expected maturity analysis of undi d gratuity is as follows:
Maturity profile As at March 31, As at March 31,
2021 2020
Year1 3 7
Year 2 3 3
Year 3 3 5
Year 4 5 3
Year 5 7 5
Year 6 6 6
6 years onwards 121 m
Total 148 139
Risk exposure
Through its defined benefit plans, the Company is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below:
Changes in discount rate - Changes in discount rate can result into increase/(decrease) in defined benefit plan liability.
Life ; -1 inlife will result in an increase in the plans liabilities. This is particular significant where inflationary

increases result in higher sensitivity to changes in life expectancy.

Other long term employee benefits

Leave obligations:
The igations cover the Ct ’s liability for earned leave.

The entire amount of the provision of MINR 77 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 77 ) is presented as current, since the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for any

of these obligations. However, based on past experience, the Company does not expect all employees to avail the full amount of accrued leave or require payment for such leave within
the next 12 months.

Particulars As at March 31, 2021 As at March 31, 202
Leave obligations not expected to be settled within the next 12 months 73 T2
Note: Zero amount below ding-off norms ad d by the pany.
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49 Share based payments

Description of share based payments arrangements:

As at March 31, 2021, the Company has the following share based pay arr
The Company applies the fair value based method of accounting to account for performance shares issued by Carlsberg A/S, Denmark, the ultimate holding pany, to the employees of the Comp The
fair market value of such instruments is recognized as an expense over the penod in which the related services are received. Since the Company is required to pay the amount to Carisberg A/S, Denmark

towards share-based ion for the C: ploy the credit arising from recognizing such share-based compensation is recorded in the share-based payment reserve.

Performance shares units- Equity settled plan '

In 2011, the Carlsberg group introduced a new long-term incentive programme (equity settled). The value of remuneration received under the long-term incentive programme is calculated as a
predetermined percentage of employee’s yearly salary. Depending upon the group’s performance, this percentage can be adjusted to a maximum of 150% of the predetermined percentage. The long-term
incentive programme is settled in performance shares. A participant in long-term incentive programme will receive a number of performance shares, each giving the right to receive one Carlsberg B share
listed on NASDAQ, Copenhagen.

Total amount recognised in the statement of profit and loss, with a corresponding credit to the share based payment reserve amounts to MINR 31 {March 31, 2020: MINR 9)

All the performance shares vest in three years of service, except for an extraordinary grant made in 2018 that vested after two years of service.

Based on the information received from the ultimate holding company the number of shares granted to each employee is based on the share price of Carlsberg A/S class B shares on NASDAQ OMX
Copenhagen and is calcuated as the higher of the share price the day before granting or the average share price during the first five trading days following the granting of the performance shares. The
performance shares have an exercise price of nil.

No performance shares were granted in during financial year ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020.

Reconciliation of ontstanding share options

For the year ended March 31, 2021 For the year ended March 31, 2020

ber of opti Weighted Number of options  Weighted average
average exercise price (DKK)
exercise price
(DKK)
Qutstanding at the beginning of the year 15,347

Add: granted during the year
Add: adjusted during the year
Add: transfers in during the year

4,685

Less: exercised during the year (2,276) (9.527)
Less: cancelled/expired during the year = =
Less: forfeited out during the year (2,409) (1,135)
Outstunding at the end of the year < 4,685
Exercisable at the end of year =
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at the end of period Nil years 0.88 years
p recognised in of profit and loss: For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
Refer note 32 employee benefits expenses. 31 9
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50. Related party trunsactions

A. Related Parties where control exist and with whom the Company had transactions during the year 2020-21 and 2019-20

(1) Enterprises where control exist

(a) Ultimate holding company
Carlsberg A/S, Deomark

® diate holdi
Carisberg Brewerics A/S, Denmark
Carlsberg South Asin Pte Limited, Singapore

(c) Holding Company
South Asian Breweries Pte. Limited, Singapore

(ii) Enterprises where common control exist

(=) Fellow subsidiaries
Carlsberg Brewery Hong Kong Limited, China
Carlsberg Supply Company AG , Switzerland
Cambrew Limited, Cambodia
Carlsberg Italia 5.P.A.

(b) Joint venture company
NCC Crowns Private Limited, India

(iii) Other related parties

Key managerial personnel

Nilesh Patel

Muthuraman Ramanathan

Pawag Jagetia

Graham James Fewkes

Roland Arthur Lawrence

Libak Stollberg Trocls

Kalpataru Tripathy

Yeo Soon Keong

Chow Lee Peng

Philip Andrew Hodges

Matthijs Dirk Jongejan (w.c.f August 20, 2020)
Prabhat Singh (w.c.F August 20, 2020)

Jan Thieme Rasmussen ( w.e.f August 20, 2020)
Peter Steemberg (w.e.f. March 22, 2021)

Soren Frederik Flensborg ( w.e.f. March 22, 2021)
Pradyumna Maheshwari

Transactions with related parties:

Managing Director

Whole Time Director

Director

Director (resigned on March 21, 2021)
Director (resigned on August 20, 2020)
Dircctor

Director

Director (resigned on August 20, 2020)
Director (resigned on August 20, 2020)
Director (resigned on June 8, 2021}
Director (resigued on March 21, 2021)
Director

Director

Additional Director

Additional Drecter

Chief Financial Officer

Particulars

For the year ended
Mareh 31, zo2:

For the year emled)
March 31, 2020,

A Ultimmte holding company

Carlaberg A/5
Employee benefits expense reimbursement #

B diate holding C.

Carlsbeng Broweries A/S, Denmark
benefits ]

Tmining expenses reimbursement
and i

Purchase of mw materials

Legal and i imk
Training reimbursement

Salary and travel recharges

Carisberg South Asia Pte Limited, Singapore
Salary and travel
Roynlty expense (excluding goods and services tax)

C. Fellow subsidiuries

Carisbery Supply Company AG, Switzerland
Salary and travel recharges
Education and training expense reimbursement

Curisbery Brewwery Hong Kong Limited, China
Salary nnd traved recharges
Repairs and

Camlyrewr Limited, Cambodia
Salary and travel recharges

Carlebery Italia S.PA.
Purchase

D. Juint venture company
NCC Croums Private Limited, India

Miscellancous income
Reat income

| Punchses of goods

)
s

(1
iyl

{481

a7

(&3]

(o}
{2}

230

(31)
o
(L]

)

{o}
(o)

(D) Brackets income;

(i) Zemo pepeesotits amount below

from related partics.
ding-off norms adopted by the Company,
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C. Trw i with key 1

As per Annexure 1

D. Yearcod balances:

Parti Asal
SIS March 31, 2021
A. Ultimate holding company
Carlsberg A/S
Amount payable # 8o 24
B. Intermed holding C
Carisberg Breweries A/S Denmark
Accounts payable # 150 95
‘Trade receivables 5 5
Carlsbery South Asia Pte Limited , Singapore
Accounts paynblc 156 71
Tmde receivables - 8
C. Fellow subsidiaries
Carlsbery, Brewery Hoog, Kong Limited, China
Acoounts payable # 20 21
Trade receivables 4 2
Carisberg Supply Company AG, Switzerland
Accounts payal E o|
Trade recehvubles 5 4
Cambrew Limited, Cambodia
Trade receivables = L
D. Joint Venture
NCC Crowns Private Limlited, Indla
Investment outstanding 123 123
Accounts payable 21 27
# Tnctedes tray o for the ymr ing o MINK g0 (Murch 31, 2020 MINR 58) und total smount payable 22 o March 31, 2021 amounting to MINR 246 (March 31, 2020 -

MINR 142) which are prasiling for apjirnial froan the Bosnd of Direvtons es reguired woder the articls of assocdation of the Company.
Key terms and conditions of related party ransactions

(i} The sales to and purchasc from related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm's length transactions. Outstanding balances at the year-end are unsecured
and interest free and settiement occurs in cash within six months.

(i) There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party i bles. This lis each finsncial year through examining the financial
position of the related perty and the market in which the related party operates.

(iif) Carlsherg Breweries A/S, Denmark (a fellow subsidiary) has given letter of Comfort to BNP Paribas bank for credit facilitics taken by the Company dated November 24, 2018. (refer
note no 19)

Note: Zero amount below

AF norma adopted by the company.
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Annexure 1

Transactions with key management personnel and relatives of key management personnel

Particulars

For the year ended
March 31, 2021

For the year ended
March 31, 2020

Compensation of key management personnel

(i) Short term employment benefits
(a) Salary, wages and bonus
Michael Norgaard Jensen
Naveen Begwani
Manish Damodardas Garg
Muthuraman Ramanathan
Nilesh Patel
Pradyumna Maheshwari

(b) Contribution to provident and other funds
Naveen Begwani
Manish Damodardas Garg
Muthuraman Ramanathan
Nilesh Patel
Pradyumna Maheshwari

(ii) Post-employment plan

Defined benefit plan - Gratuity
Naveen Begwani
Manish Damodardas Garg
Muthuraman Ramanathan
Pradyumna Maheshwari

(iii) Other long term employee benefit plan

Compensated absences
Naveen Begwani
Manish Damordardas Garg
Muthuraman Ramanathan
Pradyumna Maheshwari

(iv) Employee share-based payment
Pradyumna Maheshwari
Nilesh Patel
Muthuraman Ramanathan

- Performance share expense*

* Employee wise details for the Performance share expense in long term
incentive plan is not available with the Company

17
91
15

I

= B

1
15

3

Refer Note 49

1

- W =

4

39

8

Refer Note 49

Total compensation paid to key management personnel

149

164

Note: Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms adopted by the company.
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5t Offsetting finaneial asscts and liabilities
The following tabie contuins information on other M-l avets aid el pagablen amd ol payablss siboet b olTadting :

Asat Asat

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
Financial Amsets:
Gross amounts of recognised financial asscts 7,220 3,945
Gross amounts of recognised trade payables and other liabilities set off in the balance sheet ) (256)
Net amounts of recognised other financinl assets presented in Lhe bolance sheet 6,887 1,689
Financial liabilities:
Gross amounts of recognised trode payables and other payables 4397 4605
Gross amounts of recognised trade payables and other liabilities set off in the balance sheet - -
Net amountks of recognised trade puyables and other payables presented in the balance sheet 4,337 4,695
For the (inancial ussets and liabilities subject to offsetling or similar each between the Company and the counterparty allows for net scttlement of the relevant finanial

assets and liabilitics when both elect to settle on a net basis. In the absence of such an election, financtal ussels and liabilitics will be settled on a gross basis and hence are not offset.
52 Fair value measurement and financial instruments
a. Flnanclal instruments - by category

(i) As on Mareh 31, 202t

Particulars Note Carrying value Falr value m: uslng
EVTPL FVOCT Amortised Cost Total Level 1 Lovel
Financial assets
Non-current
in il o 4 o

Security deposit . | 77 77 - E 77
Flxed deposits . E 2| 2] - g E
Current
Trode receivables - . 2.80¢| 2,800 . 8 2.800
Cash and cash equivalents . . 2,724 2,724 4 E 2724
Other bank balances 70| 70 70
Security depasit o - 7 7 “ - 7
Trusetryeges clafpns poeehiable 4 H o o o 4 o0
Government grant receivable - - 40 4u - o 49,
TOTAL . o =0 0 - E fioen
Financlal liabilities
Non-current
Lease: linbllities - - a6 a6 . - a6
Deposits (rom customers - & M a - B LYl

it
Current Borrowings - - 245 245 4 - 245
Lense liabilities | | 52 52 - - 52|
Trade pavables g - n.8aa 822 . | A.822
P fron st a7] 27| b - 27]
Emplovee related payables & - o1 L] . . 91
Security deposits | . A k! . N a
Capital creditors & = A al - . a1
TOTAL ] = PR 2xif] - £ ERRL
(il) Az on Mareh 31, 2020
Particulars Note Corryirg value Fair value messurement using

FVIPL FVOCL Amortised Cost Total Level 1 Level = Lewel 3

Finaneial assets
Non-current
[mvestment in government securities [ o o
Security deposits - - 85 85 - 5
Flxed depasits o - I 1] = 1
Current
Trade recelvables g - 3,100 3,100 - B 2,100
Cash and cash equivalents - -] 2an 211 - = an
Other bank balances 70 70 4 . 7o
Loans -
Security deposits - -| Al q - - l
Tpesteramee chuiis neochable s - | 1 - . I
Government grant receivable - | 49! 49| i - 49
TOTAL - -| Sy A1 - = 32
Financial lisbilities
Non-current
Lease liabilities - - 65 65 - - 65
Depusits from customers - - 47| 47, 47)
Current
Current Borrowinas 1 - 45 845 - % | 84y
Leasc linbilities E - 57 57| = - 5%
Trade payables " - 3,565 3,565 | E 3,565
Depasits from customers - - 29 24| 8 E 24
Employve related poayables - -] 551 58] -] - 58|
Security deposits - - 3 K - - K|
Capital creditors - 100 100 104
TOTAL - - 4,700 PRy -] | A7

Imvestments in Joint Venture are held at cost and therefore has not been included in above table

Note: Zero t below {F norms adopted by the company.
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b. Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the jud, and ustis made in ining the fair values of the finandal i that are lat ised cost and for which fir values are diaclosed in
Lhe financinl stateroents. To provide an indication about the reliability of the inpuls used in determining (air value, the Company has classified its financial instruments into the three levels
prescribed under the aceounting standard. An explanation of cach level follows:

Level 1: Level | hiernrchy includes financinl instruments measured using quoted prices, for example, listed equity instruments, traded bonds and mutual funds thut have quoted price.

l.zwlz.Thnl?alr\‘n]ucofﬂmndnlmsn-mnnnut}mtmmlmdcdmnnnm‘xnmkntu ined using valuation tech which maximise the use of obx ble market data and rely as
little as possiblc on entity-specific esti If all i inputs required to fair valuwe an instrument are obsurvable, the insirument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the afgnificant inpuls is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

There are no transfers betwven levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year. The company’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hivrarchy levels as at the end of the reporting
period

Fair value of financial asscts and liabilities measured at amortised cost

"The currying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade recelvables, other financial assets, other receivables, trade payables and other current finandlal liabHities are considered to be the same as
their fnir values, largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

c. Financial risk management

The Company hus exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

« Liquidity risk ; and
« Market risk .
Risk management framework

The Company’s board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the C s risk rk. The board of dircetors has authorized respective
business Managers to establish the processes, who ensures Lhat execulive management controls risks through  the mecharism of properly defined framework.

The Company’s risk policies are established to identify and analyse the risks fnced by the Company, to set appropriale risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to
limits. Risk management policies und s)stem.s are reviewed by the business mnnngeu periodically to reflect changes in market condilons and the Compnn) s activities. The Corapany, through its
training and aims to maintain o dlsc, ive control envi in which all empl d their roles und obligations.
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b. Financial risk management (continued)

(i) Credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risks is represented by the total carrying amount of these financial assets in the balance sheet

Particulars As at March 31, 2021 As at March 31, 2020
Non Current

Investment in government securities (refer Note 5) [} [}
Security deposit (refer Note 6) 77 85
Fixed deposits (refer Note 7) 2 1
Current

Trade receivables (refer note 11) 3,800 3,100
Cash and cash equivalents (refer Note 12) 2,724 211
Other bank balances (refer Note 13) 70 70
Security deposit (refer Note 14) 7 4
Insurance claims receivable (refer Note 15) o 1
Government grant receivable (refer Note 15) 49 49

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and
arises principally from the Company’s receivables from customers.

Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited as the Company generally invests in deposits with banks with high credit ratings assigned by domestic
credit rating agencies. Investments primarily include investment in deposits at a bank for a specified time period. The loan represents security deposits
given to suppliers and others. The credit risk associated with such deposits is relatively low.

The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. However, management also considers the
factors that may influence the credit risk of its customer base, including the default risk of the industry.

The Company Management has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analyzed individually for creditworthiness before the
Company’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. The Company’s review includes market check, industry feedback, past
financials and external ratings, if they are available, and in some cases bank references. Sale limits are established for each customer and any sales
exceeding those limits require necessary approval. The Company monitors its exposure to credit risk on an ongoing basis at various levels. Outstanding
customer receivables are regularly monitored. The Company closely monitor the acceptable financial counterparty credit ratings and credit limits and
revise where required in line with the market circumstances.

Majority of the Company’s customers have been transacting with the Company from many years. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk,
whether through exposure to individual customers, specific industry sectors and/or regions. In monitoring customer credit risk, customers are reviewed
according to their credit characteristics, including whether they are an individual or a legal entity, their geographic location, industry and existence of
previous financial difficulties.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major clients. In addition, a large number of minor receivables are
companied into homogenous companies and assessed for impairment collectively. The calculation is based on credit losses historical data. The Company
has evaluated that the concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables to be low.

On account of adoption of Ind AS 109, the Company uses a simplified approach (lifetime expected credit loss model) for the purpose of computation of
expected credit loss for trade receivables.

Significant Estimates: The impairment provisions for financial assets disclosed above are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Company uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Company’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. For trade receivables only, the Company
applies the simplified approach permitted by Ind AS 109, “Financial Instruments”, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables.

The gross carrying amount of trade receivables is MINR 4,275 (March 31, 2020 — MINR 3,478).

The ageing analysis for trade receivables (Gross carrying amount) is as follows:

Particulars As at March 31, 2021  As at March 31, 2020
Not due 3,725 2,255
1-90 days past due 95 752
91 to 180 days past due 2 156
More than 180 days past due 453 315
4,275 3,478
Movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables and security deposits
Particulars Trade Receivables Security D i
For the year ended For the year ended | Fortheyearended Forthe year ended
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
Balance at the beginning 378 353 21 6
Impairment loss recognised # - 3 - n
Other provisions/adjustments Q7 22 - 4
Balance at the end 475 378 21 21

# This impairment loss has been included under "Net impairment loss on financial and contract assets” disclosed as a separate line item in the Statement
of Profit and Loss account.
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b. Financial risk management (continued)

(ii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or
another financial asset. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are
fallen due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of credit
facilities to meet obligations when due and to close out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, Company treasury maintains flexibility in
funding by maintaining availability under credit facilities.

Liquidity risk results from the Company’s potential inability to meet the obligations associated with its financial liabilities, for example settlement of financial debt and paying
suppliers. The Company’s liquidity is managed by Company Treasury. The aim is to ensure effective liquidity management, which primarily involves obtaining sufficient
committed credit facilities to ensure adequate financial resources and, to some extent, tapping a range of funding sources.

Net financial debt is used internally by Company Treasury to monitor the Company's credit resources available. Net financial debt is the Company's net interest-bearing debt,
excluding interest-bearing assets, as these assets are not actively managed in relation to liquidity risk.

At March 31, 2021, net financial debt was MINR Nil (March 31, 2020: MINR 634).

At March 31, 2021, the Company had total unutilised credit facilities of MINR 4,328 (March 31, 2020: MINR 3,476).

Exposure to liquidity risk
The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date. The amounts are gross and undiscounted.
As at March 31, 2021 Contractual Contractual cash flows
maturities Less than six Between six Between one More than 5 Total
months months and one | and five years years
year
Non current financial liabilities
Lease liabilities 40 - - 38 40
Deposits from customers 31 - - 31 31
Current financial linbilities
Current Borrowings 245 245 - - 245
Lease liabilities 57 29 29 - 57
Trade payables 3,822 3,822 - - 3,822
Deposits from customers 27 27 = = 27
Employee related payables 91 L3 50 = 91
Security deposits 3 - 3 = 3
Capital creditors a1 31 z = 21
Total 4,347 4,195 B2 69 4.347
As at March 31, 2020 Contractual Contractual cash flows
maturities Less than six Between six Between one More than 5 Total
months months and one | and five years years
vear
Non current financial liabilities
Lease liabilities 73 - - 70 73
Deposits from customers 47 - - 47! 47
Current financial liabilities
Current Borrowings 845 845 - - 845
Interest on borrowings 2 2 - - 2
Lease liabilities 61 31 30 - 61
Trade payables 3,565 3,565 = - 3,565
Deposits from customers 23 23 - - 23
Employee related payables 55 - 55 - 55
Security deposits 3 - 3 - 3
Capital creditors 100 100 - - 100
Total 4,774 4,566 88 117 4,774




Carlsberg India Private Limited

CIN:U15111DL2006PTC148579

Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021
(Rupees in million, except for share data and if otherwise stated)

b. Financial risk management (continued)

Interest rate risk

Currently the Company's borrowings are within acceptable risk levels, as determined by the management, hence the Company has not taken any swaps to hedge the interest rate
risk.

Exposure to interest rate risk

The interest rate profile of the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments as reported to the mar t of the Company is as follows.
Financial instruments As at As at
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Fixed -rate instruments

Financial liabilities - 600

Variable-rate instruments

Financial linbilities 245 245
245 845

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable-rate instruments

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below.

Particulars Impact on profit after tax Equity, net of tax
100 bp increase 100 bp decrease 100 bp increase 100 bp decrease

For the year ended March 31, 2021
Variable-rate instruments (2) 2
Cash flow sensitivity (2) 2

w {K

N

For the year ended March 31, 2020
Variable-rate instruments {2) 2 (=) 2@
Cash flow sensitivity (2} 2 (2) 2
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b. Fi ial risk (continued)
(iii) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises two types of risk: currency risk and interest rate
risk. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company is exposed to the effects of fluctuation in the
prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. Exposure arises primarily due to exchange rate fluctuations between the functional currency and other currencies
from the Company’s operating, investing and financing activities.

Exposure to foreign currency risk

The summary of quantitative data about the Company’s exposure to currency risk as at March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020 are as below:

(In INR Million)
Particulars As at March 31, 2021
USD EURO JPY DKK GBP
Financial assets
Trade receivables 13 - - - -
13 - - - -
Financial liabilities
Trade payables a3z 140 o 23 0
232 140 o 23 o
Net exposure in respect of recognised assets and liabilities (219) (149) (o) (23) (o)
Particulars As at March 31, 2020
USD EURD JPY DEK GBP
Financial assets
Trade receivables 20 = - = =
20 - - - -
Financial liabilities
Trade payables 102 101 [} 23 o
102 101 o 23 [
Net exposure in respect of recognised assets and liabilities (82) (101) (0) (23) (0)
Sensitivity analysis

A reasonably possible strengthening/ (weakening) of the Indian Rupee against below currencies at March 31, 2021 (previous year ending as on March 31, 2020) would have affected the
measurement of ﬁnanclal msh-uments denominated in functional currency and affected Statement of Profit and Loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis is perfonned on foreign currency
denomi ] assets and financial liabilities outstanding as at the year end. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant and ignores
any impact of forecast sales and purchases.

Particulars TImpact on profit after tax and equity Impact on profit after tax and equity

Murch 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

1% Increase 1% Decrease 1% Increase 1% Decrease

USD* 2 (2) 1 @
EURO* 1 ) 1 @
JPY* o (0) [¢] ()]
DKK* o (o) [+] ()]
GBP* 1) (0) o (0)

3 3) 2 (2)

USD: United States Dollar, EUR: Euro, JPY: Japanese Yen, DKK: Danish Krone, GBP: Great British Pound

Note: Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms adopted by the company.
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53 Events occurring after the reporting period:

55

Approval of financial statements - The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on September 6, 2021.

A Civil Writ Pelition (Public Interest Litigation) was filed in July 2006 before the High Court of Rajasthan, Jaipur Bench, primarily for restraining the regulatory authorities not to
grant any license to any distillery/ brewery in the district of Alwar, Rajasthan, and also not to allow commencement of production in the units which have been established against the
licenses already granted. The High Court of Rajasthan has dismissed the said Writ Petition vide order dated January 21, 2009. The High Court Order also stated that the matter may
be raised before the State Government, for redressal of grievances by way of filing representation, for their consideration and decision after hearing all concerned parties in
accordance with the law. The hearing has already been held before the State Government and the Company had not received any further order / information from the state
government on the said matter. The Company considers the matter as closed since it has not received any correspondence from any department till date over several years.

a) There are differences in viewpoints amongst the shareholders of the intermediate holding company of CIPL. These have percolated to the Company level and resulted in various
exchanges of communications and notices between certain directors on one hand and other directors and the Company on the other hand. Three of the ten directors (‘Complaining
Directors’) wrote letters dated 6th August 2019, 27th August 2019 and 11th February 2020 (‘Complaint Letters’) to the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) and the Ministry of
Commerce and Industry (MCI) with a copy to the Ministry of Finance (MoF) requesting the regulators to take cognizance and investigate, inter-alia, the following matters:
~matters referred to in note 55(c), (d), (e), and (h)

+not allowing the Audit Committee to conduct an independent investigation of violation of Competition Act, 2002

«blocking of email access to one of the Complaining Directors;

«asymmetric information sharing with the Complaining Directors;

«de-facto operation by the Managing Director of the Company prior to his appointment;

«Articles of Association are not in consonance with shareholder’s agreement;

=wrongful removal of a Complaining Director as the vigil mechanism Director;

MCA through Deputy Registrar of Companies, NCT of Delhi and Haryana Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India (the ‘Deputy RoC’) issued a letter dated 24th October
2019 (received by the Company on 12th November 2019) addressed to the Company and its seven other Directors. The Company submitted a detailed response on 4th December
2019 to the Deputy RoC refuting all allegations raised against the Company and the seven Directors. The seven Directors also submitted their response to the Deputy RoC.

The Registrar of Companies, Delhi, Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“ROC Delhi") has sent the Company an email communication on 23 October 2020 informing the Company that it
has closed the aforesaid complaints filed by the Complaining directors. Considering closure of the complaints by the ROC Delhi, management and Board by majority, is of the view
that the impact of the above, if any, on the financial statements, is unlikely to be material. However, the Complaining Directors are of the view that the impact of the above, on the
financial statements, can be material.

b) During the financial year, the previous statutery auditor of the Company Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants, LLP (“PW™) made a reporting to the Ministry of Corporate
Affairs under Section 143(22) of the Companies Act, 2013 on 24th September 2020. Pursuant to the said reporting made by PW, the Deputy Registrar of Companies, Ministry of
Corporate Affairs has initiated inspection of books of accounts under Section 206(5) of the Companies Act, 2013. In that regard, on 26th November 2020 and on 7th July 2021, the
Company received notices from Deputy Registrar of Companies whereby information and documents were sought from the Company. The Company has submitted all the information
and documents to the Deputy Registrar, as required by them vide its letters dated 16th & 20th December 2020, 1st April 2021 and 21st July 2021, respectively. The Company has not
received any further communication in this regard.

¢) Trade Discounts and sales promotional schemes:
In line with the general practice in alco-bev industry, the Company provides trade schemes. Total trade scheme related expenditure aggregated to MINR 1,836 (2019-20: MINR
2,208) for year ended 31st March 2021 which is deducted from ‘Revenue from Operations’ in Note 28 to the financial statements except for Nil (2019-20: MINR 42) shown as
exceptional item. The Company also incurred advertisement and sales promotional expenditure which aggregated to MINR 352 (2019-20: MINR 804) for the year ended 31st March
2021 included in Note 34 to these financial statements.
In October 2018, a speak up matter was reported conceming the legality and administration of Company’s discount practices. Under supervision of the Audit Committee of the Board,
a comprehensive review of its trade practices was conducted, and legal opinions were obtained from three reputed Indian law firms in relation to its trade practices in various states.
In this connection, the Company also engaged a big four consulting firm to provide professional services to a law firm to (a) undertake a review of the process and documentation
relating to trade discounts operated by the Company in selected markets; and (b) undertake a market study to understand — how and what types of sales promotion activities are
generally undertaken by the alco-bev industry in selected states.
The report of the big four consulting firm observed that the trade practices of the Company are in line with the general trade practice of the alco-bev industry and also identified
certain internal controls issues in relation to the modus operandi of the discount procedures namely, lack of written agreements between the Company and third party beneficiaries,
lack of proper compliance with Know Your Customers { KYC) norms by third party beneficiaries, lack of checks and balances on utilisation of amounts allocated to area sales

s, lack of consi in rebate amounts provided to the beneficiaries.
Based on the external legal opinions, insights of the industry practices obtained by the aforesaid big four consulting firm and internal analysis, Company’s management submitted its
recommendations regarding the practice of providing trade programs in various states to the Audit Committee for its review and recommendations and to the Board on January 22,
2020. The said recommendations inter-alia included sending intimation to various state authorities and corporations and develop comprehensive trade program process and controls.
Based on the reports and legal opinions received, the Board of the Company, in its meeting held on 25 February 2020, by majority, approved the recommendations of the
management and decided to implement a comprehensive list of measures to further strengthen its processes and controls mitigating the above control issues. The Complaining
Directors voted against the management recommendations stating that payments without explicit approvals from state excise authorities and to other than license holders, in their
view, will lead to breach of laws and misappropriation of Company’s funds. All these measures approved by the Board including communication of its trade practices to the state
excise authorities have already been implemented by the management of the Company. The Company has received response letters from four States. One State has intimated to the
Company that the trade schemes are prohibited within their jurisdiction where the Company has stopped providing trade schemes. The other state stated that influencing the
consumers is not deemed as a right practice. The third state has imposed a nominal penalty of MINR 0.3 on account of delay in intimation to the state. The fourth state has asked the
Company to clarify if the trade practices of the Company impact the retail price of the products in the state, and the Company has given its response.
The Company’s management is of the view that the extension of trade schemes is an industry wide practice and CIPL management and its advising law firms have not come across any
precedent or related enforcement in respect of the trade schemes till date. Therefore, the impact, if any, on the financial statements is not expected to be material. The board, by
majority, agrees with CIPL’s management viewpoint in this regard.
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55 d) Advertising and Promotion:
The Company has obtained legal opinions with respect to the legality of its advertisement and promotional activities including brand extension promotion.
The board, by majority, holds the view that its advertisement and promotional activities are in line with industry wide practices and the Company and its advising external legal firm
have not come across any enforcement with respect to the same until to date. The Board considers the matter closed. However, the Complaining Directors are of the opinion that the
advertising and promotional activities of the Company are not in compliance with the law.

e) Vigil Mechanism:

The Company has a Vigil Mechanism as required by Section 177(9) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Meetings of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014,
contained in the “CIPL Speak up Manual™ and “CIPL Misconduct Investigation Manual™ which were unanimously approved by the Board in its meeting held on April 26, 2018.
Pursuant to these manuals, certain high exposure matters should be investigated by the Integrity Committee at Carlsberg Group level in Denmark with regular information and
updates to the Audit Committee and Board of Directors of the Company. Although the Complaining Directors are of the view that the vigil mechanism is not in compliance with
Indian Company Law and matters are being handled outside of the Company governance mechanism, the Board, by majority, supported by external counsel opinion, are of the view
that the Vigil Mechanism is operating in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013.

) During the earlier financial years, the Company received communication through its Vigil Mechanism pertaining to certain alleged unlawful/unethical practices. Matters raised
through vigil mechanism are dealt with in accordance with the Misconduct Investigation Manual of the Company, with the assistance of external counsel and forensic experts
wherever considered necessary.

The concluded investigations indicated certain internal control weaknesses and a possibility that certain practices of the Company in earlier years might not be in compliance with the
applicable laws, Company's Code of Ethics & Conduct, and policies, although the amount involved could not be ascertained. The Board of Directors of the Company in its meeting
dated 7th May 2020, approved certain disciplinary and remedial actions to strengthen CIPL's internal controls, governance, risk, and compliance processes. The Company has
implemented all disciplinary and remedial actions.

During the current financial year, the Company received communication through its Vigil Mechanism pertaining to certain alleged unlawful/unethical practices. The company has
concluded certain investigations while some of them are still in progress. The Company already implemented some of the disciplinary and remedial actions related to those
investigations while some are in progress.

The impact, if any, of the above matters on the financial statements of the Company, is not expected to be material. The board, by majority, agrees with CIPL’s management viewpoint
in this regard.

g) CCI Investigation

On October 10, 2018, a search and seizure operation were conducted under the applicable provisions of the Competition Act, 2002 by officials from the office of Director General,
Competition Commission of India (“CCI") at the Head office of the Company in Gurgaon. The Company engaged an external law firm to assist the Company in the ongoing
investigation. Pursuant to this, the Company has made requisite filings and certain officials of the Company have appeared before the Director General of CCI (DG). The DG has
submitted the investigation report to the CCI for consideration which was also communicated to the company on 13th December 2019, followed up with an updated report on dated
19th March 2020, for filing its suggestions/objections, if any. During the year, the Company and certain current and past employees filed their respective responses to the DG Report.
CCI heard the matter on 11 February 2021 and 2 March 2021 and after hearing the parties involved, reserved it for the judgment. Management, along-with its legal advisors, believe
that there are mitigating factors to counter presumptions made against the Company by the CCI under the Competition Act, 2002, which have also been highlighted in the comments
/ objections to the investigation report and during hearing submissions filed by the Company. Pending conclusion of this matter by the CCI, the management and its legal counsels
are of the view that it is not practicable to state an estimate of its financial effect, if any.

h) During a routine review by the Company’s management in the financial year ended March 31, 2020, misappropriation of amounts aggregating to MINR 10.5 and accounting of
corresponding expenditure without supporting documents in earlier years by a former employee was revealed. The Company has registered First Information Report with the Police
against the said former employee. The Police has filed charge sheet before the local district court and the matter is now list for the framing of the charges against the accused
employee on 19 October2021. Further, the Company's management, during the previous financial year, had taken necessary preventive and remedial measures including further
strengthening of internal controls.

i) AGM 2018-19

Pursuant to Section 96 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Company had obtained extension from RoC to conduct its Annual General Meeting for the year ended 31st March 2019 till
25th December 2019 via letter dated 28th November 2019, issued by the RoC. The Company held its AGM on 24th December 2019. However the audited financial statements of the
Company for FY18-19 could not be laid in the AGM due to pending approval at that time by the Board of Directors and for this purpose the AGM was adjourned till 15 January 2020
resulting in non-compliance of certain provisions of the Companies Act, 2013. The Company may be liable to certain fines for non-completion of AGM within permitted timelines by
the RoC in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013. On 2nd December 2020, the Company filed the compounding application under the provisions of the
Companies Act, 2013. On 6th August 2021, the Company received belatedly a letter from the office of Regional Director dated 12th July 2021 wherein the Company was called to
attend the hearing before the Directorate on 19th July 2021. The Company through its consultants have now requested the Regional Director office to reschedule the meeting on a
future date.

The impact, if any, of the above matters on the financial statements of the Company, is not expected to be material.
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Capital Management

For the purpose of the Company’s capital management, capital includes issued equity share capital, share premium and all other equity reserves attributable to
the equity holders of the Company. The primary objective of the management of the Company’s capital structure is to maintain an efficient mix of debt and equity
in order to achieve a low cost of capital, while taking into account the desirability of retaining financial flexibility to pursue business opportunities and adequate
access to liquidity to mitigate the effect of unforeseen events on cash flows.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Company may return capital to shareholders, raise new debt or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years end March 31, 2020 and 2021.

The Company monitors capital on the basis of the debt to capital ratio, which is calculated as interest-bearing debts divided by total capital (equity attributable to
owners of the parent plus interest-bearing debts).

MINR
As at March 31, 2021 As at March 31, 2020

Short-term borrowings 245 845
Less : Cash and cash equivalent (excluding 2,724 211
overdraft included above)

Adjusted net debt (A) - 634
Total equity(B) 12,897 11,951
Adjusted net debt to adjusted equity ratio (A/B) 0% 5%
Loan Covenants

Under the terms of the bank overdraft facility, the Company is not required to comply with any financial covenants

Dividends
The Company has not declared dividend during current and previous year

Few of the minutes of meetings of the Board of the Company are not approved/signed/maintained in accordance with the timelines mentioned in the secretarial
standard read with section 118 of the Companies Act 2013. The Company is evaluating the same and is in the process of filling compounding application under the
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 with respect to the delay in maintenance of minutes of the Board Meetings.

Additionally, minutes of few committee meetings (not the statutory committees formed under the Companies Act) pertaining to the previous financial year and
minutes of one committee meeting for the current financial year were not approved/signed/maintained.

In view of the nationwide lockdown due to the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic, the Company's operations at all of its manufacturing, warehousing and office
locations were temporarily stopped from March 25, 2020. Operations have since resumed in a staggered manner beginning May 2020 with adequate precautions
being taken in accordance with Government guidelines, and all of the Company’s manufacturing locations are operational as at the date of approval of the
financial statements. Considering the expirable nature of the goods coupled with low demand in the market, there has been an impact of MINR 391 for the year
ended 31 March 2020, which has been separately shown in the Statement of Profit and Loss account as Exceptional Items. Subsequent to the year-ended 31
March 2021, there had been a surge in the spread of COVID-19 in India and various state governments imposed restrictions ranging from curfew / lockdown to
contain the spread of COVID19. The Company has taken various precautionary measures to protect its employees from COVID-19. Based on management
evaluation, no further material impact on the carrying amounts of current and non-current assets (including financial assets) is expected. Management has
considered various internal and external information available up to the date of approval of financial results in assessing the impact of COVID-19 pandemic in the
financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 and will continue to monitor changes in future economic conditions. The eventual outcome of the impact
of COVID-19 may be different from that estimated as on the date of approval of these financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Membets of Carlsberg India Private Limited
Reportt on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Carlsberg India Private Limited
(the “Company”) and its Joint Venture, which comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2021
and the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity and Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and
othet explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as the “Consolidated Financial Statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, except for
the possible effects of the matters described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion’ Section of our report, the
aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“the
Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting
Standards prescribed under section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards)
Rules, 2015, as amended, (“Ind AS”) and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the
consolidated state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2021, its consolidated profit, consolidated total
comprehensive income, its consolidated cash flows and the consolidated changes in equity for the year ended
on that date.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

We draw your attention that the consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 have
been approved by the Board of Directors in its meetings held on September 6, 2021 by majority of the
directors and three directors have not approved the same. We further draw your attention that the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020 and year ended March 31, 2019, which
were audited by previous statutory auditor, were also approved by the Board of Directors in its meetings held
on November 2, 2020 and January 9, 2020, respectively, by majority of the directors and three directors did
not approve the same. Reasons for non-approval of consolidated financial statements by the said three
directors, as communicated by the Company, for the years ended March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020 are
given in attached Annexure B and Annexure C of our report, respectively.

We draw your attention to note 55(a) to the consolidated financial statements regarding differences in
viewpoints amongst the shareholders of the intermediate holding company of the Company which has
percolated to the Company level and resulted in various exchanges of communications and notices between
certain directors of the Company on one hand and other directors and the Company on the other hand. As
described in the said note, three directors of the Company (referred to in the said note as 'Complaining
Directors') have sent letters to the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) and the Ministry of Commerce and
Industry (MCI) with a copy to the Ministry of Finance (MoF), to take cognizance and investigate into the
alleged irregularities and illegalities in the Company contained in the said letters. In this regard, the Deputy
Registrar of Companies, NCT of Delhi and Haryana, Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India
(RoC Office), sought certain information from the Company to which the Company had replied refuting all
allegations raised against the Company and the seven directors. The Company has received an email
communication dated October 23, 2020 from the RoC Office, that it has closed this complaint against the
Company.

Further, as described in note 55 (b) to the consolidated financial statements, the previous staturn:v auditor of
the Company has reported to the Ministry of Corporate Affairs under Section 143(12) of the Compqm s \ct. -\
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2013 on September 24, 2020. The RoC Office has initiated inspection of books of accounts under Section
206(5) of the Companies Act, 2013. Pursuant to the same, the Company received notices on November 26,
2020 and July 7, 2021, from RoC Office whereby information and documents were sought from the
Company. The Company has submitted all the information and documents to the RoC Office, as required by
them vide its letters dated December 16 & 20, 2020, Apzil 1, 2021 and July 21, 2021.

Considering the divergent and conflicting views amongst the directors and pending conclusion by respective
Regulatory Authorities on the matters raised in the aforementioned letters, we are unable to comment on the
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations and adjustments and disclosures that may be required in
the consolidated financial statements.

We draw your attention to note 55(a), 55(c) and 55(d) to the consolidated financial statements regarding the
Company's practice of incurring expenditure on trade discounts, promotional schemes, advertisement and
sales promotion aggregating to Rs. 2,188 million (MINR) (FY 2019-20: 3,012 MINR) including 1,836 MINR
(FY 2019-20: 2,166 MINR) which are deducted from Revenue from Operations. As described in the aforesaid
notes, in October 2018, a speak up matter was reported concerning the legality and administration of
Company’s discount practices. Under supervision of the Audit Committee of the Board, a comprehensive
review of its trade practices was conducted which identified certain internal controls issues in relation to the
modus operandi of the discount procedures namely, lack of written agreements between the Company and
third party beneficiaries, lack of proper compliance with Know Your Customers (KYC) norms by third party
beneficiaries, lack of checks and balances on utilisation of amounts allocated to area sales managers, lack of
consistency in rebate amounts provided to the beneficiaries.

Consequently, the management obtained external legal opinions, insights of the industry practices from the
consulting firm and carried out internal analysis and made recommendations to the Board of the Company.
The same was approved by the majority of the Boatd of Directors of the Company, in its meeting held on
February 25, 2020, which inter-alia included sending intimation to various State Authorities and Corporations
and develop comprehensive trade program process and controls.

As described in the said note, the Complaining Directors voted against the management recommendations
stating that payments without explicit approvals from State Excise Authorities and to other than license
holders, in their view, will lead to breach of laws and misappropriation of Company’s funds.

Further, as described in the abovementioned note, the Company has obtained legal opinions with respect to
the legality of its advertisement and promotional activities including brand extension promotion. The Board,
by majority, holds the view that its advertisement and promotional activities are in line with industry wide
practices and the Company and its advising external legal firm have not come across any enforcement with
respect to the same until to date. However, the Complaining Directors are of the opinion that the advertising
and promotional activities of the Company are not in compliance with the law.

Considering the divergent views amongst the directors and pending conclusion of the matters by Authorities,
we are unable to comment on the compliance with the applicable laws and regulations and adjustments and
disclosures that may be required in the consolidated financial statements.

We draw your attention to note 55(f) to the consolidated financial statements regarding communication
received by the company during the earlier financial years through its Vigil Mechanism pettaining to certain
alleged unlawful/unethical practices. As described in the said note, the internal investigations indicated certain
internal control weaknesses and a possibility that certain practices of the Company in earlier years might not
be in compliance with the applicable laws, the Company's Code of Ethics & Conduct and policies, although
the amount involved could not be ascertained. Further, as described in the said note, certain investigations
regarding matters reported during current financial year are ongoing.
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Considering the divergent views amongst the directors on the above and pending conclusion of the ongoing
matters, we are unable to comment on the compliance with the applicable laws and regulations and
adjustments and disclosures that may be required in the consolidated financial statements.

We draw your attention to note 55 (g) to the consolidated financial statements regarding the ongoing matters
related to the contraventions with certain provisions of the Competition Act, 2002 by the Company and its
past and current employees and directors. Duting the year, the Company and certain current and past
employees filed their respective responses to the report of Director General of Competition Commission of
India (CCI). CCI heard the matter on February 11 and March 2, 2021 and after hearing the parties involved,
reserved it for the judgment. As described in the said note, management, along-with its legal advisors, believe
that there are mitigating factors to counter presumptions made against the Company by the CCI under the
Competition Act, 2002, which have also been highlighted in the comments / objections to the investigation
report and during hearing submissions filed by the Company and accordingly, they are of the view that it is
not practicable to state an estimate of its financial effect, if any.

Pending conclusion of the matter by CCI including the quantum of the penalty that may be levied on the
Company, we are unable to determine the adjustments and disclosures that may be required in the
consolidated financial statements.

We draw your attention to note 50 to the consolidated financial statements regarding certain related party
transactions for the year amounting to MINR 99 (FY 2019-20: MINR 58) and total amount payable as on
March 31, 2021 amounting to MINR 246 (As on March 31, 2020: MINR 142), which are pending for approval
by the Board of Directors as required under the Articles of Association of the Company. Pending such
approval, we are unable to comment on the compliance with the applicable laws and regulations and
adjustments and disclosures that may be required in the consolidated financial statements.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Standards on
Auditing (SAs), as specified under Section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are
further described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements’
Section of our teport. We ate independent of the Company in accordance with the ‘Code of Ethics’ issued
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the consolidated financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code
of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and approptiate to provide a basis
for our qualified audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw your attention to note 55 (e) to the consolidated financial statements regarding the Complaining
Directors” view that the Vigil Mechanism is not in compliance with Indian Company Law and matters are
being handled outside of the Company’s governance mechanism. The Board, by majority, supported by
external counsel opinion, are of the view that the Vigil Mechanism is operating in compliance with the
requirements of the Companies Act, 2013.

We draw your attention to note 55 (i) to the consolidated financial statements in respect of default made by
the Company in holding its Annual General Meeting for financial year ended March 31, 2019 within the
stipulated timelines in accordance with the provisions of Section 96 of the Companies Act 2013 including
non-laying of annual financial statements in accordance of Section 129 of the Companies Act 2013. As stated
in the said note, during the current financial year, the Company management has filed the compounding
application under the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the matter is pending as on date and as per
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the management the financial impact, if any, of the above matter on the financial statements of the Company,
is not expected to be material.

. We draw your attention to note 57 to the consolidated financial statements, that few of the minutes of

meetings of the Board of the Company are not approved /signed /maintained in accordance with the timelines
mentioned in the Secretarial Standards read with Section 118 of the Companies Act 2013. Further, minutes
of few committee meetings (not the statutory committees formed under the Companies Act) pertaining to
the previous financial years and minutes of one committee meeting for the current financial year ate not
approved/ signed/ maintained.

As described in the aforesaid note, the Company is evaluating the same and is in the process of filling
compounding application under the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 with respect to the delay in
maintenance of minutes of the Board Meetings.

We draw your attention to note 58 to the consolidated financial statements which explains that management
has considered various internal and external information available up to the date of approval of financial results
in assessing the impact of COVID-19 pandemic in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
March 31, 2021 and will continue to monitor changes in future economic conditions. Based on management
evaluation, no further material impact on the carrying amounts of current and non-current assets (including
financial assets) is expected. The eventual outcome of the impact of COVID-19 may be different from that
estimated as on the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of any matter mentioned above.

Other Information

The Company's management and Boatd of Directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company's Directors” Report but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditors' report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our tesponsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have petformed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial
statements

The Company's management and Board of Directors ate responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5)
of the Act with respect to the preparation of these consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position, consolidated financial performance including other comprehensive
income, consolidated cash flow and consolidated changes in equity of the Company and its Joint Venture in
accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Accounting Standards
specified under section 133 of the Act. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting
records in accordance with the provisions of the Act, for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and its
Joint Venture and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of
approptiate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
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design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively
for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective management and Board of Directors of the
Company and its Joint Venture are responsible for assessing the ability of the Company and of its Joint Venture
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concetn and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company and its Joint Venture
ot to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The respective Board of Directors of the
Company and its Joint Venture are also responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or etror, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e  Tdentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedutes responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal financial control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also
responsible for expression of our opinion on whether the Company has adequate internal financial
controls with reference to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

e  FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Company and its Joint Venture to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a matetial uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Company and its Joint Venture to cease to continue as a going concern. '
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e  FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the consolidated financial statements that, individually or in
aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the
consolidated financial statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative
factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate
the effect of any identified misstatements in the consolidated financial statements.

. We communicate with those chatged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify dutring our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Others Matters

. The Comparative consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2020,

were audited by another auditor whose report dated November 2, 2020, expressed Disclaimer of Opinion
on those statements.

The consolidated financial statements also include the Company’s share of total comprehensive income
(comprising of profit and other comprehensive income) of MINR 4, in respect of the Joint Venture whose
financial statements have not been audited by us. These financial statements have been audited by other
auditor whose report has been furnished to us by the management, and our qualified opinion on the
consolidated financial statements insofar it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of
the Joint Venture and our report in terms of Sub-Section (3) of Section 143 of the Act insofar it relates to
the aforesaid Joint Venture is based solely on the report of the other auditor.

Our opinion above on the consolidated financial statements and our report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matter with respect to our reliance on the work
done and the report of the other auditor.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit and on the consideration of report of the other
auditor on separate financial statements of Joint Venture, as noted in the ‘other matter’ paragraph, we repott,
to the extent applicable, that:

(a) We/ the other auditors whose report we have relied upon have sought and, except for the matters
described in 'Basis for Qualified Opinion' section of our report, obtained all the information and
explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Except for the possible effects of the matters described in 'Basis for Qualified Opinion' section of our report,
in our opinion, propet books of account as required by law have been kept so far as it z 1ppear~. from our
examination of those books and report of the other auditor.
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(c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other
Comprehensive income), the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the Consolidated Cash
Flow Statement dealt with by this report are in agreement with the books of account and the records
maintained for the purpose of preparation of consolidated financial statements.

(d) Except for the possible effects of matters described in Basis for Qualified Opinion' section of our report,
in our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards
specified under Section 133 of the Act, as applicable.

(e) Except for the possible impact of the matters described in ‘Basis for Qualified Opinion” section of our
report, we did not come across any matters that may have an adverse effect on the functioning of the
Company and its Joint Venture.

(f) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Company as on 31st
March, 2021 taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Company and the report of the statutory
auditor of its Joint Venture incorporated in India, none of the directors of the Company and its Joint

Venture is disqualified as on 31st March, 2021 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section
164 (2) of the Act.

(2 The qualifications relating to maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith are as stated in
the “Basis of Qualified Opinion” section of our report.

(h) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference to
financial statements of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls refer to our
separate report in Annexure A. Our report expresses a qualified opinion on the operating effectiveness
of the Company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting of the Company for reasons stated
therein.

() With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of
the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and
according to the explanations given to us:

a. The Company and its Joint Venture have disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its
financial position in the consolidated financial statements (Refer Note 21, 39 and 55(f) to the
consolidated financial statements).

b. The Company and its Joint Venture have long-term contracts as on 31% March 2021 for which there
were no material foreseeable losses. The Company and its Joint Venture did not have any derivative
contracts as on 315t March 2021

c. There was no amount which were required to be transferted to the Investor Education and
Protection Fund by the Company and its Joint Venture during the year ended March 31, 2021.

N
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24. With respect to the matter to be included in the Auditors' Report under Section 197(16):

The Company is a private limited company and accordingly the requirements as stipulated by the provisions of
Section 197 are not applicable to the Company. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has not prescribed other
details under Section 197(16) which are required to be commented upon by us.

For T R Chadha & Co LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No.: 00671 1N /N500028

Hitesh Garg
Partner
Membership No: 502955

Place: Gurugram
Date: 6* September 2021

UDIN- 21502955AAAAED3097
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“Annexure A” as referred to in paragraph 23(h) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements’ section of our report of even date

Report on the Internal Financial Conttols under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of Carlsberg India Private Limited
(“the Company”) and its Joint Venture as of 315 March 2021 in conjunction with our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date. Reporting under clause
(i) of Sub-Section 3 of Section 143 of the Act in respect of the adequacy of the internal financial controls
with reference to financial statements over financial reporting is not applicable to its Joint Venture.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls with
reference to Financial Statements based on the internal controls over financial reporting criteria established
by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on
Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by The Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India (ICAI). These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance
of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the ordetly and efficient
conduct of its business, including adherence to Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the
prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records,
and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference to
Financial Statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note
on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) and the Standards
on Auditing, issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent
applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both applicable to an audit of Internal Financial Conttols
and, both issued by ICAL Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate
internal financial controls with reference to Financial Statements was established and maintained and if
such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial control system with reference to Financial Statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit
of internal financial control with reference to Financial Statements included obtaining an understanding of
internal financial control with reference to Financial Statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
qualified audit oplmon on the Company’s internal financial controls system with rekcn.nce to szncml
Statements.
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Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

A company's internal financial control over financial reporting with reference to financial statements is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company's internal financial control over financial reporting with reference to financial
statements includes those policies and procedures that:

a) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and faitly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;

b) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit pteparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and

c) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the
possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error
or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls
over financial reporting with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that
the internal financial control over financial reporting with reference to financial statements may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our audit, certain material
weaknesses have been identified in respect of the matters described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion™

paragraph of our Audit Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31,
2021.

A ‘material weakness’ is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal financial control over
financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s
annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the possible effect of the material weaknesses described in the Basis for Qualified
opinion paragraph above on the achievement of the objectives of the criteria, the Company has, in all
material respect, an adequate internal financial control system with respect to consolidated financial
statements and such internal financial controls with reference to financial statements were operating
effectively as at March 31, 2021 based on the internal financial control over financial reporting critetia

established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control s mted in the (Gruidance
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Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India.

We have considered the material weaknesses identified and reported above in determining the nature,
timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements of the
Company for the year ended March 31, 2021 and these material weaknesses have, inter alia, affected our
opinion on the said Consolidated Financial Statements and we have issued a qualified opinion on the said
Consolidated Financial Statements.

For T R Chadha & Co LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No.: 006711N/N500028

Hitesh Garg
Partner
Membership No: 502955

Place: Gurugram
Date: 6 September 2021
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Summary of the Minutes of CIPL Board Meeting held on 6th September 2021 related to approval of
financial statements 2020/21:

DIRECTOR'’S VOTES FOR/AGAINST THE APPROVAL OF THE ACCOUNTS AND THE REASONS FOR THEIR
VOTES

VOTING

Voted in Favour of the Resolution for Approval/Adoption of the Financial Statement 2020-21: Mr.
Jan Rasmussen, Mr. Troels Stollberg, Mr. Soren Flensborg, Mr. Nilesh Patel, Mr. Muthuraman
Ramanathan and Mr. Peter Steenberg,.

Voted Against the Resolution for Approval/ Adoption of the Financial Statement 2020-21: Mr.
Prabhat Singh, Mr. Pawan Jagetia and Mr. Kalpataru Tripathy.

REASONS FOR SUPPORT OR DISSENT

Mr. Pawan Jagetia (dissenting): Mr. Pawan Jagetia voted against and stated that the Audit Report is
a good summary and T. R. Chadha and Co., LLP (“the Auditors”) has pointed out several weaknesses
and issues in incurring the expenses relating to the trade discounts. He stated that the expenses
relating to trade discounting are very significant amounts (INR 2.188 Billion in the current financial
year and INR 3.012 Billion in the last year) which CIPL has spent and that the independent auditor
were not convinced on these expenses, hence have given qualified opinion. He also noted that he is
not in agreement with the remuneration booked for CIPL managing director which in his view was not

in line with the contract or with remuneration committee’s approval. He disagreed with the
statements of Mr. Stollberg (noted below).

Mr. Peter Steenberg, Chairman: Mr. Steenberg voted for, and stated that the audit has been
proceeded based on the audit plan approved by the Audit Committee on 7" April 2021. He stated
that while the Board should be concerned by the highlighted issues, the Auditors have recognised and
confirmed that they have seen improvements over the Financial year with the internal controls, which
is an evidence that the Company is on the right track. He stated that the Auditors have also recognised
the fact that the discussions/disputes at the holding company has reached the Company leve!, which
is reflected in the Audit Report and that the Auditors have pointed to the fact that the divergent views
from the complaining directors is a significant factor so that they have deemed necessary to issue a
qualified opinion. He stated that it will be a key task for the management that CIPL continue to improve
and strengthen the internal controls further. He stated that the Audit Committee and the Board has
clear processes with the compliance tracker, and they do regularly monitor progress. He stated that
despite the qualification, the Auditors has concluded that the Financial Statements gives a true and
fair picture of the Company. He stated that based on the review that he has done, in his view, the
readers of these statement will be provided a true and fair picture of the Company’s affairs to the
extent required by the Indian Accounting Standards. He thanked the management for their hard work.
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Mr. Kalpataru Tripathy (dissenting): Mr. Kalpataru Tripathy voted against and stated that the three
complaining directors are non-executive directors and not involved directly in the Company’s affairs.
He stated that the views of the three directors are personal to them. Noting that the Auditors were
privy to a lot of information including legal opinions, Mr. Tripathy stated that the divergent view was
an issue in the last financial year. He did not find it logical that the Auditors did not take an
independent opinion based on the information/documents made available to them in the current
financial year. He noted that he is not sure whether that was the only reason or if the Auditors are still
not convinced despite of the information provided to them. He stated that the Auditors should take
an independent view on the matters.

Mr. Troels Stollberg: Mr. Troels Stollberg voted for, and invited the attention of the Board members
to certain paragraphs from the Audit Report that (a) financial statements regarding differences in
viewpoints amongst the shareholders of the intermediate holding company of the Company which
has percolated to the Company level; (b) the previous statutory auditor of the Company has reported
to the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) under Section 143(12) of the Companies Act, 2013, and
that MCA inspection is still pending; and (c) the Auditors have qualified the Audit Report and express
inability to comment on the compliance with the applicable laws and regulations and adjustments and
disclosures that may be required in the financial statements considering the divergent and conflicting
views amongst the directors and pending conclusion by respective Regulatory Authorities. He also
noted that according to communication received from RoC by the Company, the Complaints of the
complaining directors has been closed on 23 October 2020. He stated that in view of the aforesaid,
he is not surprised that the current Auditors have based their qualified opinion on divergent views and
the current ongoing inspection by the MCA.

Mr. Prabhat Singh (dissenting): Mr. Prabhat Singh voted against and stated that he is doing so for the
reasons stated by Mr. Pawan Jagetia.

Mr. Jan Thieme Rasmussen: Mr. Jan Thieme Rasmussen voted for.
Mr. Nilesh Patel: Mr. Nilesh Patel voted for.

Mr. Muthuraman Ramanathan: Mr. Muthuraman Ramanathan voted for.

Mr. Soren Flensborg: Mr. Soren Flensborg voted for.

sHwin Aggarwal
(Company Secretary)
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Summary of the Minutes of CIPL Board Meeting held on 2 November 2020 related to approval of
financial statements 2019/20:

DIRECTOR’S VOTES FOR/AGAINST THE APPROVAL OF THE ACCOUNTS AND THE REASONS FOR THEIR
VOTES

VOTING

Voted in Favour of the Resolution for Approval/Adoption of the Financlal Statement 20139-20: Mr.
Graham Fewkes, Mr. Troels Stollberg, Mr. Philip Hodges, Mr. Jan Rasmussen, Mr. Nilesh Patel, Mr.
Muthuraman Ramanathan and Mr. Mark Jongejan.

Voted Agalnst the Resolution for Approval/ Adoption of the Financial Statement 2019-20: Mr.
Pawan Jagetia and Mr. Kalpataru Tripathy

Abstained from Voting: Mr. Prabhat Singh
REASONS FOR SUPPORT OR DISSENT

Mr. Prabhat Singh (abstaining): Mr. Singh abstained as he only recently had been appointed director,
after the financlal years 2019/20.

Mr. Troels Stollberg: Mr. Troels Stollberg voted for, as he considered the financial statements to be
true and fair and had noted the Registrar of Companies had closed their case refated to allegations
regarding the Company.

Mr. Kalpataru Tripathy (dissenting): Mr. Kalpataru Tripathy voted agalnst as the auditors had not
confirmed the veracity of certaln financial statements made by management.

Mr. Pawan Jagetia (dissenting}: Pawan Jagetla voted against and stated that PW has noted several
issues with compliances, accounting, reporting and governance in their draft Audit Reports. He stated
that he continues to have serlous reservations about business practices, compliances and
transparency in running of the Company which was also reflected in his letters/emails to CIPL Board
and Managing Director of the Company. This gave him no confidence in the Financlal Reports and
accompanylng statements in governance and internal controls prepared by the executive
management.

Mr. Mark Jongejan: Mr. Mark Jongejan voted for, as he considered the financlal statements to be true
and fair.

Mr. Jan Thieme Rasmussen: Mr. Jan Thieme Rasmussen voted for, for the same reasons as stated by
Mr. Troels Stollberg and Mr. Mark Jongejan.

Mr. Nilesh Patel: Mr. Nilesh Patel voted in favour of the resolution, strongly rejected the allegations

made by Mr. Pawan Jagetia and stating the allegations by Mr. Pawan Jagetia were made as part of the '\ & :
shareholder dispute. Ay O\

N
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Mr. Muthuraman Ramanathan: Mr. Muthuraman Ramanathan voted in favour of the resolution.

Mr. Graham Fewkes: Mr. Graham Fewkes voted for, expressing confidence in management, given the
detailed work of the audit committee and the fact that the Registrar of Companies had closed their
case regarding allegations about CIPL.

Mr. Phil Hodges, chairman: Mr. Phil Hodges voted for, expressing confidence in the managing director
and the CFO, noting the recommendation made by Mr. Mark Jongejan as audit committee member,
he found the financial statements to be true and fair, and as the auditors had not found any materlal
misrepresentations and the Registrar of Companies has closed their case.

Yours truly,

i)

Philip A. Hodges, Chairman

o2 (1 | 2020
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Carlsberg India Private Limited
CIN:U15111DL2006PTC148579

Consoidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2021
(Rupees in million, except for share data and if otherwise stated)

Particulars Notes As at As at
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3A 5,416 5,606
Right-of-use assets 3B 263 299
Capital work-in-progress 3A 79 276
Other intangible assets 4 5 5
Equity accounted investee 56 125 121
Financial assets
i. Investments 5 o} [}
ii. Loans 6 77 85
iii. Others 7 2 1
Deferred tax assets 42 2,116 2,372
Income tax assets 8 60 327
Other non-current assets 9 37 49
Total non-current assets 8,180 9,141
Current assets
Inventories 10 3,572 4,222
Financial assets
i. Trade receivables 11 3,800 3,100
ii. Cash and cash equivalents 12 2,724 211
iii. Bank balances other than (ii) above 13 70 70
iv. Loans 14 7 4
v. Others 15 83 94
Other current assets 16 1,229 1,598
Total current assets 11,485 9,299
Total assets 19,665 18,440
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Equity Share capital 17 576 576
Other equity 18 12,323 11,373
Total Equity 12,899 11,949
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Financial Liabilities
i. Lease liabilities 3B 36 65
ii. Others 20 31 47
Provisions 21 286 242
Deferred income 22 3 4
Total Non-current liabilities 356 358
Current liabilities
Financial Liabilities
i. Borrowings 19 245 845
ii. Lease liabilities 3B 52 57
iii, Trade payables
(a) total outstanding dues of micro and small 23 146 132
enterprises
(b) total outstanding dues other than (iii)(a) above 23 3,676 3,433
iv. Others 24 152 181
Contract liabilities 282 45
Provisions 26 80 84
Other current liabilities 25 1,776 1,355
Deferred income 22 1 1
Total Current liabilities 6,410 6,133
Total Liabilities 6,766 6,491
Total Equity and liabilities 19,665 18,440

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
This is the balance sheet referred to in our report of even date.

For T R Chadha & Co LLP AW
Chartered Accountants < PO @ X
Firm Registration Np.: 0067110/ Ns¢ fﬁ—\ N

&

Hitesh Garg
Partner
Membership No. : 502955
Place : Cm.-( {Qwm

Datezgl"llz.ou

Ni ES Patel

Managing Director
DIN: 01805278
Place :&L’i {Qw

Date : ‘lq\ 2.8

G
l’md}"lrm:m eshwari
Chief Financial Officer

PAN: AAYPM5481D
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For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Carlgberg India Private Limited
™

Muthuraman Ramanathan

Executive Director
DIN: 07411088
Place : T

Comgpany Secretary
Membership No. : ACS26499

Place : CS\UJ%"( [X
Date : é‘ql 2.07-(v~



Carlsberg India Private Limited
CIN:U15111DL2006PTC148579

Consolidated Statement of profit and loss for the year ended March 31, 2021

(Rupees in million, except for share data and if otherwise stated)

Particulars Notes For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
Revenue
Revenue from operations 28 41.470 55,603
Other income 29 121 81
Other (losses) - net 29 (1) ®
Total income (I) 41,580 55,766
Expenses
Cost of materials consumed 30 5.980 9,266
Purchases of stock in trade 2 1
Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and stock in 31 168 (479)
trade
Excise duty expense 27,570 35,738
Employee benefits expense 32 1,906 2,176
Finance costs 33 26 40
Depreciation and amortization expense 27 720 915
Net impairment loss on financial and contract assets 5.52(b)(i) - 6
Other expenses 34 4,010 6,219
Total expenses (II) 40,380 53.882
Profit before exceptional items and tax (I - II = III) 1,200 1,884
Share of profit/(loss) of equity accounted investee (net of income tax) (IV) 4 3
Protit/(loss) betore exceptional items and tax (111 + 1V = V) 1,204 1,887
Exceptional items (VI)
Impact on account of Covid 19 (Refer Note 59)
- On net relisable value of Inventories of finished goods (Also refer note 10 & note 31) - 197
- On Provision for sales return (Also refer note 28 and 34) = 152
- On Provision for discount on sate of finished goods (Refer Note 28) - 42
Profit before tax (V - VI = VII) 1,204 1,496
Tax (expense)/credit: (VIII)
Current tax (refer note 42) - -
Deferred tax (refer note 42) (253) (1,652)
Profit /(Loss) after tax (VII + VIII = IX) 951 (156)
Other comprehensive Income/(loss) (X)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
- Remeasurement of post employment benefit obligations 11 (13)
- Income tax relating to itemns that will not be reclassified to profit and loss 3) 3
Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (X) 8 (10)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (IX + X = XI) 959 (166)
Earnings/(Loss) per equity share (refer note 35)
1. Basic 16.42 (2.82)
2. Diluted 11.58 (1.90)

The above statement of profit and loss should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

This is the statement of profit and loss referred to in our report of even date.

Note: Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms adopted by the company.

P

For T R Chadha & Co LLP y L »
Chartered Accountants p Pk
Firm Registration No.: 1N / N5oooz ¥
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Hitesh Garg
Partner

Membership No. : 502055
Place : Cnufu;-{nm

Date ; qul ?-DZJ
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C iberg India Private Limited
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‘Nilesh Patel
M”mﬁging Director
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Date : 6,&{ 260\
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Chief Financial Officer
PAN: AAYPM5481D
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Muthuraman Ra.m:m.:lkh:m
Executive Director
DIN: 07411088

Place : O‘N {a
Date: ‘I q.T‘a
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Ashiwin Kifmaor Aggarwal
Colnpany Secretary
Membership No. : ACS26499
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Carlsberg India Private Limited
meUhulDlaooﬂ’l‘Cuasn

lidated Cash Flow for the year ended Mareh 31, 2021
‘R.upen i millian, exeent for share data and i otherwise stated)

A Cash flow from operating activities
Profit before income tax

Adjustments for

Depreciation and amortisation expense and impairment loss
Guin on dispasal of property, plant and equipment

Interest income

Liabilities no longer required written back

Finance costs

{Profit)/loss of Joint Venture

Net exchange differences

Operuting profit before working capital changes

Adjustments for:

(Incrense)/Decrease in inventories

(Increasc)/Pecrease in trade receivables

Increase/(Decrease) in trade payubles

Decrease/(Increase) in financial assets (current and non-current)
(Increase)/Decrease in other current and non current assets
[nercase/(Decrease) in provisions

Increase/(Decrease) in financial and other liabilities (current und non-current)
Cash (used) in operations

Direct taxcs paid (net of refund)

Net cash inflow from operuting activities (A)

B  Cash flow from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

Poyments for property, plant and equipment

Interest reoeived

P for purchase of i

Movement in bank depasits (having onglnnl mamnt) of more than 3 months)
Net cash (outflow) from i

C  Cash flows from financing activities

Share based payment reserve (net)
Proceeds from short term borrowings
Repayment of short term borrowings
Principal clements of lease payments
Finance charges paid
Net eash inflow/(outfl

) from financi jvities (C)
Net inerease in eash and eash equivalents (A+B+C)

Cash and eash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (refer note 12)

Cash and cash equivalents as per above comprise of the following
Cash in hand
Halances with scheduled hank:

- On current acoounts
- on demand deposits (original maturity upto 3 Months)

Non-eash investing activities

- Acquisition of right-to-usc assets

Notes:

For the year ended
March 31, 2021

For the year ended
March 31, 2020

1,204 1,496
720 915
N 1
(56) (22}
(3) b
26 40
@ &)}
7 =
1,884 2,439
650 (1510)
(700) m
263 458
15 7
369 (78)
50 34
683 (244)
1,330 (1,322)
267 (200)
3,481 827
. 1
(329) (579)
56 22
- [t))
() {o]
{274} {5570
(9) (31)
= 600
(600) S
(59) (49)
(26) (40).
(094} 48a
2,513 750
Feel (339)
= L
-] a
197 211
2,527 -
2,724 211
74 72

1 The above Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under the indirect mcthod as set out in IND AS - 7 on Statement of Cash Flows notified under section

133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) [C: (Indian

2 Figures in brackets indicate cash outflow.
Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms adopted by the company.

Falin

The above statement of cash flows should

with the
R

— f
This is the statement of cash flows re 1 our repord nf prep date.

For T R Chadha & Co LLP
Chartered Acoorintan]
Firm Rogistration N

Rules, 2015, as amended].
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CARLSBERG INDIA PRIVATE LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
March 2021

(Rupees in million, except for share data and if otherwise stated)

1. Corporate information

Carlsberg India Private Limited (the “Company”) is a Private Limited Company domiciled in India
having CIN U15111DL2006PTC148579. The Company has been incorporated under the provision of
Companies Act, 2013 (“Act’). The address of the Company’s registered office address is 4th Floor,
Rectangle No. 1, Commercial Complex, D-4, Saket, New Delhi- 110017.

The Company is a subsidiary of South Asian Breweries Pte. Ltd., Singapore.

The Company is primarily engaged in the business of manufacturing and sale of alcoholic beer. The
Company was incorporated in 2006 and has established breweries, spread across various parts of the
country.

The Consolidated Financial Results for the year ended March 31, 2020 include the financial results of
the Company and its Joint Venture, namely NCC Crowns Private Limited (refer note 56). The
consolidation is done as per Equity Method of accounting as prescribed under Ind AS-28, Investments
in Associates and Joint Ventures

2. Significant accounting policies

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
standalone financial statements. The accounting policies followed in preparation of these financial
statements are consistent to all the years presented except where a newly issued accounting standard is
initially adopted or a revision to an existing accounting standard requires a change in the accounting
policy hitherto in use.

2.1. Basis of preparation
a) Compliance with IND AS

These financial statements comply in all material aspects with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS)
as per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 notified under Section 133 of
Companies Act, 2013, (the ‘Act’) and other relevant provisions of the Act.

b) Investment in Joint Venture

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method (see below), after initially being
recognised at cost in the consolidated balance sheet.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Company’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in
profit and loss, and the Company’s share of other comprehensive income of the investee in other
comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from joint ventures are recognised as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

When the Company’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in
the entity, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, Company does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Company and its joint venture are eliminated to the
extent of the group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity
accounted investees have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Company.




CARLSBERG INDIA PRIVATE LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
March 2021

(Rupees in million, except for share data and if otherwise stated)

The carrying amount of equity accounted investments are tested for impairment in accordance with the
policy described in note 2.2 (j) below.

¢) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). These financial
statements are presented in Indian Rupees (INR), which is also the Company’s functional currency and
presentation currency.
All amounts have been rounded-off to the nearest millions, unless otherwise indicated.

d) Historical Cost Convention

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following items:

Items Measurement basis
Certain financial assets and liabilities Fair value
Share Based Payments Fair Value

€¢) Measurement of fair values

Fair value is the price that would be received from sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either —

. In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

. In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to/ by the Company.

The Company has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values.
This includes a valuation team that has overall responsibility for overseeing all significant fair value
measurements, including Level 3 fair values, and reports directly to the Corporate Financial Reporting
Lead.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole-

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable market data as
far as possible. If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different
levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the
same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire
measurement.

Fair values of financial instruments at each reporting date are disclosed in Note 52.




CARLSBERG INDIA PRIVATE LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
March 2021

(Rupees in million, except for share data and if otherwise stated)
2.2 Significant accounting policies
a) Current and non-current classification
All assets and liabilities are classified into current and non-current.

Assets
An asset is classified as current when it satisfies any of the following criteria:

a) it is expected to be realised in, or is intended for sale or consumption in, the Company’s normal
operating cycle;

b) itis held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

c) itis expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting date; or

d) itis cash or cash equivalent unless it is restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability
for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

Current assets include the current portion of non-current financial assets. All other assets are classified
as non-current.

Liabilities
A liability is classified as current when it satisfies any of the following criteria:

a) itis expected to be settled in the Company’s normal operating cycle;

b) itis held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

¢) itis due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting date; or

d) the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the reporting date. Terms of a liability that could, at the option of the counterparty,
result in its settlement by the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

Current liabilities include current portion of non-current financial liabilities. All other liabilities are
classified as non-current.

Operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash
or cash equivalents. Based on the nature of services and the time between the acquisition of assets for
processing and their realisation in cash and cash equivalents, the Company has ascertained its operating

cycle being a period within 12 months for the purposes of classification of assets and liabilities as current
and non-current.

b) Foreign currency transactions and translations

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the Company at the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange
rates are recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

All monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency are restated at the end of accounting period.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are recorded
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.

Exchange difference on restatement/ settiement of all monetary items are recognized in the Statement
of Profit and Loss.
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Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

¢) Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

i. Financial assets
Classification

The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
- those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income,
or through profit or loss), and
- those measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the business model
in which the investment is held.

For investments in equity instruments, this will depend on whether the company has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI).

Initial recognition and measurement

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognized when they are originated. All
other financial assets are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

All financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not recorded
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition or issue
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss
are expensed in profit or loss.

Classification and subsequent measurement
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at:

«  Financial assets at amortised cost
« Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)
«  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

A financial asset being ‘debt instrument’ is measured at the amortised cost if both of the following
conditions are met:

» The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for
collecting contractual cash flows, and

« The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

A financial asset being ‘debt instrument’ is measured as at the FVTOCI if both of the following criteria
are met:
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»  The asset is held within the business model, whose objective is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets, and

e The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are SPPI on the principal amount outstanding.

The company makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at
an instrument level because this best reflects the way the business is managed, and information is
provided to the management.

A financial asset being equity instrument is measured at FVTPL.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI as described above are
measured at FVTPL.

On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets
the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Subsequent measurement
Financial assets at amortised cost:

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses, if any. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method and are recognised in the
Statement of profit and loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL:

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest
income, are recognised in the Statement of profit and loss.

Derecognition

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred
or in which the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recognised in the Statement of profit and loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognizes loss allowances using the Expected Credit Loss (ECL) model for the
financial assets which are not fair valued through profit or loss. Loss allowance for trade
receivables with no significant financing component is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL. For all other financial assets, expected credit losses are measured at an amount equal to
the 12-month ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk from initial
recognition, in which case those financial assets are measured at lifetime ECL. The changes
(incremental or reversal) in loss allowance computed using ECL model, are recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Individual receivables which are known to be uncollectible are written off by reducing the carrying
amount of trade receivable and the amount of the loss is recognised in the Statement of Profit and
Loss within other expenses. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to
other income.
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ii. Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

All financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

A financial liability is initially measured at fair value minus, in the case of financial liabilities not
recorded at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are attributable to the liability.

Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, or it is a derivative
or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair
value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in the Statemeént of
profit and loss.

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition
is also recognised in the Statement of profit and loss.

Derecognition

The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. An exchange with a lender of debt instruments with
substantially different terms is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability
and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, a substantial modification of the terms of
an existing financial liability (whether or not attributable to the financial difficulty of the debtor) is
accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new
financial liability. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in statement of profit and loss.

ili. Financial guarantee contracts

The Company on a case to case basis elects to account for financial guarantee contracts as a financial
instrument or as an insurance contract, as specified in Ind AS 109 on Financial Instruments and Ind
AS 104 on Insurance Contracts. The Company has regarded all its financial guarantee contracts as
insurance contracts. At the end of each reporting period the Company performs a liability adequacy
test, (i.e. it assesses the likelihood of a pay-out based on current undiscounted estimates of future
cash flows), and any deficiency is recognized in the Statement of profit and loss.

iv. Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the balance sheet when,
and only when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it
intends to settle them on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or
the counterparty.

d) Equity share capital
Equity shares are classified as equity and proceeds from issuance of equity shares are recognised as

equity share capital in equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new equity
shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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e)

)

i.

Dividends

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorized and no
longer at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed
at the end of the reporting period.

Property, plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement

Freehold land is carried at cost. All other items of property, plant and equipment are measured at
cost, which includes capitalized borrowing cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any).

Cost of an item of property plant and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import
duties and non - refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates, any directly
attributable cost of bringing the item to its working condition for its intended use and estimated
costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located.

Machinery spares parts are classified as property, plant and equipment when they are expected to be
utilized over more than one period or when they are expected to be used only in connection with an
item of property, plant and equipment. Other spares are carried as inventory.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they
are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gains or losses on disposal of an item of property plant and equipment are recognised in the
Statement of Profit and Loss.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is recognized as an increase in the carrying amount of the asset when it is
probable that future economic benefits deriving from the cost incurred will flow to the enterprise
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will
flow to the Company and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are
recognized in the Statement of profit and loss as incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated on cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their estimated
residual values over their estimated useful lives using the straight - line method and is generally
recognised in the statement of profit and loss. Assets acquired under finance leases are depreciated
over the shorter of lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Company
will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Freehold land is not depreciated.

Depreciation on additions (disposals) is provided on a pro-rata basis i.e. from (upto) the date on
which asset is ready for use (disposed off).

Depreciation method, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and
adjusted if appropriate. Based on technical evaluation and consequent advice, the management
believes that its estimates of useful lives as given below best represent the period over which
management expects to use these assets. The residual values are not more than 5% of the original
cost of the asset.
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The estimated useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment for the current and comparative

periods are as follows:

Asset Management estimate of useful life

Buildings (other than factory buildings) 60 years

Factory buildings 30 years

Roads 30 years

Plant and machinery (including electrical 2-15 years*®

machinery and laboratory equipment)

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Office equipment 5 years

Vehicles 5years

Computers 3 years

Leasehold improvements Over the period of lease or estimated useful
lives of assets, whichever is lower

Leasehold land (classified as finance lease) QOver the period of lease

* Useful lives of plant and machinery will be further reduced by the depreciation due to extra shift.
Depreciation on additions is provided on a pro-rata basis from the date of acquisition/ installation.

Depreciation on the disposal/ deduction from the property, plant and equipment is provided upto
the disposal/ adjustment, as the case may be.

g) Intangible assets
i. Recognition and initial measurement

Intangible assets acquired by the Company are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and
accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes any directly attributable incidental expenses necessary to make the assets ready for its
intended use.

ii. Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied
in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognized in Statement of profit and

loss as incurred.

iii. Amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised in the Statement of profit and loss over their estimated useful lives
using the straight-line method.

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets are as follows:
- Software 3 years
- Brand 10 years

The amortisation method and the useful lives of intangible assets are reviewed annually and
adjusted as necessary.

iv. Derecognition

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or when no future benefits are expected from its use
and disposal. Losses arising from retirement and gains or losses arising from disposal of an intangible
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asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and are recognised in the Statement of profit and loss.

h) Inventories

Raw materials, packing materials and stores and spares, work-in progress and finished goods are
stated at lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost of raw materials comprises cost of purchases.
Cost of work-in progress and finished goods comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the
basis of normal operating capacity. Cost of inventories also include all other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and condition. Costs are assigned to individual items of
inventory on the basis of first-in-first-out basis. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after
deducting rebates and discounts. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

i) Cash and cash equivalent

For the purpose of presentation in the Statement of Cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include
cash on hand, balances with banks, cheques on hand and deposits with banks and other short term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible
to known amount of cash which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value, and bank
overdraft. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the balance sheet.

j) Impairment of non—financial assets

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other
than deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication on impairment. If any such
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that do not generate independent cash inflows are
grouped together into cash-generating units (CGUs). Each CGU represents the smallest group of
assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
CGUs.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use or its fair value less costs
to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

In respect of other assets for which impairment loss has been recognised in prior periods, the
Company reviews at each reporting date whether there is any indication that the loss has decreased
or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. Such a reversal is made only to the extent that the asset’s carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

k) Employee benefits

i.  Short-term employee benefits

All employee benefits payable / available within twelve months of rendering the service such as salaries,
wages and bonus etc., are classified as short-term employee benefits and are recognised in the statement

of profit and loss in the period in which the employee renders the related service. The liabilities are
presented as current employee obligation in the balance sheet.
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ii. Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
amounts.

Provident fund and Employee state insurance are defined contribution plans. The Company expenses

its contribution towards provident fund which are deposited with the Regional Provident Fund
Commissioner.

ili. Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan.

iv.  Gratuity

The Company’s obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by
estimating the amount of future benefit that employee have earned in current and prior periods,
discounting that amount.

The calculation of defined benefit obligation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using
projected unit credit method.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation denominated in INR is determined by discounting
the estimated future cash outflows by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on
government bonds that have terms approximating to the terms of the related obligation. The benefits
which are denominated in currency other than INR, the cash flows are discounted using market yields
determined by reference to high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which
the benefits will be paid, and that have terms approximating to the terms of the related obligation.

Remeasurements of the defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI).

The Company determines the interest expense on the defined benefit liability for the period by applying
the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period
to the then- defined benefit liability, taking into account any changes in the defined benefit liability
during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Interest expense and other expenses
related to defined benefit plans are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that
relates to past service (‘past service cost’ or ‘past service gain’), the gain or loss on curtailment is
recognised immediately in the Statement of Profit and Loss. The Company recognises gains and losses
on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs.

v.  Other long-term employee benefit obligations

The Company provides benefits of compensated absences under which un-availed leaves are allowed to
be accumulated and availed in future. The liabilities for compensated absences is the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods.

These long term employee benefits are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end
of the period in which the employees have rendered the related service and are measured as the present
value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the

. end of the reporting period using the projected unit credit method, calculation for which is performed
annually by a qualified actuary.

Remeasurements as a result of experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are
recognised in the Statement of profit and loss.
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The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the balance sheet as the entity does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting period, regardless
of when the actual settlement is expected to occur,

vi. Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to certain grade of employees in the form of class B
share in Carlsberg A/S (the Ultimate Holding Company) via the Long-Term Incentive Plan (‘Plan’), an
equity settled scheme:

Liabilities for the Company’s share are recognised as employee benefit expense over the relevant service
period. The liabilities are remeasured to fair value at each reporting date and are presented as provisions
in the balance sheet.

Employee options

The fair value of options granted under the Plan is recognised as an employee benefits expense with a
corresponding increase in Share based payment reserve under equity. The total amount to be expensed
is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

- including any market performance conditions (e.g., the share price)

- excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (e.g.
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over a specified time
period), and

- including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (e.g. the requirement for employees to save or
holdings shares for a specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the Company receives details
from Carlsberg A/S, which provides its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to
original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

1) Bonus plans

The Company recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses. The Company recognizes a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

m) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows (representing the best estimate
of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date) at a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.
The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. Expected future operating losses are not
provided for.

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events not wholly within the
control of the entity. Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or
the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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n) Earnings per share

0)

p)

6] Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

- the profit attributable to owners of the Company

. by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the financial year.
(ii) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share
to take into account:

° the after income tax effect of interest and other financial costs associated with dilutive
potential equity shares, and
o the weighted average number of additional equity shares that would have been outstanding

assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential equity shares.

Revenue recognition
Sale of products:

Under Ind AS 115, the Revenue from sales of goods are recognised when the control of the promised
goods has transferred which generally occurs when goods are delivered to the customer, the customer
has full discretion over the channel and price to sell the products.

Revenue is recognized based on the price specified in the contract, net of the estimated volume
discounts and incentive schemes. Accumulated experience is used to estimate and provide for such
variable consideration, and the revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that
a significant reversal in the revenue will not occur.

Financing Components

The Company does not have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised
goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence,
the Company does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money.

A Contract liability is recognised where payment received from the customers exceeds the goods sold
by the Company. The same has been disclosed as ‘Contract liability’.

Income from Royalty arrangements:

Royalty income is recognized, on an accrual basis, at agreed rate on sale of branded products by the
licensee, in accordance with the terms of the agreement.

Revenue from contract manufacturing arrangements:

The Company has entered into arrangements with contract manufacturing arrangements, where-in
contract manufacturer, manufactures and sell on behalf of the Company. The Company evaluates its
revenue arrangements with Contract Manufacturers to identify agency relationship. Accordingly, the
transactions of the contract manufacturers under such arrangements have been recorded as gross
revenue, purchases, excise duty and expenses as they were transactions of the Company.

Dividends

Dividends are recognised in the statement of profit or loss only when the right to receive payment is
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Company, and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
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q) Trade and other payables :
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end
of financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

r) Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the statement of profit and loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities
are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Preference shares, which are mandatorily redeemable on a specific date, are classified as liabilities.
The dividends on these preference shares are recognised in profit or loss as finance costs.

s) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs (including exchange differences relating to foreign
currency borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs) incurred
in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition or
construction of an asset which necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

t) Interestincome or expense
Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method.

The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

- the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or

- the amortised cost of the financial liability.

u) Government grants
Government grants are recognised initially as deferred income at fair value when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and the Company will comply with the conditions associated with
the grant; they are then recognised in the Statement of profit and loss as other Income on a systematic
basis.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and recognised in the Statement of profit or loss
over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate and
presented within other income.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are included in non-
current liabilities as deferred income and are credited to the Statement of profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the expected lives of the related assets and presented within other income.
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v) Leases
As a lessee:

The entity leases various properties and warehouses. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.

During the year, additions amounted to MINR 74 and depreciation to MINR 59.

The lease expenses recognised in the income statement related to short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets recognised in the income statement in the year was and amounted to MINR 5.

For disclosures of the lease liabilities, please refer to note no 3B.
Accounting estimates and judgements
Lease and service contracts

At inception of a contract, management assesses whether the contract is or contains a lease.
Management considers the substance of any service being rendered to classify the arrangement as either
a lease or a service contract. Particular importance is attached to whether fulfilment of the contract
depends on the use of specific assets. The assessment involves judgement of whether the entity obtains
substantially all the economic benefits from the use of the specified asset and whether it has the right
to direct how and for what purpose the asset is used. If these criteria are satisfied at the commencement
date, a right-of-use asset and a lease liability is recognised in the statement of financial position.

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option. Extension
or termination options are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be
extended, or not terminated. The term is reassessed if a significant change in circumstances occurs. The
assessment of purchase options follows the same principles as those applied for extension options.

At the commencement date, the entity recognises a lease liability and a corresponding right-of-use asset
with the same amount, except for short-term leases of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.

A right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which equals the initial lease liability and initial direct
costs, less any lease incentives received. The entity has applied the practical expedient option allowed
under Ind AS by using a portfolio approach for the recognition of lease contracts related to assets of the
same nature and with similar lease terms.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less depreciation and impairment losses,
adjusted for remeasurement of the lease liability. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter
of the lease term or the useful life of the asset. The impairment testing of lease assets follows the same
principles as those applied for property, plant and equipment.

Right-of-use assets are recognised as property, plant and equipment.

The entity has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases with a term of 12
months or less, and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments related to such leases are recognised in
the income statement as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Lease liability

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments at the reporting
date, discounted using the entity’s average incremental borrowing rate. A remeasurement of the lease
liability results in a corresponding adjustment of the related right-of-use assets.

Extension or termination options are included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be
extended, or not terminated. Consequently, all cash outflows that are reasonably certain to impact the
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w)

X)

future cash balances are recognised as lease liabilities at the initial recognition of lease contracts. On an

ongoing basis, the entity reassesses the circumstances leading to it for not recognising extension or
termination options.

As a Lessor

Lease income from operating leases where the group is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-
line basis over the lease term unless the receipts are structured to increase in line with expected general
inflation to compensate for the expected inflationary cost increases. The respective leased assets are
included in the balance sheet based on their nature

Income tax

The Income tax expenses or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by change in deferred
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It

establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the standalone financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss). Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only
if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the statement of profit and loss, except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision maker.

In accordance with Ind AS 108 — Operating Segment, the operating segments used to present segment
information are identified on the basis of internal reports used by the Company’s Management to
allocate resources to the segments and assess their performance.

The Board of Directors is collectively the Company’s “chief operating decision maker” or “CODM”
within the meaning of Ind AS 108.
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y) Critical estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition,
will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the
Company’s accounting policy.
This note provides an overview of the areas that involved a higher degree of judgment or complexity,
and of items which are more likely to be materially adjusted due to estimates and assumptions turning
out to be different than those originally assessed. Detailed information about each of these estimates
and judgments is included in relevant notes together with information about the basis of calculation
for each affected line item in the financial statements.
Critical estimates and judgements
The areas involving critical estimates or judgements are:
- Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax credits - Note 42

- Provisions and contingencies - Note 21 and 39

- Matters referred to in Note 55
- Estimation of defined benefit obligations - Note 48
- Estimation of current tax expense and payable — Note 42
- Impairment of trade and other receivables — Note 9, 11, 14, 15, 16 and 46
- Impairment of property, plant and equipment — Note 3 and 46
- Estimation/uncertainties relating to Global Health Pandemic (Covid-19)- Note 59
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the Company and
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Recent accounting pronouncements
On March 24, 2021, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MICA”) through a notification, amended
Schedule III of the Companies Act, 2013. The amendments revise Division I, II and III of Schedule ITT

and are applicable from April 1, 2021. The company is in the process of evaluating the impact of these
amendments on the presentation and disclosure of financial statement.
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CIN:U15111DL2006PTC148579

Consolidated Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021
(Rupees in million, except for share data and if otherwise stated)

3B. Leases
Right-of-use assets Land (refer Building Total
noteiandii)

Cost
Amount recognised as at April 1, 2019 - 99 99
Reclassified on account of adoption of Ind AS 116 193 - 193
Add: Additions made during the year - 72 72
Cost at March 31, 2020 193 171 364
Add: Additions made during the year ~ 74 74
Less: Disposals during the year - 66 66
Cost at March 31, 2021 193 179 372

Impairment/amortisation
Impairment/amortisation as at April 1, 2019 - S S

Reclassified on account of adoption of Ind AS 116 14 - 14
Add: Depreciation charge for the year 2 49 51
Depreciation and impairment losses at March 31, 2020 16 49 65
Add: Depreciation charge for the year 2 59 61
Less: On disposals during the year - 17 17
Depreciation and impairment losses at March 31, 2021 18 91 109
Carrying amount at March 31,2021 175 88 263
Carrying amount at March 31,2020 177 122 299
Lease liabilities AsatMarch Asat March
31, 2021 31, 2020
Non-current 36 65
Current 52 57
Total 88 122

i. Leaseholdland:
a. The title deeds of leasehold land in Alwar amounting to net carrying amount of MINR 37 (MINR 38 as on March 31,
2020) is in the name of “South Asia Breweries Private Limited” (erstwhile name of the Company). This leasehold land is
pending change of the name of the Company in the revenue records.

b. In relation to certain parcel of Leasehold land situated in Mysore,Karnataka having net carrying amount of MINR
15.01 as on March 31, 2021 (MINR 15.17 as on March 31, 2020), a Petition has been filed by certain individuals against
some other individuals in Karnataka High Court .The Company has received the possession letter from Karnataka
Industrial Area Development Board "KIADB", however, it is yet to receive the physical possession of the land on account
of the stated dispute. During the previous year, the Company has filed an impleading application to be included as a
party to the ongoing litigation , which has been allowed.

ii. Leased assets :

Leasehold land represents assets where Company is a lessee for a lease term which generally expire within ninety
nine/ninety five years
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4 Other intangible assets

Reconciliation of carrying amount

A. Gross carrying amount (deemed cost) Brand Software Total
As at March 31, 2019 20 79 99
Add: Additions during the year - 4 4
As at March 31, 2020 20 83 103
Add: Additions during the year - 3 3
Less: Disposals / adjustments during the year 20 0 20
As at March 31, 2021 - 85 85

Accumulated amortisation

As at March 31, 2019 20 75 95
Add: Amortisation charge for the year - 3 3
As at March 31, 2020 20 78 98
Add: Amortisation charge for the year - 3 3
Less: On disposals / adjustments during the year 20 0 20
As at March 31, 2021 - 80 80
Net carrying amount

As at March 31, 2021 - 5 5

As at March 31, 2020 4 5 5
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Asat Asat
March 31, 2021 March 31, z020
5 Financial assets (non-current)- Investments

Investment in government securities at amortised coat
National Saving Certificate® L]
Total Investment in government securities at amortiscd cost o

o

[

Investment in preference shares

Preference shares (currying amount at cost)

Kaama Breweries Private Limited #

{ March 31, 2021 - 266 (March 31, 2020 - 92) compulsorily convertible 4 £
preference shares having face value of Rs. 10 cach] - Fully paid-up

Less: Impairment in value of investments ## 1) 4}
Total Investment in preference shares = E

Aggregate of o o

Agpregate of i i in value of i 4 4
# ¢ This impairment loss March 31, 2021 - Nil (March 31, 2020 - MINR 4) has been included under "Net impairment loss on finandial and
contract assets” disclosed as a scparate line item in the Statement of Profit and Loss account.

* Pledged as sccurity with sales tax authoritics

6 Financial assets (non-current)- Loans
Security deposits 92 100
Less : Loss allownnce (15) (15)
77 85

Break-up of seeurity details

{n) Loans considercd good - Secured -

{b) Loans considered good - Unsecured 77 85

(c) Loans which have significant increase in Credit Risk E g

{d) Loans- credit impaired 15 i

Toll 9z 100

Loss allowance (15) (15)

Total loans 77 85
T si

7 ial assets (non: rent) - Others

Deposits with banks with maturity period of more than twelve months®
[nterest accrued but not duc on bank deposits

oM
o

* These comprises of fixed deposit under lien with value added tax/sales tax authoritics of the respective state governments.

8 Income tax assets
Advance income tax [net of provision for income tax - MINR Nil (March 31, 60 327
2020 - MINR Nil)]
S5 2
Muovement of income tax asscis
Opcuing balance 427 57
Less: Current tax expense for the year = =
Add: Taxes paid ( net of refund ) {a67) 200
Closing balance o 327
9 Giher non-current assels
Unsecured, considered good
Capital advances 5 17
ds other than capital adv
Prepayments 4 4
with government authorities - state excise and sales tax 28 28
authorities #
a7 49
Unsecured, considered doubtful
Capital advances a 3
Advances other than capital advances
Balances with government authorities - state excise and sales tax 63 &3
authorities
Less : allowance for doubtful balances (65) 67)
37 49

# Includes amount paid under protest against various tax demands under appeal.
Note: Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms adopted by the company.
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10

1

Asat Asat
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Inventories
(at lower of cost and net realisable value)

Raw materials “1 s # 397 387
Packing material *2# 31 605
Work- in-progress 150 146
Finished goods *3: Beer £ 2 2,411 2,781
Stock-in-trade
-Soda and Club glasses 1 1
Stores and spares *4 302 302
A7z 4222

*1 Net of provision for obsolete raw material inventory amounting to MINR 5 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 5). The amount recognised as an
cxpense amouated to MINR 5 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 5) in the statement of profit and loss. The amount of  inventory written off ngainst
provision amounted to MINR 5.

*2 Net of provision for ohsolete packing material inventory amounting to MINR 3 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 12), The amount recognised as
an expense amounting to MINR 2 ( March 31, 2020 - MINR 12) in the statement of profit and lass, The amount of inventory written off
against provision amounted to MINR 11.

*3 Net of provision for obsolete finished goods inventory amounting to MINR 143 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 76). The amount recognised as
an cxpense amounted to MINR 73 ( March 31, 2020 - MINR 7) in the stntement of profit and loss. The amount of inveatory written off
agpinst provision amounted to MINR 6

*4 Net of provision for obsolete spares inventory nmounting to MINR 28 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 14). The amount recognised as an
cxpeanse amounted to MINR 14 ( March 31, 2020 - MINR Nil) in the statement of profit and loss.

# Includes goods in transit amounting to MINR 24 (March 3t, 2020 - MINR 11)
## Tucludes goods in transit amounting to MINR 268 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 540)
### Includes goods in transit amounting to MINR 5 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 28)

During the year an amount of MINR 2 { March 31, 2020 - MINR 199) was recogniscd os an expense for finished goods inventories carried
at net realisable valuc.

| ansets ( ) - Trade

Trade receivables

Trade receivables 4,262 3,458
Receivables from related parties (refer note 50) 13 2
Lesiss Lymss ulloms s (475) (a78)
Total receivables 3,800 3,100

Break-up of trade receivable

(a) Trade receivables considered good - Secured - b
(b) Trade good - L d 3,800 3,100
(c) Trade recehvables which have significant increase in Credit Risk * =
(d) Trade receivables - credit impaired. 475 278
jTomal 4275 3478
Loss Allowance (478)

Tolal trade receivables 3,800 3,100

The Company’s exposure to credit and currency risks arc disclased in Note 52.
Financial assels (eurrent) - Cash and cash equivalents

Balances with hanks
- on current scrpunt * 197 0
- on demand deposits (original maturity upto 3 Months) 2,527 -
Cash on hand o o
Cash and cash equivalents in balance sheet 2,724 au

* There are no restriction cacept for the bikanues amounting to MINR 0.1 (March 31,2020 - MINR 0.1) where there are restrictions on
withitrawnl of the amonnt with regand to cash and cash equivalonts ws at end of this reporting period apd prior periods.

Note: Zero amount below ding-off norms adopted by the company.
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As at As at
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

13 Financial assets (current) - Other bank balances

Bank deposits with original maturity of more than three month but upto 66 68

bwelve months®

Interest accrued but not due on bank deposits 4 =
70 Z0

* These comprises of fixed depasit under lien with value added tax/sales tax authoritics of the resp: state

The Company's exposure to credit and currency risks are disclased in Note 52.

14 Finaneial ussets (current) - Loans

Security depasits 13 10
Less : Lass ollowance (6) 6)
Total loans 7 4

Break-up of security detnils

(a) Loans considcred good - Secured . .
(b) Loans considered good - Unsecured » 4

(c) Loans which have significant increase in Credit Risk -

(d) Loans- credit impaired 6 6
Totml 13 1
Loss allowance. ©) {6)
Total loans 7 4

The Company's exposure to credit and currency risks are disclosed in Note 52.

15 Financial assets (eurrent) - Others

Insurance claims receivable o 1
Other receivables 34 44
Government grant receivable 107 107
Less : Loss allowance ® {58} i58)

By o4

Break-up of financial assets {current) - Others

{n) Loans considered good - Secured = ]
{b) Loans considered good - Unsecured 83 94

(¢) Loans which have significant increase in Credit Risk - -

(d) Loans- credit impaired 58 58
Total 142 153
Laoss allowance (58) (58)
Total loans 83 94

The Company has been awarded certain government grants for making capital investments in the state of Bihar and Maharushtra. The

pany i itled to reil of value edded tax on sales and other costs under investment promotion subsidy.
The Company’s exposure to credit and currency risks are disclosed in Note 52.
* Loss alk for grant recer for making capital investment in bihar.
16 Other current assets
Unsecured considered good, unless otherwise stated
Prepayments 211 239
k with ge horities - excise, goods and services tax and 954 1,085

sales tax authorities

Advances to auppliers 62 157

Indirect taxes and siate excise duties paid in advance -] T
1,229 1,598

Unsecured, considered doubtful

Advances to suppliers 85 87

Balances with government authorities - excise, goods & services tax and 6 6

sales tax authorities

Less : allowance for doubtful halances (o) (93)
1229 1598

Note: Zero amount below dil ff norms adopted by the company.
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Particulars Asay Asiat
March 21, 2021 March 31, 2020
17. Share capital
Authorised :
154,580,000 (March 31, 2020 : 15.4,580,000) equity shares of Rs.10 each fully paid up. 1,546 1,546
25,000,000 (March 31, 2020 : 25,000,000) 2% cumulative redeemable preference shares of Rs. 10
each. 250 250
1,796 1,796
Issued, subscribed and paid up:
57,612,591 (March 31, 2020 : 57,612,591) equity shares of Rs.10 each fully paid up. 576 576
570 576

*24,511,333 number of 2% cumulative redeemable preference shares of Rs 10 each (total face value of Rs 245,113.330) are classified as financial liability (Refer Note 19).

R iliation of ber of shares outstanding at the beginning and end of the reporting period :

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 57,612,501 57,612,591
Equity shares allotted during the year = =
Outstanding at the end of the year 57,612,591 57,612,591

Preference Share:
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 24,511,333 24,511,333
Preference shares allotted during the year - -
Outstanding at the end of the year 24,511,333 24,511,333

(a) Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to equity shares
The Company has single class of equity shares, having a par value of Rs. 10 per share. Each shareholder is eligible to one vote per share held. The equity shares are entitled to receive dividend as declared from
time to time subject to payment of dividend to preference shareholders. In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of equity shares shall be entitled to receive all of the remaining assets of the

Company, after distribution of all preferential amounts, if any. Such amount will be in the proportion to the number of equity shares held by shareholders.

(b) Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to preference shares

The Company has issued optionally convertible cumulative redeemable Preference Shares of Rs.10 each at par in the financial year 2006-07. These preference shares were issued to South Asian Breweries Pte.
Ltd., Singapore (Holding Company). These preference shares are fully convertible into equity shares of equal face value or, at such terms and conditions as may be decided by the Board from time to time. The
preference shares are redeemable at the option of the Shareholder. The preference Shares shall be redeemed at par by the Company at any time from the date of issue i.e. March 15, 2007, however not later
than 20 years from March 15, 2007. The holders of these shares are entitled to a minimum cumulative dividend of 2% and maximum equal to State Bank of India's PLR plus 300 basis points. Considering the
fact that the preference shares may be converted into equity shares of equal face value or, at such terms and conditions as may be decided by the Board, and that the holder of the shares has an option to
redeem preference shares at any point in time, the preference shares have been classified as current financial liability. In the event of liquidation, preference shareholder has a preferential right over equity
shareholders to be repaid to the extent of paid-up capital and dividend in arrears on such shares.

(c) Shares in respect of each class in the company held by its holding company or its ultimate holding company including shares held by subsidiaries or i of the holding
company or the ultimate holding company in aggregate
As at As at
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
No. of Shares Amount in MINR No. of Shares Amount in MINR
Equity share
South Asian Breweries Pte. Limited, Singapore (Holding Company) including its nominee 57,612,591 576 57,612,591 576
2% cumulative redeemable preference shares
South Asian Breweries Pte. Limited, Singapore (Holding Company) 24,511,333 245 24,511,333 245
(d) Shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the company is set out below:
As at As at
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
No. of Shares % of holding No. of Shares % of holding
Equity share
South Asian Breweries Pte. Limited, Singapore (Holding Company) including its nominee 57,612,591 100 57,612,591 100
2% cumulative redeemable preference shares
South Asian Breweries Pte. Limited, Singapore (Holding Company) 24,511,333 100 24,511,333 100

(e) Carlsberg A/S Denmark is the ultimate holding company and does not hold any shares in the Company directly.
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[ lidated Notes to fi ial for the year ended March 31, 2021
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As at

March 31, 2u2i

18 Other equity
Reserve and Surplus

Securities premium 19,481 19,481
Capital esence 135 135
Relained camings (7,293) (8,252)
Share based payment esene 2 a

12,32 11,373

a) Securities premium
Balance at the beginning and end of the ycar 19.481 19,481

b) Capital reserve
Balance at the beginning and end of the year 135 135

c) Retained earnings

Balance at the beginring of the yeur (8,252) (8,086)
Add: Proft/(loss) for the y car 951 (156)
Other C hensive income/(loss)- of 8 (10)
post employment defined bencfit obligation (net of tax)
Balance at the end of the year {7,293 (8,252)

d) Share bascd payment reserve (refer note 49 and 32)

Balance ot the beginning of the year 9 40
Add: Addition during the year 31 9
Add: Adjustment made during the year - 4
Less : Utilised during the year (40) (44}
Balance at the end of the year = 9

Nature and purpose of reserves

i. Capital Reserves:
Capital rescrves were recognised in earlier years on account of business combination in past, for which the Company had elected not to
apply IND AS103 spectively by availing ion in respect of Business Combination under IND AS 101 as at April 1, 2015.

ii. Share based payment reserve:
The share based payment reserve is recogaised on account of long term incentive program scitled in performance sharc units given to
certain employees of the Company. Each performance share unit gives right to the employre to reeeive one Carlsberg B share listed on
NASDAQ OMX, Copenhagen of Carlsberg A/S, the ultimate holding Company, The reserve is utilised to make payments to Carlsberg A/S
for the amount debited by Carlsberg A/S, on vesting of these share in the hands of cmployee,

19 Fi I liabilitics- Bor

Current borrowings

Unsecured
From banks:
Short term loan® # . 6oa
Others:
2% optionall i i 245 245
shores (Refer note 17 and note (a) below)
255 2]

* Carlsberg Breweries A/S, Denmark a fellow subsidiary of the Company bas given letter of comfort to BNP Paribas India. However, the letter
of comfort docs not amount to an indemnity or a guarnatee, nor shall it makes Carlsberg Brewery A/S linble for complianee by the Company
with the funding arrangement.

# These borrowings had a maturity period ranging from 7 days to 30 days bearing interest rate mnging from 7.50% to 8.15% and were repaid

in April 2020,
(a) The Company has issued optionally convertible Lati d blc P Shares of Rs.10 cach ot par in the financia! year 2006-07.
These preference shares were issued to South Asian Breweries Pte. Lid., Si (HolMing C ). These p shares are fully

convertible into cquity shares of equal face value or, at such terms and conditions as may be decided by the Board from time to time. The
preference shares are redeemable at the option of the Sharcholder, The preference Shares shall be redeemed at par by the Company at any
time from the date of issue i.c. March 15, 2007, however not later than 20 years from March 15, 2007. The holders of these shares are entitled
to 2 minimum cumulntive dividend of 2% and maximurm equal to Siate Bank of India's PLR plus 300 basis points. Considering the fact that
the preference shares may be converted into equity shares of equal face value or, at such terms und conditions as may be decided by the
Board, and that the holder of the shares has an option to redeem preference shares at any point in time, the preference shares have been
classificd as currcat financial liability.

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities pursuant to Ind AS 7 - Cash flows

The changes in the Company’s liabilities arising from fi i jvities can be classified as
Particulars Current borrowings

Net debt as at March 31, 2019* -

Proceeds of current borrowings (nel) 600
Intcrest expense o
Interest paid o)
Net debt as at March 31, z020* 600
Repayment of current borrowings (600)
Interest cxpense 17
Interest paid 17)

Net debt as at March 32, 2021*

*Net debt docs not include overdraft as the same bas been considered as a part of cash and cash equivaleats (refer note 12).

20 Financial liabilities (non-current) - Others
Deposits from customers a1 47
3t 47
Note: Zcro umount below ing-off norms ndopted by the company.
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Asut As
March 31, 2021 March i1, 2020

21 Provisions - Non-current

Provision for cmployce beaefit obligations

Gratuity (refer note 48) 145 132

Provision for litigations * 11 110

286 242

® Futurc cash outflow in respect of nbove litigations are determinable only on receipt of judgement/decisions pending with various
forums/authorities.

Provision for litigations pertains to excise and sales Inx litigati ‘These provision bave not been di d as it is not icable for the

Company to estimate the timing of the provisions utilisations and cash flow, if any, pending resolutions.

in ision for litigati N
Movements in provision for litigation during the financial year, are set out below:

Asat Asat
Opening balance 110 110
Charged/{credited) to profit or loss - =
Adjustment made during the year 5N
Closing balance [ [Ery
Infc ion about p; i and critical jud,
Provision for tax litigaki: /di: Includes provisions made mainly for probable claims arising out of certain tax matiers under

various statutes. These estimates take into account the specific circumstances of cach matter and relevant external advice, are inherently
judgmental and could change substantially over time as each matter progresses. The ultimate Liability for claims may vary from the
amounts provided and is dependent upon the outcome of the relevant pi di change in ct ond th: be no

that the ultimate result will not differ from the provisions reported in the Company’s financial statcments by a materinl amount. The timing
and probability of the outflow and cxpected reimbursements if any with regard to these matters, depends oa the ultimate settlement /
conclusion of these matters.

22 Deferred income

Government grant 4

o

5
it

Non-current portion K] 4
Current portion 1 1

4 3

23 Fi ial liabilities ) - Trade

Trade payables : micro and small enterprises (Refer note 37) 146 132
Trade payables : others 3,249 3,195
Trade payabies to related parties (Refer note 50)# 427 238

g Ry 33035

#Includes MINR 80 (31 March 2020 - MINR 24) pertaining to payable on account of share based payment transaction.
The Company’s exposure to currency and liquidity risks related to trade payable is disclosed in Note 52.

24 Financial liabilities (current) - Others

Depasgits from customers 27 23
Employee related payables 91 55
Sccurity deposits from clearing and forwarding agents a 3
Capilal creditors 31 100

152 181

The Company’s cxposure to currency and liquidity risks related to above financial linbilities is disclosed in Note 52.

25 Other current liabilities

Statutory dues
- VAT/CST/GST 905 444
- Withholding taxes 81 12
- Provident fund 1 13
- Excisc duty payable (net) ) 786
1776 1355
26 Provisions - Current
Provision for employee benefit obligations
Gratuity (refer notr 48) 3 7
Compensated absenoes (refer note 48) 77 77
8o iy
27 Depreciation and amor ]
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 656 861
Depreciation of right-of-usc assets 61 51
Amortisation of intnugible asscts 3 3

720 15
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28 Revenue from operations
Sales of products (including excise duty)
Finished goods :
Beer (Refer Note (a) & Note (b))
Traded goods:
Soda and club glasses

Other operating revenue
Scrap sales
Royalty income

iliation of r r with contract price:
Contract price {(Gross)
Adjustment fors
Di as per contract/sch (Refer Note (b))

Revenue from operations

Notes:

For the year ended
March 31, 2021

For the year ended
March 31, 2020

41,174 55,279

185 254

111 158
41,470 55.693
43,306 57,859
(1,836) (2,166)
41,470 55,693

(a) Excludes provision for sales return of finished goods amounting to Nil (March 31, 2020 - MINR 149) shown as Exceptional items

in Statement of Profit & Loss account.

(b) Excludes provision for discount on sale of finished goods amounting to Nil (March 31, 2020 - MINR 42) shown as Exceptional

items in Statement of Profit & Loss account.

29 Other income and other gain / (losses)
(a) Other income
Interest income under the effective interest method :

- From deposits with banks 35 18
- From others 21 4
Miscellanious income 51 58
Liabilities no longer required written back 13 -
Government grants 1 1
121 81
(b) Other gains / (losses)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment E 1
Foreign exchange (loss) (0 ()]
[¢31] (8)
30 Cost of materials consumed
Raw materials consumption
Opening stock 387 214
Add : Purchases during the year 1,581 2,627
Less : Closing stock
1571 2,454
Packing materials consumption
Opening stock 605 663
Add : Purchases during the year 4,115 6,754
Less : Closing stock 3 605
4409 _6,812
5,980 9,266
31 Ch ini ies of finished goods, work-in-progress and stock in trade
Inventories at the end of the year
- Finished goods {Beer) 2,411 2,781
- Stock in trade (Soda and club glasses) 1 1
- Work-in-progress (Beer) 150 146
2,562 2,928
Add: Separately disclosed as Exceptional item in Statement of Profit & Loss . 197
account #
2,562 3,125
attheb of the year
- Finished goods (Beer) 2,781 1,435
- Stock in trade (Soda and club glasses) 1 1
- Work-in-progress (Beer) 1 129
2,928 1,563
( )/d ini ies 366 (1,560)
Increase/( decrease) of excise duty on finished goods (198) 1,081
Total 168 (479)

# Tmpact of expiry of finished goods Nil (March 31, 2020 - MINR 197) appearing in Exceptional item in Statement of Profit & loss

account. (Also Refer Note 10)

"

Note: Zero represents amount below g-off norms adopted by the




Carlsberg India Private Limited

CIN:U15111DL2006PTC148579

C lidated Notes to fi ial for the year ended March 31, 2021
{Rupees in million, except for share data and if otherwise stated)

For the year ended  For the year ended

March 31, 2021 March 31, =020
32 Employee benefits expense
Salary, wages, gratuity and bonus (refer note 48) 1,727 2,006
Contribution to provident fund and other funds (refer note 48) 75 63
Employee share based payment expense (refer note 49) 31 9
‘Workmen and staff welfare expenses 73 98
1,906 2,176

33 Finance costs
Interest expense on borrowings 16 29

Interest expense on dealer deposit 2 2
Interest and finance charge on lease liabilties 8 9
26 40
34 Other expenses
Consumption of stores and spares 100 152
Contract manufacturing expenses 746 957
Powerand fuel 342 521
Advertisement and promotion 160 530
Selling and distribution expenses 980 1.632
Rent 5 229
Rates and taxes 678 813
Insurance B 13
Repairs and maintenance:
- plant and machinery 78 106
- buildings 10 12
-others 55 48
Recruitment expenses 12 22
Sales promotion expenses 192 274
Royalty 295 414
Bank charges 2 2
Auditors' remuneration:*
- for statutory audit w 3 22
- for tax audit# # 1 1
- for other services . 4
- for reimbursement of out of pocket expenses [} o
Security expenses 40 44
Travelling and conveyance expenses 48 122
Legal and professional expenses 129 173
Miscellaneous expenses ### uzy 129
010 6,219

* including goods and services tax, as applicable.

# includes Nil (March 31, 2020 : MINR 11) pertaining to previous financial year.

## Includes Nil ( March 31, 2020 : MINR 1) pertaining to previous financial year

w4 # Excludes Nil ( March 31, 2020 : MINR 2) pertaining to cost of drainage relating to provision for sales return on account of
Covid 19 which is separately disclosed in Exceptional items in Statement of Profit & Loss account.
Note: Zero represents amount below ding-off norms ads d by the
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35 The ecomputation of basic/diluted earnings/(loss) per share is set out below:

36

37

a8

39

Particulars Asat Asat
March 31, 2011 Mareh 31, 2030
Profil/loss as per Stalement of Profil and Loas (MINR) 951 (156)
Less: Dividend on cumulative redecmable preference shares (MINR) ) (5)
Less: Corporale dividend tax (MINR) * - Q)
Profil/(lass) afier Lax attributable 10 equity sharcholders (MINR) 946 (162)
Weighled average number of equity shares outstanding during Lhe year 57,612,591 57,612,591
Nominal value per share (INR) n n
Basic earnings/(loas) per share (INR) 1642 (2.82)

Weighled average number of preference shares outstanding during the year (refer

Nole17) 24,511,333 24,511,333
Number of Potential Equity shares 24,511,333 24,511,333
Diluted eamings/(loss) per share (INR} ngd (1.90)
* Corporale dividend tax was applicable only up lo FY zo19-20.

Operating Segments

Operating defined as an ise for which discrele financial information is available Lhat is evaluated regularly by the chief

operating decision maker, in deciding how Lo allocate and asscssing ‘The Company’s chief operating decision maker is its Board of

Direetors and (he Company has only one reporiable business segmenl i ¢. Beer, which is reviewed by its board of directors. As Lhe company has single reportable

segyment, the scgment wise discl i of IND AS 108 on opcralion segment is nol applicable. The Company’s revenue from external customer is from

sales within India. There are tv having revenue ing to 10% or more of Company’s tolal revenuc.

Customer 1 - MINR 6,629 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 7,806)
Customer 2 - MINR 6,562 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 7,090)
Dues to micro and small enterprises

The Company has certain dues to suppliers regislered under Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act,2006 (MSMED Act). The disclosure
pursuant to the said MSMED Act are as follow:

Dues to micro and small suppliers As at Mareh 31, As at March 31,
2021 2020

Amount due 10 supplicrs registered under MSMED Act and remaining unpaid as al

year end

- 'Principal amount 146 132
- lulerest thercon ® 2 1
Principal and interest amounts paid to supplicrs registered under MSMED Act, beyond = o
the appoinled day during the year.

Interest due and pmynble for the year (where Lhe principal has been pmid but interest 1 o
under MSMED Act, 2006 not paid)

Interest due and payable at the end of accounting year, lowards suppliers regislered 6 4
under MSMED Act *

Furiber inlerest remaining duc and payable for earlier years * 4 3

* The Company has not provided for inlerest on the balance outstanding as the Company does not envisage any malerial impact on Lhe financial statements in this
regard,

The information given above is to the extent such partics bave been identified by the Company on the tasis of infc ion disclosed by the Li

Capital and other commitments
As at March 31, As at March 31,

2021 2020
Capital commitments
The Company his i ts for open ining to be 101 256
executed on capital secount
T 250
Contingent liabilities
As at March 31, As at March 31,
2021 2020
Dividend on 2% cumulative preference shares (from March 15, 2007) * 69 78
Claims not acknowledged as debts (to the extent quantified) 10 10
Service tax demands (including interest and penalty) 266 251
Central excisc matters (including interest and penalty) 71 n
Sales tax matters (including interest and penalty) 500 546
Entry lax matters (including interest and penalty) - 6
State excise matiers 35 u3
[ncome lax matters 57 -
Others (refer note (a) below) 6 5
Other matters {refer notes (b) below and note 55 (g)}
Also refer nole 3G)
*C 1e dividend tax was applicable only up Lo FY 2019-20. Therefore, lhenmounkuunmMnlchzoel.doamlincllnde(‘orpontedivﬁendm
Note: Zero rep: amounl below ding-off norms adopled by Ibe company.
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(a)

®)

(c;

2

The Company acquired the assets of [limneel Breweries Limiled (HDL) from Industriat Finanee Corporation of India (IFCI) in May 2007. Al lhe time of
acquisilion, recovery pmeeedings were pending against HDL for Provideat Fund (PF) dues prior lo 2007 by the } Provident Fund Organizalion (EPFO),
Himachal Pradesh. HBL had, against the said recovery prcecdings, oblained a stay order from the Provident Fund Tribunal.

The Company had received a notice from the EPFO on November 19, 2007 for the recovery of Provident Fund dues aguinst the brewery which was acquired and

being operated by the Company.
In 2008, the EPFO got the Provident Fund Tribuna!l stny order vacaled from the Itigh Courl of [Himachal Pradesh and issued notice 1o Lhe Company on September
11, 2008 for the recovery of old dues amounting lo MINK 4.6 perlaining to liability of HDL. Subsequeatly, the EPFO on January 6, 2009 altached one bank
account of the Company against whick the Company filed a Writ Pelition in the High Court of {limachal Pradesh stating that the Company s nol liable to pay these
dues as this liabilily accrues to HBL and HDL is conlesling the matier before the Provident Fund Tribunal. The High Court of Himachal Pradesh admittal the Wril
Petition of the Company and granted stay order on January 9, 2009 subject lo submission of bank guarantee of MINR 3 by the Company, which has been done.
The Company’s bank account has been released. 1loweser, pending the final oulcome of the case, Lhe amount has been disclased as a contingent liability.

An Appeal filed by entity 11BL was dismissed by learned CGIT-cum-Labour Court-I1, Chandigarh vide Order No. MA No. 1 of 2019 dated March 11, 2021 CIPL
received a Nolioe dated April 26, 2021, and subsequent letiers daled June 33, 2021 and June 18, 2021 for deposit of the dues for an amount of MINR 1.7 on account
of the appeal of Himneel has been disposed off and holding CIPL liable 1o make suck payment. Accordingly, CIPL had filed a writ petition before the Shimla High
Court seeking stay and quashing of such Notices. The Ilon'ble Shimla [Tigh Court had agreed o grant slay in Lhe implementation of the orders, subject to CIPL
depasiling the amount of MINR 1,7 with the Court, which has been done. However, pending Lhe final oulcome of Lhe case, the amounl has been disclosed as a
contingent liabifity

During the year in July 2020, GST intelli d 1 a scarch p lings al three breweries of Lthe Company in relation 1o laxability of spent grain/callle

feed under Goods and Serviee Tax (GST) Act. The Company has not received any demand police in respeel of Lhe scarch proceedings. In Seplember 2020, Lhe

Cormpany has also filed a representation before GST council requesling Lo clarify axability of the spent grain, as the spent grain was exempl under VAT regime.

1In December 2018, the Company made a representation Lo Central Board of Indirect Taxes and Customs (CDIC) to seck clarification on and valualion of
inter office services under the Goods and Service Tax (GST) Act. Pending revert from CBIC, the Company, based on legal opinion, believes that there is no supply
by HO Lo other unils of the company, insofar as the centralised funclions carried out by employees of head office are concerned; and no GST is required to be paid
thereon.

During the financial year ended March (31, 2020 , one of the former cmployee (then Deputy Managing Direclor), who is also onc of Lhe three Complaining
Dircclors referred Lo in Note 55(a) , bad wrillen a lelter daled August 27, 2019 Lo the Company, wilh a copy tv Cenlral Provident Fund Commissioner, slaling Lhal
during his employment from July 1, 2014 to March 31, 2018, the Comipany has under reporied basic wages by not riclisding i ullon anees for calenlation of
employer's contribution under seclion 29(1), 29(3) of the scheme which resulled into breaches under section ;30(1) of the Scheme. In reference Lo this letler, the
Company has received a lelter dated Oclober 14, 2020 from the Regional Office of Lhe Employre Provident Fund Organisation, New Delhi on October 19, 2020
(“Letter from EPFO”), seeking information of period of service, inilial pay and components of salary in relation to the I of the L The

Company has senl a response to APFC, South Delhi via c-mail on October 233, 2020. Sub 1y, on 23rd Dx ber 2020, Lhe Company received o show cause
notice from PF authoritics requesling to deposil the differential amount of PF. The Company calculated and deposited the differential amount wilh the PF
authorities.

Leases

The enlity lcases various propertics and warchouses. Lease terms are negotialed on an individual basis and conlain a wide range of differcot lerms and condilions,
During Lhe ycar, additions amounted lo MINR 74 (31 March 2020- MINR 72) and depreciation lo MINR 59 {31 March 2020- MINR 51).

The lease expenses recognised in the income statement related to short-term leases and leases of low-value assets recognised in the income statement in the year
was and amounted lo MINR 5 (31 March 2020- MINR 44).

For disclasures of the lease liabilitics, please refer to nole oo 3B

Operating leases - Company as a lessor

The Company has entered int ing lease on its leaschold land. Some of the signifi lerms and ditions for Lhe ar aj
- Lhe lease are generally ble on Lhe expiry of lease year subject lo mulual egrecment.

- 0o sublelting of Lhe premises or any part theroof is pormissible without the prior writlen consenl of kessor.

- Operaling lease arrangement is non-cancellable in nature wilh a lock-in period of 15 years.

The minimum amount receivable in future towards noa - cancellable lease agreements is as under:

Particulars For the year ended  For Lhe year ended

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
Receivable within one year 0 o
Reccivable between one and five years 1 N
Receivable above five ycars ] 1
Total 2 2

The lease rentals recognized as income and value of assets given on lease included in property,

plant and equipment For the year ended  For the year ended

March 31, zo21 March 31, 2020

A. Lease renlals recognized as income during Lhe year o L)
B. Value of nssets given on lease included in property, plant and equipment

- Gross carrying amount 3 3

- Net aarrying amount 3 3

Nole: Zero represents amounl below rounding-off norms adopted by Lhe company.
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42 Income taxes

A. Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Year ended
March 31, 2020

Year ended
March 31, 2021

Current tax
Current period

Deferred tax

(Decrease)/ Increase in deferved tas labilities o (129)
Decrease in deferred tax assels 1,781
Total current tax expense 1,652

&

Significant estimates

With increased siee of operations, improved efficiencies and wider footprint, the Company has consistently carned tax profits from Financial Yedr 2016-17. Further, the Company has prepared an estimate of
the probable future taxable profits. The Company is confident that with the consistent growth pattern over the vears and in future, it will be able to generate the futire taxable profits as estimated and utilize
the unused tax losses in the reasonable period of time. Considering the aforementioned facts, the Compan: has recognized deferred tax asset on the undisputed and unused tax losses and other temporan
differences in its books of account

C. Reconciliation of effective tax rate

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

% L% 1264 [T
Tax using the Company s domestic tax rate - March 2021 : 25.168% (March 2020 : 25.168%)) 303 T
Effect of:

Non-deductible expenses 0 i
Unrecognised timing differences of previous year now reversed in current ycar [Slel)]
True up impact on account of filing of last s ear income tax return 123
Recognition of previonsly uniecognised tax losses and unabsorbed depreciation (61
Reversal of deferred tax on account of possible disallowances 10}
MAT credit written off on account of adoption of concessional 1ate of tax™ = Edl
Impact of change in 1ate of tax from 34.944% to 25.168% * - L3
Uther itoms () 1%
Ineceme Tax Expense 253 1,652
* During the previous year, the Company has opted to pay current tax at the concessional tax rate of 25.168% from FY19-20 onwards, as against erstw hile tax rate of 34.944°%.
D. Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
Before tax Tax (expense) Net of tax Before tax Tax (expense) Net of tax
benefit benefit

Romeasnnement of defined benefit Habilit (0sset) 1 1] 8 (i3] 3 (H)

11 [3] B [13) 5 (8)

E. Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Deferred tax assets
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Deferred tax liabilities
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

March 31, 2021

Net deferred lax asset/(liabilities)
March 31, 2020

Property, plant and equipment 70 120 70 120
Share based payment resene - 2| - 2
Provisions for employee benefit obligations 77 68 - 77 68
Proisions for Obsolete inventory and allowances for doubtful balances 202 159 - 202 159
Provision for litigations and others prov nz 74 u7 74
Tax losses and unabsorbed deprecintion 1,630 1,090 - 1,650 1,540
Deferred tax assets/ linbilities 2116 2,372 - 2116 2,372
DHilsalting of deferred tax assets and defurrod tax labilities - - - - -
Net deferred tax assets 2116 o7 = = 2,116 972
Movement in temporary differences
Bal. as at Rex ised in R isedin R ised in 1 as at
March 31, 2020 profitorloss  equity during 20- OCI during 20- March 31, 2021
during 20-21 21 21
Propests, plant and squijpment 120 (50} 70
Share based payment resene 2 (2) i .
Provisions for employee benefit obligations 68 12 (6] 77
Provisions for Obsolete imentory and allowances for doubtful balances 159 43 202
Provision for litigations and others proyisions 74 43 nzy
Tax losses and unabsorbed depreciation 140 g0} 1,650
2,472 (253) - (3 2,116

Note:

(i) Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms adopted by the company,
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a3

44

45

16

47

Transfer Pricing

The Company has appointed independent consultant for conducting a transfer pricing study to delermine whether the transaclions with the associale
enterprises were undertaken at "arm’s length prices”. The management confirms that all transactions with associate enterprises are undertaken under arms
length. The transfer pricing study for the year ended Mareh 31, 2020 has been completed which did not result into any adjustment

The Company has filed Advance Pricing Agreement renewal application with Central Boavd of Direct Taxes for the Financial Years 2019-20 to 2023-24 for
the most appropriate transfer pricing method for the following transactions:

i) Brand markeling expenscs

ii) Payment of royalty for using technical know-how and trade marks

iii) Payment of royalty for using technical know-how and trade marks for the sublicensed states

The Company has entered into agreement with a contract manufacturing units for manufacturing of its beer brands. As per the terms of the contracts, the
Company has control over raw/packing material and finished goods (beer). The collection from customers and payment to supplicrs is also done by the
Company. Accordingly, the Company has recorded the related sales, purchases, consumption and other expenses, as such, in these financial statements.
Below is the summary of transactions in respect of the aforesaid arrangement:

Particulars For the year ended For the year ended

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
Sales of products (gross) 13,940 18,508
Excise duty (9,762) (12,494)
Sales of product (net) 4,179 6,014
Cost of raw materials and packing materials consumed 1,869 2,380
Other manufacturing expenses 811 1,061

The Bihar State Government vide its notification dated April 5, 2016 imposed ban on trade and consumption of foreign liquor in the State of Bihar with
immediate effect. Pursuant to such notification, writ petitions were filed with the Hon'ble High Court at Patna requesting to set aside the said notification or
to defer its implementation or to direct the authorities to make payment for beer supplied till the date of aforesaid notification, refund all advance duties
and taxes paid by the Company and compensate for losses incurred on account of such abrupt notification. Vide notification dated April 9, 2016, the Bihar
State Government allowed production of beer in the state of Bihar for export to outside states.

With respect to supplies made to the Bihar State Beverage Corporation (BSBCL), including those in transit for delivery and also those already been placed in
the bonded warehouse, the Hon'ble High Court at Patna Vide an interim order dated April 13, 2016, expressed it prima facie view (subject to final order)
that sale having been completed, transfer of property in specific goods having taken place, the goods of BSBCL and what BSBCL does with those goods
would be Corporation’s look out, subject to full payment being made to the manufacturers in respect thereof.

The Hon'ble High Court at Patna vide its order dated September 30, 2016 set aside the notification dated April 5, 2016 and section 19(4) of the Bihar Excise
Act, 1915 as ultra vires the Constitution of India. The Bihar State Government has preferred a special leave petition (“SLP™) before the Hon’ble Supreme
Court of India against the judgement of the Hon'ble High Court of Patna pursuant to which. As an interim measure, the Hon’ble Supreme Court has directed
that there shall be stay of operation of the order passed by the Hon'ble High Court at Patna.

All India Brewers Association has also filed a counter affidavit to the petition on behalf of the Company and other breweries with the Hon'ble Supreme
Court of India and the matter is sub-judice.

Subsequently, the Bihar Government enacted the Bihar Prohibition and Excise Act, 2016 imposing complete prohibition of liquor and intoxicants in the
territory of the State of Bihar effective October 2, 2016.

On January 24, 2017, the Bihar State Government has decided not to renew existing brewery licenses from the financial year 2017-18. The said Notification
also mentions that, upon application, permission shall be granted for manufacture of non-alcoholic drinks / beverages.

However, considering the fact that the Company is not carrying out any production in the state and is still to recover the advance duties / taxes paid, the
management as a matter of abundant caution had provided for impairment loss / doubtful receivables in relation to the aforesaid plant in previous financial
years. Impairment loss of MINR 1,709 was recognised in previous financial years.

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) expenditure

There is no amount which is required to be spent on CSR activities in the current financial year as per Section 135 read together with Section 198 of the
Companies Act, 2013 in view of past accumnalated losses.
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48 Employee benefits obligations
A Defined contribution plan
The Company has certain defined conttibution plans. Contributions arc made to provident fund in India for emplovees at the rate of 12% of basic salan as per iegulations. The
contributions are made 1o registered provident fund administered by the government. The obligation of the Company is limited Lo the amount contributed and it has no further
contractual nor any constructive obligation. The Company also contributes towards Employee’s State Insurance. The expense recognised during the period towards defined contribution
plan is MINR 75 (March 31, 2020 : MINR 63) including amount for ESIC of MINR 1 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 1)
B Defined Benefit Plans
As at March 31, 2021 As at March 31, 2020
Net defined benefit liability - gratuity plan (Non funded)
Total employee benefit linbilities 148 139
Non current 145 132
Current 3 -
For details about the related employee benefit expenses, see Note 32.
Defined benefit plans:-
Gratuity;
The Company has a defined benefit gratuity plan which is unfunded. The Gratuity plan is governed by the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972 which entitles an employee, who has rendered
at least five years of continuous ser ice (Company consider one year of continuous service), to gratuity at the rate of fifteen days wages for every completed vear of sem ice or part thereof
in excess of six months, based on the rate of wages last drawn by the employee coneerned.
Liability with regards to Gratuity is accried based on actuarial aluation at the balance sheet date, carried out by independent actuan,.
For details about the related employee benefits plan, See Note 2.2 (k) of accounting policies.
(i) Reconciliation of the net defined benefit liability- Defined benefit plans
The following table set out the status of the defined benefits plans:
Ot dre ehefToisl Tt fin ol n
Particulars As it Mareh 34, 2021 As al Mireh 31, 2020
Balance at the beginning of the year 139 o8
Benefits paid (16) 7)
Current sen ice cost 27 28
Interest cost 9 8
Past service cost - 0
Actuarial losses/(gains) recognised in other comprehensiie income (1) 13
- changes in demographic assumptions . o
-ch in financial i - 14
experience ailjustments (11) (1)
Balance at the end of the venr 148 139
Total d 1 benefit obligation 148 139
(ii) a. Expense recognized in the of profit and loss
Particulars For the year For the year ended
ended March 1. 2021 March 31, 2020
Current service cost 27 a8
Interest cost 9 8
ice cnst - -
37 a6
b. R ement r ized directly in other comprehensive income
Particulars For the year For the year ended
ended March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
Actiinrial lnssesf{=ains) on defined benefit abligation (1) 13
(11) 13

Note: Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms adopted by the company,
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(iii) Defined benefit obligation
a. Actuarial assumptions
Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted i erages);

Particulars For the year For the year ended

ended March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Discount rate 6.79% 6.79%

Future salan growth 8.00% 8 00°%
Attrition rate (°s moyement)

- Upto 30 years 3.00% 3.00%

- From 31to 44 years 2.00% 2.00%

- Above 44 years 1.00% 1.00%

Mortality vate inclusise of provision of provision for disability 100% of [ndian Assured 100% of Indian Assured

Lives Mortality (2012-14) Lives Mortality (2012-14)

The discount 1ate assumed is determined by reference to market yield at the balance sheet date on government bonds. The estimate of future salary increase, considered in actuavial
raluation, take account of inflation, seniorily, promotion and other reley ant factors such assupply and demand in the emplosment market

b. Sensitivity analysis
Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date (o one of the relesant actuarial assumptions. holding other assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation
L Lhe amounts <huen below.

Chonge in nssmmptions For the yenr ended March 31, 2o For the yenr ended March 31, 2020
Inerease Becreise Inerease Decrense

[iweannt rate {0.5% movement) (9) 10 (8} 9

Future salary growth 0.5% movement) 10 (9) '] 8

Attritlon rate 0.3 %.morement)

The abose sensitivity analysis are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the
assumption may be correlated. When calculating the sen: ity of the defined benefit obligations to significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present 1alue of the defined
benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method in the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the defined benefit liability recognised in the
balance sheet.

The methods and ty pes of assumptions used in preparing the sensiti ity analysis did not change compare to the prior period.

The weighted axerage duration of the defined benefit obiigation is 16.37 years (March 31, 2020 - 16.69 years). The expected maturity analy sis of undiscounted gratuity is as follows:

Maturity profile As at March 31, As at March 31,

2021 2020
Year 3 7
Year 2 3 3
Year 3 3 5
Year 4 5 3
Year 3 7 5
Year 6 6 6
6 years onwards 121 184
Total 148 139

(iv) Risk exposure
Through its defined benefit plans, the Company is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of whhich are detailed below:

Changes in discount rate - Changes in discount rate can result into increase/(decrease) in defined benefit plan lability

Life expectancy - Increases in life expectancy will result in an increase in the plans liabilities. This is particular significant where inflationan
increases result in higher sensitivity to changes in life expectancy.

C  Otherlong term employee benefits

Leave obligations:
The leay e obligations cover the Company's liability for earned leave.

The entire amount of the provision of MINR 77 (March 31, 2020 - MINR 77) is presented as current, since the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for any
of these obligations. Howener, based on past experience, the Company does not expect all employees to avail the full amount of acerued leave or require payment for such leave within
the next 12 months,

Particulars As ut March 1, zo21 As at March 31, 2020
leave obliations not expectad to be cetthed within the next 12 manths 73

Note: Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms adopted by the company.
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49 Share based payments
Description of share based payments arrangements:

As at March 31, 2021, the Company has the following share based payment arrangements:

The Company applies the fair value based method of accounting to account for performance shares issued by Carlsberg A/S, Denmark, the uitimate holding company, to the employecs of the Company. The
fair market vatue of such instruments is recognizeil as an expense over the perinil in which the related =2/vice« jre received. Since Lhe ('smypuany is required to pay the amount to Carlsberg A/S, Denmark,
towards share-based compensation for the {7umyuiny employees, the credit arising (iom rccagnizing such «hare-baied compensation is recardedl in the share-based payment reserve.

i. Performance shares units- Equity settled plan

In 201, the Carlsberg gioup introduced a new long-term incentive programme (equity settled). The value of remuneration received under the long-term incentive programme is calculated as a predetermined
percentage of employee’s yearly salary. Depending upon the group's performance, this percentage can be adjusted to a maximum of 150% of the predetermined percentage. The long-term incentive
programme is settled in performance shares. A participant in long-term incentive programme will receive a number of performance shares, each giving the right to receive one Carlsberg B share listed on
NASDAQ, Copenhagen-

Total amount recognised in the statement of profit and loss, with a corresponding credit to the share based payment reserve amounts to MINR 31 (March 31, 2020: MINR 9)

All the performance shares vest in three years of service, except for an extrnordinary grant made in 2018 that vested after two years of service.

Based on the information received from the ultimate holding company the number of shares granted to each employee is based on the share price of Carlsberg A/S class B shares on NASDAQ OMX
Copenhagen and is calcuated as the higher of the share price the day before granting or the average share price during the first five trading days following the granting of the performance shares. The
performance shares have an exercise price of nil

-

No performance shares were granted in during financial year ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020.

Reconciliation of ding share options

For the year ended March 31, 2021 For the year ended March 31, 2020

Number of options Weighted Number of options  Weighted average

average exercise price (DKK)
exercise price

{DKK)
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 4,683 = 15,347
Add: granted during the year - -
Add: adjusted during the year
Add: transfers in during the year ] - -
Less: exercised during the year (2,276) = (9,527)
Less: cancelled/expired during the year = =
Less: forfeited oot during the vear (2.409) (1135)
Outstanding at the end of Lhe vear - - 4,685 -
Exercisable at the end of year =
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at the end of period Nil years 0.88 years

For the year ended For the year ended

=
=

P recognised in of profit and loss: March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
Refer note 32 employee benefits expenses. 31 9




s for the year ended Murelr 31, 2021
atherwise

30.  Related party transacti
A.  Related Purtics where eontrol exist and with whom the Company had transactions during the year 2020-21 and 2019-20
(i) Enterprises where control exist

(a) Ultimate holding company
Carlshety; A/S, Denmatk

() Intermediate holding Company
Carlsberg Breweries A/S, Denmark
Catlsherg South Asia Pte Limited, Singapore

(¢) Holding Company
South Asian Breweries Pte. Limiled, Singapore

(i) Enterprises where common control exist

(n) Fellow subsidiaries
Carlsherg Breweny Hong Kang Limited, China
Carlsberg Supply Company AG , Switzerlond
Cambrew Limiled, Cambedia
Curlsherg Italia $ P.A

(b) Joint venture company
NCC Crowns Private Limited. India

(iii) Other related partics

cy managerial personnel
il Managing Dircctoy
ety Whole Time Director

Grahum James Fewkes
Fitlapid Arthue Lasnoies

igned on March 21, 2021)
igned on August 2o, 2020)

Libuk Stollberg Trocls

Kulpaturu Triputhy Dirvetor

Yeo Soon Keong Director (resigned un August 20, 2020)
Chow Lee Peng Director (resigned on August 20, 2020)
Philip Andrew Hodges Director (resigned onJune 8, 2021)
Matthijs Dirk Jongejan (w ¢ f August 20, 2020) Director (resigned on March 21, 2021)
Prubhat Singl (w.c f August 20, 2020) Director

Jun Thieme Rusmussen { w e.f August 20, 2020) Direetor

Peter Steemberg (w.c.f. March 22, 2021} Additional Dirvetor
Soren Frederik Flensborg (w.e f. March 22, 2021) Additional Director
Pradvumna Maheshwuri Chicf Finunciol Officer

B. Transactions with related parties:

icul For the year cided For the venr ended
Particulars March 31, 2021 March 31, sisi
A Ultimate holdiog compuny
Cardsbary A/S
Employec benefits expense reimbursement ¢ &3
holding C
Turlshiert Broweries A/S, Denmark
ph benefits i " e 48
Training expenses reimbursement 1 a
Advertisement und i D b [l
Purchusc of raw materials . 1
Legal and ionul imb o) o|
Training reimbursement (o)
Salary und travel rechurges ] (33)
Carlsbery South Asia Pte Limited, Singapore
Salary and truycl recharges ) 4]
Royalty expense (excluding goods and services tax) 2y 1
C. Fellow subsidiaries
Carldery Supply Company AG, Switzer land
Salary and trovel recharges (48) (41)
Education and training expense reimbursement o
Cattstvry Brewery Mty Ko Liminad, China
Salary atnl travel povharpes (17 a7
Repairy and i imb ’ 10
Liantrreas Limited, Cantbodia
Salary and truvel recharges n )
Cuvistwiiy ftalia S.PA
Purchuse o
D. Joint venture company
N s Private Limited, India
Miscellancous income (o)
Rent income (£
Purchases of jpoals 169

(i) Brackets represents income/reimbursement from related partics.
(i) Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms udopted by the Conpany
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c. T it with key personnel o ot Samesing
D.  Yearend hatnees:
| Particulars Asut] LI
| ) March a1 2021 March 1. 2020
|A. Ultimate holding company
Carlsberg A/S
Amount payable # 8o =)
B. Intermediate holding Ce
Carishery Breweries A/S Denmark
Accounts pavable # 130 95
Trade roceivables 5 5
Carlsbery South Asiu Pte Limited , Singupore
Accuunls payable 156 71
Trade reeeisables 8
C. Fellow subsidiaries
Carlsberg Breweny Hong Kong Limited, Chinu
Accounts puvuble # 20 21
Trude receivables 4 2
Carishery Supply Company AG, Switzerkand
Accounls payable a
Trude reeeivables 5 4
Cumbrew Limited, Cambodia
Trade recehables - ¥
| B.Joint Venture |
NCC Crowns Private Limited, India
Investment outstauding | 123 123
Accounts pasable 2 27
|
# Tnechudes tramsactions foe this yeir aintiig to MIXR 09 (Miech g0 2020 MINE 580 and ftalamst payableas o Mardh i, 2020 appmmiing 1 MINR 246 { Mani 31, 2020

MINR 142) which are pending for approval from the Board of Dircetors as required under the artickes of ussociation of the Company.

Kcy termws and conditions of related party transactions

(i) The sales o and purchose from related parties ure made on terms equivalent to those thut prevuil in arm's length transactions. Outstanding halunces at the year-end are unseeured
and interest free and scttlement occurs in cash within six months.

(ii) There have been no guurnntees provided or received for any reluted party receivables or payubles. This assessment is undertaken cach financial year through examining the financial
ssition of the related party and the market in which the relnted party operutes.

(iii) Carlsberg Breweries A/S, Denmark (a fellow subsidiary) hus given letter of Com(ort to BNP Paribas bank for credit facilitics taken by the Company duted November 24, 2018. (refer
note 0o 19)

Note: Zero amount below ling-off norms adopted by the company.
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Annexure 1

Transactions with key management personnel and relatives of key management personnel

Particulars

For the year ended
March 31, 2021

For the year ended
March 31, 2020

Compensation of key management personnel

(i) Short term employment benefits
(a) Salary, wages and bonus
+ Michael Norgaard Jensen

Naveen Begwani

Manish Damodardas Garg

Muthuraman Ramanathan

Nilesh Patel

Pradyumna Maheshwari

(b) Contribution to provident and other funds
Naveen Begwani
Manish Damodardas Garg
Muthuraman Ramanathan
Nilesh Patel
Pradyumna Maheshwari

(ii) Post-employment plan

Defined benefit plan - Gratuity
Naveen Begwani
Manish Damodardas Garg
Muthuraman Ramanathan
Pradyumna Maheshwari

(iii) Other long term employee benefit plan

Compensated absences
Naveen Begwani
Manish Damordardas Garg
Muthuraman Ramanathan
Pradyumna Maheshwari

(iv) Employee share-based payment
Pradyumna Maheshwari
Nilesh Patel
Muthuraman Ramanathan

- Performance share expense*

* Employee wise details for the Performance share expense in long term
incentive plan is not available with the Company

17
91
15

= A

1
15
3
Refer Note 49

13
80
15

_ W =

4
39
8

Refer Note 49

Total compensation paid to key management personnel

149

164

Note: Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms adopted by the company.
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51 Offsetting finuncial nssets and linbi

The 1nlloming table conliins information on other in meial ssels and eade pavables and nther poyables suhjeel tooletling :
As ar As at

March 1, 2021 March g1, 2020
Financlal Assets:
Gross amounts ol newe
Vross atmounts of recognisad trade pasables and cther [ilities st afin the halanee sheel
Netamounts of recognised other linaneial assets presentad in the balanee shoel
Financial linbilities:

it ncial as<cls 97

Gross amounts of reeegised tride pavubles and other payables 1.605
Gross amounts ol recogiised trade poayvahle and other liabilities sel il in the halanee sheet
Neb amounts o reeognised trade pasables and other pasables presentad in the bulanee shect ENSY 4,005

lFor the
financial

tUement of Lthe relevant
hasis and henve are net

inancial axsets and liabililies subject o olfselting or similar arrangements, cach agreement between the Company and Lthe counterparty allows for nel
and Jiabilitics when both eleet 1 setthe onanel hasis. In the absenee of such an vlection, nancial wssets and Labilities will be settled ona gros

Fair value measurement nnd financinl instrmments
. Finaneial instruments ~ by eategory

(i) Ay on March 41, zo21

ars Carrviig vialtie Ealit valu,

T e il s iy
[ ATeL oc) Nruesrtieth Cot Tastal [

Lovel s Lewely

Ausets
"

1 in gosermment seeuritics ) ' "
A & demonil - - - | b
Timad sherwpsil 4
Carrent
I'raidd-n e o Hor
I e sabibvatent 1724
ther bank balanes <
oy denosit . = p
sy “
- a4 a - 4
2 b=an [t . - i, =am

A6 8
| Berm bl o bl el RU &
Current
et Borrowings -

Huahlly s

Deposits frim customers
Fapl 4o related pavables
il i

- | W - -
TOTAL . - FaL - A
(i) As on Mareh 2020
Particulars I Fair vialie messren
| PP PVOCH Tutal Level | Level s
Fipanrial nxscts
Non-current
fmveament in governmenl securitics 0 ) 0|
Shurite dependls 85 85 A5
[l depasits 1 ' . - 1

Corrent
i receivables - E

T h100 .
“ashy amnd csh equivalenls 21
At beenk balances ™ .
laxans b
seenrify dopesalis - g 4 q . H 4
fnsurunee claims revvivable 1 1 [}
vl gl bl - E 409 49 - | 49
TOTAL - - TLGRE - -
Finnneial finhili
Non-current
lease liabilities B - 65 65 - - (&5
Deposils fram customers ] H 47 47 N ] 1
Current
Uirrnl Dorrowines | : Ban) . 4
Luase liabilities | E 7| =
I'muks payubles | 3505 |
Duposits [rum cuslomers g - oy - -]
Employee related payables E E 551 = =
Sevurily deposits . - 4
Capital cruditors 100/
TOTAL - -] e P L] B P 11 = -] W 11

Imvestments induint Venture are held at eost and therelore has nel been included in above table

Naole: Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms adopled by Lthe company .
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strume it s included in et
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Phere e ntransizsoncon lavel 1, = 3uurd
Laprting pord W

d Yinbilitics measured at amortised cost

f finneiul asse

The carning ameunts o casftaid ¢ esh equivalents, trade reecivables, other ina i abassets other receiy hlos, trade pag ablos nd otler current T imeial 1 bilitios are considered 1o be
the ame as their fair values, Largely due Lo the short-term moturitios of thes instrument -

¢ Finuncial visk management

e Conpany has exposure Lo Lhe following risks arising trom financal instrumants:
= Credit i
« Liquidity risk s and
« Market risk

Risk nanagement frnework
The Comp any's beard o directirs as vl responsilility for e eskablishient and oversight of e Company s risk man gement ramesork e briord of diretom s authorizsd
Respuctive husiness Managees Lo ostablish e processes, wheeensares il exevutive manags mentcontrols risks tough e meshinism of propy deline Irimes ok

risk mrinagement policies are established e identify and analyse the risks Taced by Uhe Compang, o sel appropriate risk limits and controls and t moniter 1isks
e periodically 1 refledt changes in markel vmditions and Lhe Canpam s ietivitic

Uhe Company
adberence Lo limits, Rivk managenent p i

the
<y, Whrougln i 1aining an ] nananent stinar 1 an | pesedures, dins Uonaind rin sdisipline ] o nstrutive <onteol casie et in s hich all caplosees understand teie

s and systems are revien al by the busine s man:
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b. Financial risk management (continued)

(i) Credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risks is represented by the total carrying amount of these financial assets in the balance sheet

Particulars As at March 31, 2021 As at March 31, 2020

Non Current

Investment in government seeurities (refer Note 5) o} [}
Security deposit (refer Note 6) 77 85
Fixed deposits (refer Nole 7) 2 1
Current

Trade receivables (refer note 11) 3,800 3,100
Cash and cash cquivalents (refer Note 12) 2,724 211
Other bank balances (refer Note 13) 70 70
Security deposit (refer Nole 14) 7 4
Insurance claims receivable (refer Note 15) 0 1
Government grant receivable (refer Note 15) 49 49

Credit risk is the risk of financial foss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a (inancial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and
arises principatly from the Company’s receivables from customers.

Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited as the Company generally invests in deposits with banks with high credit ratings assigned by domestic
credit rating agencies. Investments primarily include investment in deposits at a bank for a specified time period. The loan represents sceurity deposits
given to suppliers and others, The credit risk associated with such deposits is relatively low.,

The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. Howeyer, management also considers the
factors that may influence the credit risk of its customer basc, including the default cisk of the industry.

The Company Management has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analyzed individually (or creditworthiness before the
Company's standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. The Company’s review includes market check, industry feedback, past
financials and external ratings, if they are available, and in some cases bank references. Sale limits are established for each customer and any sales
exceeding those limits require necessary approval. The Company monitors its exposure to credit risk on an ongoing basis at various levels, Outstanding
customer receivables are regularly monitored. The Company closely monitor the acceptable financial counterparty credit ratings and credit limits and
revise where required in line with the market circumstances.

Majority of the Company’s customers have been transacting with the Company from many years. There arc no significant concentrations of credit risk,
whether through exposure to individual customers, specific industry sectors and/or regions. In monitoring customer credit risk, customers are reviewed
according Lo their credit characteristics, including whether they are an individual or a legal entity, their geographic location, industry and existence of
previous financial difficulties.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major clients. In addition, a large number of minor receivables are
companied into homogenous companies and assessed for impairment collectively. The caleulation is based on credit losses historical data. The Company
has evaluated that the concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables to be low.

On account of adoption of Ind AS 109, the Company uses a simplified approach (lifetime expected credit loss model) for the purpose of computation of
expected credit loss for trade receivables.

Signilicant Estimates: The impairment provisions for financial assets disclosed above are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Company uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Company’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. For trade receivables only, the Company
applies the simplified approach permitted by Ind AS 109, “Financial Instruments™, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables.

The gross carrying amount of trade receivables is MINR 4,275 (March 31, 2020 — MINR 3.478).

The ageing analysis for trade receivables (Gross carrying amount) is as follows:

Particulars As at March 31, 2021 As at March 31, 2020
Not due 3.725 2,255
1-90 days past due 95 752
91 to 180 days past due 2 156
More than 180 days past due 315
3,478
Movement in the allowanee for impairment in respect of trade teceivablas and seeurity deposits
Particulars Trade Receivables Security Deposits
For the year ended For the vear ended For the year ended  For the year ended
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
Balance at the beginning 378 353 21 6
Impairment loss recognised # - a - 11
Other provisions/adjustments 97 22 - 4
Balance at the end 475 278 21 21

# This impairment loss has been included under "Net impairment loss on financial and contract assets” disclosed as a separate line item in the Statement
of Profit and Loss account.

Note: Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms adopted by the company.
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b. Financial risk management

(ii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is Lhe risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in mecling the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or
another financial assel. The Company's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are
fallen due, under both normal und stressed conditions, without incurring unaceeptable losses or risking damage to the Company s reputation.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable sccurities and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of credit
facilities to meet obligations when due and to close out market positions. Duc to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, Company treasury matntains flexibility in
[unding by maintaining availability under credit facilities

Liquidity risk results from the Company’s potential inability to meet the obligations associated with its financial liabililics, for example scttlement of (inancial debt and paying
suppliers. The Company’s liquidity is managed by Company Treasury, The aim is to ensure clfective liquidity management, which primarily involves obtaining sufficient
committed credit facilities to ensure adequate financial resources and, to some extent, tapping a range of funding sources

Net financial debt is used internally by Company Treasury to monitor the Company's credit resources available. Net financia) debt is the Company’s net interest-bearing debt,
excluding interest-bearing asscts, as these assets are not actively managed in relation to liquidity risk.

At March 31, 2021, net financial debt was MINR Nil (March 31, 2020: MINR 634)

At March 31, 2021, the Company had total unutilised credit facilities of MINR 4,328 (March 31, 2020: MINR 3,476).

Exposure to liquidity risk

The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilitics at the reporting date. The amounts are gross and undiscounted.

As at March 31, 2021 Contractual Contractual cash flows
maturities Less than six Between six Between one More than 5 Total
months months and one | and five years years
year
Non current financial liabilities
Lease liabilities 40 - - 38 40
Deposits from customers 31 - - 31 31
Current financial liabilitics
Current Borrowings 245 245 - 245
Lease liabilities 57 29 29 - 57
Trade payables 3,822 3,822 “ 3,822
Deposits from customers 27 27 = - 27
Employee related payables 91 41 50 91
Security deposits 3 - 3 3
Capital creditors 31 31 = . 31
Total 4,347 4,105 82 69 4,347
As at March 31, 2020 Contractual Coniractual cash flows
maturities Less than six Between six Between one More than 5 Total
months months and one | and five years years
year
Non current financial liabilities
Lease liabilities 73 - 70 73
Deposits from customers 47 - - 47 47
Current financial liabilities
Current Borrowings 845 845 845
Interest on borrowings 2 2 2
Lease liabilities 61 31 30 = 61
Trade payables 3,565 3,565 - - 3,565
Deposits from customers 23 2 - - 2
Employee related payables 55 - 55 - 55
Security deposits 3 . 3 - 3
Capital creditors 100 100 - - 100
Total 4,774 4,566 88 117 4,774
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b. Fir ial risk mar t (continued)

Interest rate risk

Currently the Company's borrowings are within acceptable risk levels, as determined by the management, hence the Company has not taken any swaps to hedge the interest rate
risk.

Exposure to interest rate risk
The interest rate profile of the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments as reported to the management of the Company is as follows.

Financial instruments As at As at
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Fixed -rate instruments
Financial liabilities - 600

Variable-rate instruments
Financial linhilities 245 215

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable-rate instruments

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below.

Particulars Impact on profit after tax Equity, net of tax

100 bp increase 100 hp decrease 100 bp increase 100 hp decrease

For the year ended March 31, 2021

Variable-rale instruments (2} 2 {2) r
Cash flow sensilivity (2) a {2) 2
For the year ended March 31, 2020

4 2

Variable-rale instriumen)s (
Cash flow sensitivity {

I
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b. Fi ial risk (continued)

(iii) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises two types of risk: currency risk and interest rate
risk. The objective of market risk management is Lo manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company is exposed to the effects of fluctuation in the
prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. Exposure arises primarily due to exchange rate fluctuations between the functional currency and other
currencies from the Company’s operating, investing and financing activities

Exposure to foreign currency risk

The summary of quantitative data about the Company's exposure to currency risk as at March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020 are as below:

= (In INR Million)
Particulars As at March 31, 2021
USD EURO JPY DKK GBP
Financial assets
Trade receivables 13 - - -
13 - - —
Financial liabilities
Trade payables 232 149 5] 23 o
232 149 o 243 [
Net exposure in respect of recognised assets and liabilities (219) (149) (o) (23) ()
Particulars As at March 31, 2020
USD EURO JPY DKK GBP
Financial assets
Trade receivables 20 - = = ~
20 - - - -
Financial liabilities
Trade payables 102 101 [ 23 [
102 101 [ 23 o
Net exposure in respect of recognised assets and liabilities (82) (101) (o) (23) (0)

Sensitivity analysis

A reasonably possible strengthening /(weakening) of the Indian Rupee against below currencies at March 31, 2021 (previous year ending as on March 31, 2020) would have affected the
measurement of financial instruments denominated in functional currency and affected Staternent of Profit and Loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis is performed on foreign currency
denominated monetary financial assets and financial liabilities outstanding as at the year end. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant and
ignores any impact of forecast sales and purchases.

Particulars Impact on profit after tax and equity Impact on profit after tax and equity

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

1% Increase 1% Decrease 1% Increase 1 % Decrease

15D 2 {2 1 (1)
EURO* 1 (1) 1 [¢V]
Jpy* [} (0) [} (0)
DKK* o (0) [v} (o)
GBP* 3] (0] 0 (o)

3 (3) £ ()

USD: United States Dollar, EUR: Euro, JPY: Japanese Yen, DKK: Danish Krone, GBP: Great British Pound

Note: Zero represents amount below rounding-off norms adopted by the company.
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Exents occurring, after the reporting period:

Approval of financial statements - The linancial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Dircetors on September 6, 1021,

A Civil Writ Petition (Public Interest Litigation) was filed in July 2006 before the High Court of Rajasthan, Jaipur Bench, primarily for restraining the regulatory authorities not to
grant any license to any distillery/ brewery in the district of Alwar, Rajasthan, and also not o allow commencement of production in the units which have been established against the
licenses already granted. The High Court of Rajasthan has dismissed the said Wril Petition vide order dated January 21, 2009. The High Court Order also stated that the matter may
be raised before the State Government, for redressal of grievances by way of filing representation, for their consideration and decision after hearing all concerned parties in
accordance with the law. The hearing has alrcady been held before the Stale Government and the Company had not received any further order / information from the state
government on the said matter, The Company considers the matter as closed since it has not received any correspondence from any department till date over several years

a) There are differences in viewpoints amongst the shareholders ol the intermediate holding company of CIPL. These have percolated to the Company level and resulted in various
exchanges of communications and notices between certain directors on one hand and other directors and the Company on the other hand. Three of the ten directors (‘Complaining
Directors’) wrote letters dated 6th August 2019, 27th August 2019 and 11th February 2020 (‘Complaint Letlers’) to the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) and the Ministry of
Commerce and Industry (MCI) with a copy to the Ministry of Finance (MoF) requesting the regulators to take cognizance and investigate, inter-alia, the [ollowing matters:
ematters referred to in note 55(c), (d), (e), and (h)

«not allowing the Audit Committee to conduct an independent investigation of violation of Competition Act, 2002

blocking of email access to onc of the Complaining Directors;

«asymmetric information sharing with the Complaining Directors;

«de-facto operation by the Managing Director of the Company prior to his appointment;

«Articles of Association are not in consenance with shareholder’s agreement;

«wrong(ul removal of a Complaining Director as the vigil mechanism Director;

MCA through Deputy Registrar of Companies, NCT of Delhi and Haryana Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India (the "Deputy RoC") issued a letter dated 24th October
2019 (received by the Company on 12th November 2019) addressed to the Company and its seven other Directors. The Company submitted a detailed response on 4th December
2019 to the Deputy RoC refuting all allegations raised against the Company and the seven Directors, The seven Directors also submitted their response to the Deputy RoC

The Registrar of Companies, Delhi, Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“"ROC Delhi”) has sent the Company an email communication on 23 October 2020 informing the Company that it
has closed the aforesaid complaints filed by the Complaining directors. Considering closure of the complaints by the ROC Delhi, management and Board by majority, is of the view
that the impact of the above, if any, on the financial statements, is unlikely to be material. However, the Complaining Directors are of the view that the impact of the above, on the
financial statements, can be material.

b) During the financial year, the previous statutory auditor of the Company Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants, LLP ("PW~) made a reporting to the Ministry of Corporate
Alfairs under Section 143(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 on 24th September 2020. Pursuant to the said reporting made by PW, the Deputy Registrar of Companies, Ministry of
Corporate Affairs has initiated inspection of books of accounts under Section 206(5) of the Companies Act, 2013. In that regard, on 26th November 2020 and on 7th July 2021, the
Company received notices from Deputy Registrar of Companies whereby information and documents were sought from the Company. The Company has submitted all the informalion
and documents to the Deputy Registrar, as required by them vide its letters dated 16th & 20th December 2020, 1st April 2021 and 21st July 2021, respectively. The Company has not
received any further communication in this regard,

¢} Trade Discounts and sales promotional schemes:

In line with the general practice in alco-bev industry, the Company provides trade schemes. Total trade scheme related expenditure aggregated to MINR 1,836 (2019-20: MINR
2,208) for year ended 315t March 2021 which is deducted rom "Revenue from Operations' in Note 28 to the financial statements except for Nil (2019-20: MINR 42) shown as
exceptional item. The Company also incurred advertisement and sales promotional expenditure which aggregated to MINR 332 (2019-20: MINR 804) [or the year ended 31st March
2021 included in Note 34 to these (inancial statements.

In October 2018, a speak up matter was reported concerning the legality and administration of Company’s discount practices. Under supervision of the Audit Committee of the Board,
a comprehensive review of its trade practices was conducted, and legal opinions were obtained from three reputed Indian law firms in relation Lo its trade practices in various states.
In this connection, the Company also engaged a big four consulting firm to provide prolessional services to a law firm to (a) undertake a review of the process and documentation
relating to trade discounts operated by the Company in selected markets; and (b) undertake a market study to understand — how and what types of sales promotion activities are
generally undertaken by the alco-bev industry in selected states.

The report of the big four consulting firm observed that the trade practices of the Company are in line with the general trade practice of the alco-bev industry and also identified
certain internal controls issues in relation to the modus operandi of the discount procedures namely, lack of written agreements between the Company and third party beneficiaries,
lack of proper compliance with Know Your Customers ( KYC) norms by third party beneficiaries, lack of checks and balances on utilisation of amounts allocated to area sales
managers, lack of consistency in rebate amounts provided to the beneficiaries.

Based on the external legal opinions, insights of the industry practices obtained by the aforesaid big four consulting firm and internal analysis, Company’s management submitted its
recommendations regarding the practice of providing trade programs in various states to the Audit Committee for its review and recommendations and to the Board on January 22,
2020, The said recommendations inter-alia included sending intimation to various state authorities and corporations and develop comprehensive trade program process and controls.
Based on the reports and legal opinions received, the Board of the Company, in its meeting held on 25 February 2020, by majority, approved the recommendations of the
management and decided to implement a comprehensive list of measures to further strengthen its processes and controls mitigating the above control issues. The Complaining
Directors voted against the management recommendations stating that payments without explicit approvals (rom state excise authorities and to other than license holders, in their
view, will lead to breach of laws and misappropriation of Company’s funds. All these measures approved by the Board including communication of its trade practices to the state
excise authorities have already been implemented by the management of the Company. The Company has received response letters from {our States. One State has intimated to the
Company that the trade schemes are prohibited within their jurisdiction where the Company has stopped providing trade schemes. The other state stated that influencing the
consumers is not deemed as a right practice. The third state has imposed a nominal penaity of MINR 0.3 on account of delay in intimation to the state. The fourth state has asked the
Company to clarify if the trade practices of the Company impact the retail price of the products in the state, and the Company has given its response.

The Company’s management is of the view that the extension of trade schemes is an industry wide practice and CIPL management and its advising law firms have not come across any
precedent or related enforcement in respect of the trade schemes till date. Therefore, the impact, if any, on the financial statements is not expected to be material. The board, by
majority, agrees with CIPL's management viewpoint in this regard.
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55 d) Advertising and Promotion:
The Company has obtained legal upinions with respect to the legality of its advertisement and promotional activities including brand extension promalion.
The board, by majority, holds the view that its advertisement and promotional activities are in line with industry wide practices and the Company and its advising externai legal firm
have not come across any cnforcement with respeet to the same until to date. The Board considers the matter closed. However, the Complaining Directors are of the opinion thal the
advertising and promotional activitics of the Company are not in compliance with the law

e) Vigil Mechanism:

The Company has a Vigil Mechanism as required by Section 177(9) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 7 of the Companics (Meetings of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014,
contained in the “CIPL Speak up Manual™ and “CIPL Misconduct Investigation Manual™ which were unanimously approved by the Board in its mecting held on April 26, 2018.
Pursuant to these manuals, certain high exposure matters should be investigated by the Integrity Committee at Carlsberg Group level in Denmark with regular information and
updates to the Audit Committee and Board of Directors of the Company. Although the Complaining Directors are of the view that the vigil mechanism is not in compliance with
Indian Company Law and matters are being handled outside of the Company governance mechanism, the Board, by majority, supported by external counsel opinion, are of the view
that the Vigil Mechanism is operating in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013.

£) During the carlier financial years, the Company received communication through its Vigil Mechanism pertaining Lo certain alleged unlawful/uncthical practices. Matters raised
through vigil mechanism are dealt with in accordance with the Misconduct Investigation Manual of the Company, with the assistance of external counscl and forensic experts
wherever considered necessary.

The concluded investigations indicated certain inlernal control weaknesses and a possibility that certain practices of the Company in carlier years might not be in compliance with the
applicable laws, Company’'s Code of Ethics & Conduct, and policies, although the amount involved could not be ascertained. The Board of Directors of the Company in its meeting
dated 7th May 2020, approved certain disciplinary and remedial actions to strengthen CIPL's inlernal controls, governance, risk, and compliance processes, The Company has
implemented all disciplinary and remedial aclions,

During the current financial year, the Company received communication through its Vigil Mechanism pertaining to certain alleged unlawful/uncthical practices. The company has
concluded certain investigations while some of them are still in progress. The Company already implemented some of the disciplinary and remedial actions related to those
investigations while some are in progress

The impact, if any, of the above matters on the financial statements of the Company, is not expected to be material. The board, by majority, agrees with CIPL's management viewpoint
in this regard.

g) CCI Investigation

On October 10, 2018, a search and seizure operation were conducted under the applicable provisions of the Competition Act, 2002 by officials from the office of Director General,
Competition Commission of India (*CCI") at the Head office of the Company in Gurgaon. The Company engaged an external law firm to assist the Company in the ongoing
investigation. Pursuant to this, the Company has made requisite filings and certain officials of the Company have appeared before the Director General of CCI (DG). The DG has
submitted the investigation report to the CCI for consideration which was also communicated to the company on 13th December 2019, followed up with an updated report on dated
19th March 2020, for filing its suggestions/objections, if any. During the year, the Company and certain current and past employees filed their respective responses to the DG Report.
CCI heard the matter on 11 February 2021 and 2 March 2021 and after hearing the parties involved, reserved it for the judgment. Management, along-with its legal advisors, believe
that there are mitigating factors to counter presumptions made against the Company by the CCI under the Competition Act, 2002, which have also been highlighted in the comments
/ objections to the investigation report and during hearing submissions filed by the Company. Pending conclusion of this matter by the CCI, the management and its legal counsels
are of the view that it is not practicable to state an estimate of its financial effect, if any.

h) During a routine review by the Company’s management in the financial year ended March 31, 2020, misappropriation of amounts aggregating to MINR 10.5 and accounting of
corresponding expenditure without supporting documents in earlier years by a former employee was revealed. The Company has registered First Information Report with the Police
against the said former employee. The Police has filed charge sheet before the local district court and the matter is now list (or the framing of the charges against the accused
employee on 19 October2o21. Further, the Company’s management, during the previous financial year, had taken necessary preventive and remedial measures including further
strengthening of internal controls.

i) AGM 2018-19

Pursuant to Section 96 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Company had obtained extension from RoC to conduct its Annual General Meeting for the year ended 31st March 2019 till
25th December 2019 via letter dated 28th November 2019, issued by the RoC. The Company held its AGM on 24th December 2019. However the audited financial statements of the
Company for FY18-19 could not be laid in the AGM due to pending approval at that time by the Board of Directors and for this purpose the AGM was adjourned till 15 January 2020
resulting in non-compliance of certain provisions of the Companies Act, 2013. The Company may be liable to certain fines for non-completion of AGM within permitted timelines by
the RoC in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013. On 2nd December 2020, the Company filed the compounding application under the provisions of the
Companies Act, 2013. On 6th August 2021, the Company received belatedly a letter from the office of Regional Director dated 12th July 2021 wherein the Company was called to
attend the hearing before the Directorate on 19th July 2021. The Company through its consultants have now requested the Regional Director office to reschedule the meeting on a
future date.

The impact, if any, of the above matters on the financial statements of the Company, is not expected to be material,
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As at
March 31, 2021

As at
March 31, 2020

56 Equity accounted investee

Investment in equity instruments
Unquoted equity shares of joint venture company

Intevest fn Joint ven

s e

NCC Crowns Private Limited

125

121

During the year ended March 31, 2016, the Company bad entered into a joint venture agreement with Nippon Closure Co. Ltd (fapan) for
manufacturing and selling of bottle caps. As part of the agreement, the Company has 33.33% shareholding in the joint venture (NCC Crowns
Private Limited incorporated in India) hereinafter referred to as "NCC") and accordingly, had invested INR 123,000,000.

The following table summarises the financial information of NCC and the carrying amount of the Company's Interest in NCC.

Summarised Balance Sheet

As at
March 31, 2021

As at
March 31, 2020

Current assets

- Cash and cash equivalents 70 59

- Other current assets 249 215
Total current assets (A) 319 o74
Total non-current assets (B) 326 355
Current liabilities

- Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables) 18 90

- Other liabilities 125 109
Total current liabilities (C) 243 109
Non-current liabilities

- Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables) 21 63

- Other liabilities 2 a
Total non-current liabilities (D) 23 65
Net assets (A+B-C-D) 379 365

. As at Asat

Summarised statement of profit and loss Marelzoz: March a1, 2020
Revenue 342 491
Other income 5 1
Total income 347 492
Depreciation and amortisation 3t 31
Finance costs 6 6
Other expenses 293 438
Tax expense 5 5
Total expense 235 a80
Profit from continuing operations 12 12
Profit from discontinued continuing operations - -
Profit for the year 12 12
Other comprehensive income/(loss) (0) [
Total preh ive i 12 12
Percentage ownership interest 33.33% 33.33%
Non-current assets 326 355
Current assets (including cash and cash equivalents 319 274
- March 31, 2021 : MINR 70, (March 31, 2020 : MINR 59)
Non-current liabilities (23) (65)
Current liabilities (243) (199)
Net Assets 379 365
Group's share of Net assets (353.93%) 125 121
Carrying an of interest in joint venture 125 121
Company share of :
Profit or loss from continuing operations 4 3
Other comprehensive income/(loss) (0) 0
Total compreh ive income E 2
Adjustment of previous vear losses - -
Total hensive i Fl 3
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Capital Management

For the purpose of the Company's capital management, capilal includes issued equity share capital, share premium and all other equits reserves attributable to
the equily holders of the Company. The primary objective of the management of the Company’s capilal structure is to maintain an efficient mix of debt and equity
in order to achieve a low cost of capital, while laking into account the desirabilily of retaining financial flexibility Lo pursue business opportunities and adeguate
access to liguidity to miligate the effect of unforeseen cvents on cash flows
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic condilions. To maintain or adjust the capilal structure,
the Company may return capital to sharcholders, raise new debt or issue new shares. No changes were made in Lhe objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years end March 31, 2020 and 2021.
The Company monitors capital on the basis of the debt to capital ratio, which is calculated as interest-bearing debts divided by total capital (equity attributable to
owners of the parent plus interest-bearing debts).
MINR
As at March 31, 2021 As at March 31, 2020

Short-term borrowings 245 845

Less : Cash and cash equivalent (excluding 2,724 211
overdraft included above)

Adjusted net debt (A) - 634
Total equity(B) 12,899 11,949
Adjusted net debt to adjusted equity ratio (A/B) 0% 5%
Loan Covenants

Under the terms of the bank overdraft facility, the Company is not required to comply with any financial covenants

Dividends
The Company has not declared dividend during current and previous year

Few of the minutes of meetings of the Board of the Company are not approved/signed/maintained in accordance with the timelines mentioned in the seeretarial
standard read with section 118 of the Companies Act 2013. The Company is evaluating the same and is in the process of {illing compounding application under the
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 with respect to the delay in maintenance of minutes of the Board Meetings.

Additionally, minutes of few committee meetings (not the statutory commmittees formed under the Companies Act) pertaining to the previous financial year and
minutes of one committee meeting for the current financial year were not approved/signed/maintained.

In view of the nationwide lockdown due to the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic, the Company’s operations at all of its manufacturing, warehousing and office
locations were temporarily stopped from March 25, 2020. Operations have since resumed in a staggered manner beginning May 2020 with adequate precautions
being taken in accordance with Government guidelines, and all of the Company’s manufacturing locations are operational as at the date of approval of the
financial statements. Counsidering the expirable nature of the goods coupled with low demand in the market, there has been an impact of MINR 391 for the year
cnded 31 March 2020, which has been separately shown in the Statement of Profit and Loss account as Exceptional Iterns. Subsequent to the year-ended 31
March 2021, there had been a surge in the spread of COVID-19 in India and various state governments imposed restrictions ranging from curfew / lockdown to
contain the spread of COVID19. The Company has taken various precautionary measures to protect its employees from COVID-19. Based on management
evaluation, no further material impact on the carrying amounts of current and non-current assets (including financial assets) is expected. Management has
considered various internal and external information available up to the date of approval of financial results in assessing the impact of COVID-19 pandemic in the
financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 and will continue to monitor changes in future economic conditions. The eventual outcome of the impact
of COVID-19 may be different from that estimated as on the date of approval of these financial statements.

For T R Chadha & Co LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registratio

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Carlsberg India Private Limited
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Members,
CARLSBERG INDIA PRIVATE LIMITED

arlsberg

¥

India

Your Directors take the pleasure in presenting herewith their Fifteenth (15%) Annual Report

on the business of your Company together with the Audited Financial Statements (Standalone

& Consolidated) for the Financial Year ended 31st March 2021.

1. FINANCIAL SUMMARY AND HIGHLIGHTS:

AUDITED FINANCIAL SUMMARY (STAND ALONE)

Rs. In Million
Particulars For the For the Financial
Financial Year Year ended 31st
ended 31st March 2020
March 2021
Profit/(Loss) before tax 1200 1493
Less: Current Tax - -
Less: Tax paid in respect of earlier years - -
Less: Deferred Tax including MAT (253) (1652)
credit
Profit/(Loss) for the year after Tax 947 (159)
Other Comprehensive Income / Expense 8 (10)
Total Comprehensive Income for the year 955 (169)
AUDITED FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONSOLIDATED)
Rs. In Million
Particulars For the For the Financial
Financial Year Year ended 31st
ended 31+ March, 2020
March 2021
Profit/(Loss) before tax 1204 1496
Less: Current Tax - -
Less: Tax paid in respect of earlier years - -
Less: Deferred Tax including MAT credit (253) (1652)
Profit/(Loss) for the year after Tax 951 (156)

Carlsberg India Private Limited

Corporate Office : 3rd Floor, Tower A, Paras Twin Towers, Sector 54, Gurgaon 122 002, Haryana, India ?h. : 491 124 4554444 Fax : +91 124 4554499
Page 1 of 27

Dharuherc Brewery : HP Brewery - angana Brewery :

Plot No. 2,
Industrial Estate,
Dharuhera 123 106
Haryana, India

Ph. : 0127 4243288

Rajasthan Brewery : Maharashtra Brewen, :

Registered Office : 4th Floor, Rectangle No. 1, Commercial Complex, D4, Saket, New Delhi 110 017, India.

Bihar Brewery :

Kolkata Brewery :

CIN No : UIS1DL2006PTC148579
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Mysore Brewery
Sy.No. 374,
Immavu indL Area
Immavu Village,
Nanjangud Tq,

Tokion, Poonta Sahib, SP 1-4 & B5-8, H-17/\/1, Survey No.-281/293, Plot No. 1, Viltage. Belmuri,

Distt. Sirmour 173 021  MIA Extn,, MIDC Waluj, Mallepally, Kondapur(M), Mauza Raghunathpur, Mouza-Bagnan,

Himachal.Pradesh, Alwar 301 030 Aurangabad 431136  Sangareddy Distt. 502295 P.S.- Rani Talab, Bikram, P.O Chaitanyabati,

India Rajasthan, India Maharashtra, India Telangana, India Patna, Bihar-801104 P. S Dhaniakhati,

Ph.: 01704 645401 Ph.: 0144 2881076  Ph.: 0240 2555101-2  Ph. : 08455 230113-115 Ph. : 06135-2530020 Distt. Hooghly-712301 Mysore- 571302,
Fax: 01704 255161 Fax : 0144 2881177 Fax: 0240 2555103 Fax : 08455 230116 Ph.:03213-251771

Kamataka, India



Other Comprehensive Income / Expense 8 (10)

“Total Comprehensive Income / Loss for the 959 (166)
year

Notes

1. These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting
Standards (Ind AS) and the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015
notified under Section 133 of Companies Act, 2013, (the ‘Act’) and other relevant
provisions of the Act.

2. The consolidated financial statements of CIPL are prepared based on the audited
financial statements of its Associate, M/s NCC Crowns PrivateLimited.

2. BUSINESS PERFORMANCE/ STATE OF COMPANY’S AFFAIRS

The Financial Year under review was a difficult year for the alco-bev industry due to the
imposition of National lockdown from 23 March 2020 to contain the repaid spread of
COVID-19 virus. During the lockdown period, manufacturing as well as off-trade and on-
trade outlets selling of alcohol, including beer were shut. Several states extended the lockdown
imposition beyond June 2020. It resulted in severe impact during the peak months for beer
sales with no sales of beer taking place in the month of April 2021. The phases of lockdown
continued in various states until December 2020 before the situation stabilized in January 2021.
The beer industry volume declined versus the previous Financial Year 2019-20 by 33% and the
volume of Carlsberg India declined by 31% versus the previous Financial Year with some
gains in market shares in several states.

Carlsberg India has healthy brands with sustained investment and operational efficiency to
bounce back from such unprecedented business environment. EBIT after exceptional items
declined by 21% versus the previous Financial Year 2019-20. The exceptional items included
one-off charges for product expiry stocks due to lockdown. The Company saw significant
improvement in cash and balances of Rs 2,315Mn to Rs 2,603Mn due to better trade working
capital and lower capital investment spend during the Financial Year under review.

Your Directors are pleased to inform you that, on the basis of the received estimated market
share data your Company has been able to achieve “3¢ ” position in the Indian Beer Market
and garnered around 15.8% (estimated) market share (considering markets where Company
operates).

3. CHANGE IN THE NATURE OF BUSINESS

During the Financial Year 2020-2021, there was no change in the nature of business of the
Company.

Major focus in the Financial Year gone by was on handling COVID induced challenges while
preparing the organization for rebound. This was ensured through a dedicated focus on
business continuity and ensuring wellbeing of our employees. Various initiatives were
designed, launched & institutionalized to gear up the organization for post COVID journey.
Our people priorities were clubbed under-ENABLE | ENRICH | ENERGIZE as follows:

ENABLE - As part of our endeavor to ENABLE remote working & business focus; Connect
Forums were strengthened and institutionalized ensuring flow of information, review of work
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schedules & development discussions ensuring that THE employees do not feel isolated AND
stay connected to Organization’s priorities.

ENRICH - In order to build efficiencies as part of our rebound strategy, through ENRICH
Program we focused on capability building - cross functional sessions, upskilling and
reskilling programs.

ENERGIZE - Engagement and Fun@Work initiatives were launched driving the culture of
appreciation and energizing the workforce through reward and recognition programs and
engagement platforms involving their families.

To keep control over the cost, your Company also revisited manning norms and organization
structures bringing in more efficiencies. A restructuring exercise was conducted in later half
of the Financial Year under review apart from putting hiring on freeze at the beginning of the
year itself.

Your Company further pursued process automation and revamped Performance
Management System and digitize Reward and Recognition modules. To further simplify work
processes and enhance employee experience, Talent Acquisition and Talent Development are
in pipeline.

Your Company has implemented Carlsberg group strategy of “SAIL 22" which is a journey to
strengthen the business, positioning itself for identified growth opportunities and deliver
enhanced value to its shareholders. In line with this strategy, new behaviors have also been
developed for a winning employee culture. “Triple A” behaviors of Accountability, Alignment
and Action, are the guiding principles that will further enable this culture building. Employee
relationship throughout the year was cordial and very supportive of business performance
across all locations.

During the year under review, the Company has imparted continuous Compliance Trainings
to the employees of the Company on various Company’s policies including Code of Ethics &
Conduct, Anti-bribery & Corruption Policy, and Competition Law Compliance Policy.

5. PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES

Pursuant to the provisions of section 197 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 5(2) of the
Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, the
disclosure for the details of remuneration of the employees is not applicable to the Company.

6. HOLDING COMPANIES/SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES/ JOINT VENTURE

During the Financial Year 2020-21, your Company has neither entered into any new Joint
Venture agreement nor any amalgamation, merger or takeover has taken place.

Your Company continues to be the subsidiary of South Asian Breweries Pte Ltd., Singapore.

Your Company has an Associate Company i.e., NCC Crowns Private Limited. A statement
pursuant to first proviso to Section-3 of Section 129 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule-
5 of The Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 in Form AOC-1, is enclosed herewith and marked
as Annexure- A, which forms part of this report.

The following are the key financial highlights of NCC Crowns Private Limited, associate of
your Company.
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(Rs. In Millions)

Particulars For the For the
Financial Year Financial Year
ended 31st ended 31t
March 2021 March 2020
Revenue from operations 342,146 491.072
Other Income 5.268 1.065
Total Expenditure 329.641 474.743
Profit/(Loss) before tax 17.773 17.394
Less: Current Tax 2.946 2,920
Less: Tax paid in respect of earlier years
Less: Deferred Tax including 2.228 2.010
MAT creditentitlement
Profit/(Loss) for the year after Tax 12.599 12.464
Other Comprehensive Income / Expense (0.127) 0.004
Total Comprehensive Income / Loss for the 12472 12.468
year

7. CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Presently the authorized share capital of the Company is INR. 1,795,800,000/- (One Billion
Seven Hundred Ninety-Five Million Eight Hundred Thousand only) divided into 179,580,000
(One Hundred Seventy-Nine Million Five Hundred Eighty Thousand only) shares of INR. 10/ -
(INR Ten) each.

The paid-up equity share capital of the Company is INR. 576,125,910/- (Five Hundred
Seventy-Six Million One Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand Nine Hundred Ten only) divided
into 57,612,591 (Fifty-Seven Million Six Hundred Twelve Thousand Five Hundred Ninety-
One) equity shares of INR. 10/- (INR Ten) each. The paid-up preference share capital of the
Company is INR. 245,113,330/ - (INR Two Hundred Forty-Five Million One Hundred Thirteen
Thousand Three Hundred Thirty only) divided into 24,511,333 (Twenty-Four Million Five
Hundred Eleven Thousand Three Hundred Thirty-Three) preference shares of INR. 10/ - (INR
Ten) each.

8. ALTERATION OF MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION AND ARTICLES OF
- ASSOCIATION : ;

During the Financial Year under review, your Company has not altered its Memorandum of
Association and Articles of Association.

9. RESERVES

During the Financial Year under review, profit amounting to MINR 955 (Nine Fifty Five
MINR) under the standalone financial statement has been carried forward to Reserve and
Surplus including other comprehensive income in the Balance Sheet.

10. DIVIDEND

Your Directors did not recommend any dividend for the said Financial Year under review due
to carry forward losses.
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11. DEPOSITS

During the Financial Year under review the Company has not accepted any deposits from
public under Section 73 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules made thereunder. Hence, no
amount of principal or interest was outstanding as on the Balance SheetDate.

Further, during the Year under review the Company has not received any money from the
Director(s) of the Company or his (their) relative(s).

12. LOANS, GUARANTEES OR INVESTMENTS

During the year under review, neither the Company gave any loans to any person or body
corporate nor has provided any guarantee or security in connection with loans to any other
person or body corporate.

13. CONTRACTS OR ARRANGEMENTS WITH RELATED PARTIES

The necessary details relating to contracts/arrangements entered into by your Company with
related parties, are enclosed herewith in the prescribed Form AOC 2 and marked as
“Annexure - B”, which forms part of this report.

14. DIRECTOR/ KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL

The following changes had taken place in the composition of the Board of Directors/KMP of
your Company:

1. Mr. Jan Thieme Rasmussen [DIN:08792661] was appointed as Additional Director of the
Company with effect from 20t August 2020.

2. Mr. Matthijs Dirk Jongejan [DIN: 08818010] was appointed as Additional Director of the
Company with effect from 20t August 2020.

3. Mr. Prabhat Singh [DIN: 08834317] was appointed as Additional Director of the Company
with effect from 20t August 2020.

4. Ms. Lee-Peng Chow [DIN: 08205090] resigned from the position of Director of your
Company with effect from 20t August2020.

5. Mr. Roland Arthur Lawrence [DIN: 06367644] resigned from the position of Director of
your Company with effect from 20t August2020.

6. Mr. Soon Keong Yeo [DIN: 08173605] resigned from the position of Director of your
Company with effect from 20t August2020.

7. Mr. Jan Thieme Rasmussen [DIN:08792661] was appointed as Director of the Company
in the 14t Annual General Meeting with effect from 27t November 2020.

8. Mr. Matthijs Dirk Jongejan [DIN: 08818010] was appointed as Director of the Company
in the 14 Annual General Meeting with effect from 27t November 2020.

9. Mr. Prabhat Singh [DIN: 08834317] was appointed as Director of the Company in the 14th
Annual General Meeting with effect from 27t November 2020.

10. Mr. Matthijs Dirk Jongejan [DIN: 08818010] resigned from the position of Director of
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your Company with effect from 21st March 2021.

11. Mr. Graham James Fewkes [DIN: 02401730] resigned from the position of Director of your
Company with effect from 21st March 2021.

12. Mr. Peter Steenberg [DIN: 07440024] was appointed as Additional Director of the
Company with effect from 20t August 2020.

13. Mr. Soren Flensborg [DIN: 09106072] was appointed as Additional Director of the
Company with effect from 20t August 2020.

14. Mr. Philip Andrew Hodges [DIN: 08175233] resigned from the position of Director of
your Company with effect from 8t June 2021.

Your Company being a private limited company is not required to appoint Independent
Director(s) on its Board of Directors and no commission has been received by the Managing
Director or Whole Time Director of the Company either from the Holding or Subsidiary
Company.

15. MEETINGS OF THE BOARD AND ATTENDANCE

During the year under review, the Board of Directors of your Company has met 13 (Thirteen)
times as per below details:

1. 30% April 2020 2. 7% May 2020 3. 15t June 2020

4. 24t June 2020 5. 3t July 2020 6. 20t August 2020

7. 9% September 2020 8. 7th October 2020 9. 2rd November 2020
10. 2rd December 2020 11. 28th January 2021 12. 8% March 2021

13. 22nd March 2021

ATTENDANCE
S. No.| Director’s Name NUMBER OF NUMBER OF
MEETINGS MEETINGS
ATTENDED
1. Graham James Fewkes 12 12
2 Roland Arthur Lawrence 6 6
3. Pawan Jagetia 13 13
4, Nilesh Patel 13 13
5. Muthuraman Ramanathan 13 13
6. Lee-Peng Chow 6 6
7. Philip Andrew Hodges 13 13
8. SoonKeong Yeo 6 6
9. | Kalpataru Tripathy 13 12
10. | Troels Libak Stollberg 13 13
11. | Matthijs Dirk Jongejan 6 >
12. | Jan Thieme Rasmussen 7 7
13. | Prabhat Singh 7 7
14. | Soren Flensborg 1 1
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16. COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

As on the date of this Report, the Board of Directors of your Company has constituted below
Committees:

Corporate Social Responsibility Committee;
Audit Committee;

Finance Committee;

Lol A

Corporate Affairs Committee;
5. Remuneration Committee;

1. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILTYCOMMITTEE

In compliance with the provisions of Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with
Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility) Rules, 2014, the Board of Directors of your
Company had already constituted the Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Committee,
which was re-constituted on 2rd December 2020, with the following Members:

a) Nilesh Patel;

b) Roland Arthur Lawrence [upto 20t August 2020]
¢) Muthuraman Ramanathan

d) Troels Stollberg [from 2rd December 2020]

There is no change in the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy of the Company. During the
Financial Year 2020-21, the CSR Committee has not met.

During the year under review, since your Company was not having the required surplus of
profits, the Company was not liable to spend any amount for CSR activities.

However, the disclosure regarding content of Corporate Social Responsibility Policy, forms
part of this report and has been marked as “Annexure - C”.

2. AUDIT COMMITTEE:

Your Company is not mandatorily required to constitute Audit Committee under the
provisions of Section 177 of the Companies Act, 2013. The Board of Directors of your Company
had however constituted an Audit Committee voluntarily on 21st September 2017, for

strengthening the governance, which during the FY 2020-21 comprised of the following
members:

a) SoonKeong Yeo [upto 20t August 2020]

b) Mark Jongejan [upto 21st March 2021]

c) Kalpataru Tripathy [From 20t August 2020 till 28% June 2021]
d) Peter Steenberg [22rd March 2021]

e) Pawan Jagetia [from 28% June 2021]

The detailed terms of reference of this Committee was approved by the Board vide its
resolution dated 12t December 2017 and amended by the Board vide its resolution dated 34
December 2019. During the Financial Year 2020-21, the Audit Committee met fourteen (14)
Times. Subsequent to Financial Year, Mr. Soon Keong Yeo has resigned from the Audit
Committee with effect from 20t August 2020 and Mr. Kalpataru Tripathy, Director joined
the Audit Committee with effect from 20t August 2020. Further Mr. Mark Jongejan resigned
from the committee with effect from 21st March 2021 and Mr. Peter Steenberg joined with effect
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from 22nd March 2021.

During the Financial year 2021-22 Mr. Kalpataru Tripathy resigned from the Audit Committee
with effect from 28t June 2021 and Mr. Pawan Jagetia joined with effect from 28t June 2021.

The Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee were amended by the decision of the Board
on 28% January 2021.

3. FINANCE COMMITTEE:

The Board of Directors of your Company has constituted a Finance Committee vide its
resolution dated 26t April 2018, for strengthening the governance, which currently comprises
the following members:

a) Roland Arthur Lawrence [upto 20t August 2020]
b) Jan Thieme Rasmussen [from 20t August 2020]; and
c) Pawan Kumar Jagetia

The terms of reference of this Committee was approved by the Board on 20th September 2018.
During the Financial Year 2020-21 the Finance Committee has met Seven (7) Times.
Subsequent to the end of Financial Year, Mr. Roland Arthur Lawrence has resigned from the
Finance Committee with effect from 20t August 2020 and Jan Thieme Rasmussen has joined
the Finance Committee with effect from 20t August 2020.

There is no change in the Terms of Reference of the Finance Committee during the Financial
Year 2020-21.

4. CORPORATE AFFAIRS COMMITTEE:

The Board of Directors of your Company has constituted a Corporate Affairs Committee vide
its resolution dated 26t April 2018, for strengthening the governance.

The Committee was reconstituted on 25t February 2020 and Mr. Troels Libak Stollberg was
added as new member of the Committee. At present the Committee is comprised of following
members:

1. Pawan Kumar Jagetia

2. Troels Libak Stolberg

The terms of reference of this Committee were reconfirmed by the Board on 25t February
2020. During the Financial year 2020-21 the Committee has only Once.

5. REMUNERATION COMMITTEE:

The Board of Directors of your Company has constituted a Remuneration Committee vide its
resolution dated 26t April 2018, for strengthening the governance. The Committee was re-
constituted on 20t September 2018 with the following members:

a) Philip Andrew Hodges [upto 8t June 2021]
b) Pawan Kumar Jagetia
c) Troels Libak Stolberg [from 11t June 2021]

The terms of reference of this Committee was approved by the Board on 20t September 2018.
During the Financial Year 2020-21 the Remuneration Committee has met Three (3) Time.

17. INTERNAL AUDITORS
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M/s Ernst & Young LLP were appointed as the Internal Auditors of the Company in the Board
Meeting dated 25" January 2018 for 3 (three) Financial Year(s) i.e. 2017-18, 2018-19 and 2019-
20. During the Financial Year, M/s. Ernst and Young completed its engagement. During the
Financial Year, your Directors have decided that the Company shall hire Head of Internal
Audit on CIPL’s Payroll to perform the function of the Internal Audit. The Company is in the
process of hiring Head of Internal Audit.

18. STATUTORY AUDITORS

M/s Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP (FRN-012754N/N500016), were
appointed as the Statutory Auditor in the 11th Annual General Meeting of the Company for a
term of five years with effect from Financial Year 2017-18 t02021-22. During the Financial Year,
by their letter dated 2°d November 2020, M/s Price Waterhouse resigned from being the
statutory auditor of the Company. On 2nd December 2020, your directors filled the casual
vacancy created due to the resignation of M/s Price Waterhouse by appointing M/s. T. R.
Chadha & Co. LLP (LLP Identification No. AAF - 3926) as the Statutory Auditor of the
Company. M/s. T. R. Chadha & Co. LLP will hold the office upto the conclusion of the next
Annual General Meeting.

19. STATUTORY AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors has duly examined the Statutory Auditors’” Report received from M/s.
T. R. Chadha and Co. LLP, for the Financial Year ended 31st March 2021.

The Statutory Auditors of the Company have given a qualified opinion in their reports on
standalone financial statements (“SFS”) and the consolidated financial statements (“CFS”) of
the Company for the year ended 31st March 2021 because of the following matters described
in the Basis of Qualification of Opinion section of their reports:

S.No. Auditor’s Observation Board’s Response

1. Paragraph 3 of statutory | Asperlaw aswell as Articles of Association

auditor’s report on SFS and CFS
respectively

of Company, the financial statements may
be approved by majority decision.

auditor’s report on SFS and CFS
respectively.

2. Paragraph 4 of statutory auditor’s | These matters are dealt with in notes 55(a),
report on SFS and CFS|and (b) of SFS and notes 55(a) and (b) of
respectively CFS.

3 Paragraph 5 of the statutory | These matters are dealt with in notes 55(a),
auditor’s report on SFS and CFS | (c) and (d) of SFS and notes 55(a), (c) and
respectively. (d) of CFS.

4. Paragraph 6 of the statutory | These matters are dealt with in notes 55(f)

of SFS and notes 55(f) of CFS.

Page 9 of 27




S.No. Auditor’s Observation Board’s Response
5. Paragraph 7 of the statutory | These matters are dealt with in note 55(g) of
auditor’s report on SFS and CFS | SFS and note 55(g) of CFES.
respectively.
6. Paragraph 8 of the statutory | These matters are dealt with in note 50 and
auditor’s report on SFS and CFS | (g) of SFS and note 50 of CFS.
respectively.

The Statutory Auditors of the Company have given Emphasis of Matter in their reports on SFS
and CFS of the Company for the year ended 31st March 2021 because of the following matters
described in the Basis of Qualification of Opinion section of their reports:

S.No. Auditor’s Observation Board’s Response

1. Paragraph 10 of statutory | These matters are dealt with in note 55(e) of
auditor’s report on SFS and CFS | SFS and note 55(e) of CFS.
respectively

2. Paragraph 11 of statutory | These matters are dealt with in note 55(i) of
auditor’s report on SFS and CFS | SFS and note 55(i) of CFS.
respectively

3. Paragraph 12 of statutory | These matters are dealt with in note 57 of

auditor’s report on SFS and CFS
respectively

SFES and note 57 of CFS.

4. Paragraph 13 of statutory
auditor’s report on SFS and CFS
respectively

These matters are dealt with in note 58 of
SFS and note 58 of CFS.

20. FRAUD REPORTING BY THE STATUTORY AUDITOR

The erstwhile Statutory Auditor of your Company M/s. Price Waterhouse, LLP Chartered
Accountant had issued a report dated 14% August 2020 to the Board under Section 143(12) of
the Companies Act, 2013 on suspected offence involving fraud being committed or having

been committed against the Company by officers or employees of the Company (“Auditor’s
Letter”).

Your Company has carefully considered the various issues stated in the Auditor’s Letter and
provided a detailed response to the statutory auditor through its letter dated 10% September
2020 on the items set out in the said Auditor’s Letter. It is the view of the Board that various
matters were identified by the Company itself and the Company has continuously taken
actions in ¥egard to the various allegations including actions as decided in the Board meeting
held on 30t April 2020 / 7t May 2020, and necessary preventive measures to mitigate the risk
of fraud including further strengthening of internal controls. The Board is also of the view that
most of the matters mentioned in the Auditor’s Letter do not fall within the expressions ‘fraud’
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under the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”) requiring reporting under Section 143(12) of the Act
of Directors of your Company. The Board understand that the Statutory Auditor have
submitted a report dated 24th September 2020 to the Central Government in thatregard.

On 27th November 2020, an email was received from the office of the Registrar of Companies
(ROC) containing a Notice regarding initiation of the inspection under section 206(5) of the
Companies act 2013. Vide that Notice the ROC asked for certain information from the
Company, which the Company had provided. The Inspector had sought further information
which was provided by the Company by letter/email dated 1st April 2021 and 21t July 2021.
Your Company is sharing information as has been asked for till now without failure. The
officials of the office of the Registrar of the Companies have once visited the registered office
of the Company situated in New Delhi dated 5% April 2021 and the officials of the Company
met them and also assisted them in documents inspection.

21. VIGIL MECHANISM

Pursuant to Section 177(9) of the Act read with Rule 7 of The Companies (Meetings of Board
and its Powers) Rules, 2014, your Company has constituted a Vigil Mechanism in the form of
Speak Up Manual and Misconduct Investigation Manual that enables the Directors and all
the Employees to report their genuine concerns or grievances. The Vigil Mechanism provides
for adequate safeguards against the victimization of persons, who use the Vigil Mechanism.
During the year under review, Mr. Roland Lawrence, the director responsible for reporting
and monitoring the Vigil Mechanism of the Company in line with Vigil Mechanism Policy,
was succeeded by Mr. Matthijs Dirk Jongejan as Mr. Roland Lawrence has resigned from the
position of Director of the Company with effect from 20t August 2020. Further, Mr. Matthijs Dirk
Jongejan resigned as the Director with effect from 22nrd March 2021 and the Board appointed
Mr. Peter Steenberg as Vigil Mechanism Director with effect from 28 June 2021.

The Statutory Auditors have noted the Vigil Mechanism of the Company under the Emphasis
of Matter on account of the views of three directors that the Vigil Mechanism is not in
compliance with Indian Company Law and matters are being handled outside of the
Company’s governance mechanism. The Board believes that the Vigil Mechanism, as
currently constituted in CIPL, is in accordance with the requirements of Section 177(9) of the
Act and with the actions as described, management is further strengthening its process and
controls and therefore mitigating the risk of non-compliance. The Company has also received
a legal opinion confirming that the VM is in compliance with the requirements of the Act.

22. PARTICULAR OF CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY
ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO AS PER
SECTION 134 (3) (M) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 134(3)(m) of the Act read with Rule 8(3) of the Companies
(Accounts) Rules, 2014, the information relating to conversation of energy, technology
absorption and foreign exchange earnings and out go, is enclosed and marked as “Annexure -
D”, which forms an integral part of this report.

23. MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS AFFECTING THE FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY THAT OCCURRED BETWEEN APRIL 1, 2020
TO 6t SEPTEMBER 2021

During the year under review and as on the date of this report, there were no material changes
and commitments affecting the financial position of your Company.
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24. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY

The CIPL Risk Management System is designed to identify and manage the risk of failure to
ensure least impact on business. A continuous process is in place for identifying, assessing,
managing, monitoring and reporting on the significant risks faced by group companies. The
Company has additional oversight in the area of financial risks and controls. Major risks
identified by the businesses and functions are systematically addressed through mitigating
actions on a continuingbasis.

25. INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROL

The internal control framework of your Company is commensurate with nature of its business,
size and complexity of its operations. The internal control framework is supported by risk and
control matrix, standard operating procedures, policies and guidelines and self- assessment
exercises. These internal control frameworks are routinely tested by management and the
Internal Auditors. The internal financial control framework is monitored by the Audit
Committee of the Board.

With regard to the internal controls, the Statutory Auditors have stated in their audit report
that except for the possible effect of the material weaknesses described in the Basis for
Qualified opinion paragraph above on the achievement of the objectives of the criteria, the
Company has, in all material respect, an adequate internal financial control system with
respect to financial statements and such internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements were operating effectively as at March 31, 2021 based on the internal financial
control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial
Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

The management under the guidance of the Board is continuously strengthening the processes
over financial control environment basis the management reviews, internal & external audits,
and investigations and the Board believes that the internal financial controls in the Company
have been continuously strengthened are adequate and were operating effectively.

26. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

Pursuant to Section 134(5) of the Act, the Board of Directors, to the best of their knowledge and
belief, confirm that:

a) in the preparation of the annual accounts, the applicable accounting standards had been
followed along with proper explanation relating to material departures;

b) the Directors had selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial year and of the Profit and
Loss of the Company for that period;

c) the Directors had taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets
of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities; and

d) the Directors had prepared the annual accounts on a going concern basis.
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e) The Directors had devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all
applicable laws and Secretarial Standards (except in some instances where some delays in
circulation of minutes of Board) and such systems are adequate and operating effectively.

f) Asaresult of investigations conducted under the Vigil Mechanism process of the Company,
it has come to the knowledge of the Board that:

()

(i)

During the earlier financial years, the Company received communication through
its Vigil Mechanism pertaining to certain alleged unlawful/unethical practices.
Matters raised through vigil mechanism are dealt with in accordance with the
Misconduct Investigation Manual of the Company, with the assistance of external
counsel and forensic experts wherever considered necessary. The concluded
investigations indicated certain internal control weaknesses and a possibility that
certain practices of the Company in earlier years might not be in compliance with
the applicable laws, Company’s Code of Ethics & Conduct, and policies, although
the amount involved could not be ascertained.

The Directors have acknowledged the seriousness of the issues involved and
pursuant to an investigation conducted by Shardul Amarchand Mangaldas and
Company (“SAM”) and Ernstand Young LLP,(“EY”), therefore it approved various
remedial actions in its meeting dated 7th May 2020 as referred to at Paragraph 20
above to strengthen CIPL’s internal controls, governance, risk, and compliance
processes. The Company has implemented all disciplinary and remedial actions.
The Directors confirm and state that in view of the remedial actions taken by the
Board in its meeting dated 7th May 2020, the compliance systems of CIPL are
adequate and operating effectively.

During the current financial year, the Company received communication through
its Vigil Mechanism pertaining to certain alleged unlawful/unethical practices. The
company has concluded certain investigations while some of them are still in
progress. The Company already implemented some of the disciplinary and
remedial actions related to those investigations while some are in progress.

27. EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN

In terms of Section 92 of the Act read with Rule 12 of The Companies (Management and
Administration) Rules, 2014, the Annual Return of your Company for the Financial Year
ended 31st March 2021 will be made available on the website of the Company once ready. The
same can be accessed at www.carlsbergindia.com.

28. MATERIAL ORDERS BY REGULATORS / JUDICIAL BODIES

During the year under review, the Company had received revised DG report in the CCI matter
wherein the officers of the Director General of Competition Commission of India (CCI) had
carried out an inspection in Gurgaon Office (Corporate Office) of your Company in the year
2018. The Company has filed its reply in the matter and has also argued the matter before the
Competition Commission. The judgment is awaited.
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29. PREVENTION OF SEXUALHARASSMENT

Prevention of Sexual Harassment of Employees at workplace and providing a safe and
harassment free atmosphere is a matter of great importance for the Management. Right to
protection from Sexual Harassment and right to work with dignity are recognized as universal
Human Rights and the management endorses the same. Your Company has zero tolerance for
sexual harassment at workplace and in pursuance thereto had adopted a Policy on Prevention,
Prohibition and Redressal of Sexual Harassment at workplace in line with the provisions of
The Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act,
2013 and the Rules made thereunder (herein after referred to as ‘Act’) for Prevention and
Redressal of complaints of Sexual Harassment at workplace.

The Company has an Internal Complaints Committee as per the requirements of The Sexual
Harassment of Women at the Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition & Redressal) Act, 2013.

Further, in reference to the year under review, please note the following:

S. No. Particulars Remarks

1. Number of sexual harassment |1
complaints received in a year.

2. Number of complaints disposed off | 1
during the year.

3. Number of cases pending for more | None
than ninety days

4. Number of workshops or awareness | N/A
programme against sexual

harrassmentt carried out

5. Nature of action taken by the [The complaint was partially
Company substantiated. Warning letters were
issued to the accused person.

- 30. MAINTENANCE OF COST RECORDS

Maintenance of cost records as specified by the Central Government under Section 148(1) of
the Act is not applicable to the Company for the year under review.

Page 14 of 27



31. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Your Directors take this opportunity to place on record their deep sense of gratitude to the
banks, Government departments, the local authorities for their guidance and support. Your
Directors are also grateful to the customers, suppliers and business associates of the
Company for their continued co-operation and support. Your Directors express their deep
sense of appreciation for the total commitment, dedication and hard work put in by all
employees at all levels of the Company. Lastly, your Directors are deeply grateful for the
continuous confidence and faith shown in them by the members of theCompany.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

! lsberﬁlndia Private Limited

MUTHURAMANRAMANATHAN
Whole Time Director

DIN: 0741108

Managing Director
DIN: 01805278

Date: September 6, 2021

Page 15 of 27




Annexure-A

Form AOC-1

(Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of section 129 read with rule 5 of
Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of
Subsidiaries/ Associate Companies/Joint ventures

Part "A" Subsidiaries NOT APPLICABLE

Since the Company doesn’t have any Subsidiary therefore the relevant disclosure in this
regard is not applicable.

Part "B": Associates and Joint Ventures
Statement pursuant to Section 129(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 related to
Associate Companies

and Joint Ventures

Name of Associate NCC Crowns Private
Limited

1. Latest Audited Balance Sheet Date 31st March, 2021

2. Date on which the Associate was associated or 7th December, 2015
acquired

3. Shares of Associate held by the company on the year
No. 12,300,000
Amount of Investment in Associate INR 123,000,000
Extent of Holding (in percentage) 33.33%
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4. ‘ Description of how there is a significant influence | The  Company  had
entered into a Joint
| Venture Agreement on
| 21.12.2015 with Nippon
' Closures Co. Ltd., a Japan
based Company and by
: virtue of the agreement it
' is holding 33.33%
| shareholding in the NCC

Crowns Private Limited,
| the associate Company.
Further, the Company’s
Director is also appointed
on the Board of Associate

Company.
5. | Reason why the Associate/joint venture Not
‘ is not consolidated Applicable
6. ‘ Net worth attributable to Shareholding as per 365,784,000
latest audited Balance sheet
7 Profit/Loss for the year
i. considered in Consolidation INR
12,472,000

1. Names of associates or joint ventures which are yet to commence operations: N.A.

2. Names of associates or joint ventures which have been liquidated or sold during the
year: N.A.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

arlsberg India Private Limited
N\
NI :

ESH PATEL MUTHURAMAN RAMANATHAN
Managing Director Whole-Time Director
DIN: 01805278 DIN: 07411088

Date: September 6, 2021
Place: Gurugram
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ANNEXURE-D

PARTICULARS REQUIRED UNDER THE Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014

A CONSERVATION OF ENERGY

a. Steps taken or impact on conservation of Energy:

vil.

viii.

Xii.

The Company continues to use insulated pipes and tanks in the brew house
leading to conservation of energy usage and refurbishing the insulation to
improve efficiency.

All plants of the Company continue to be equipped with condensate recovery
system from steam to ensure adequate feed water temperature to boilers which
helps the Company to save energy, water and chemical.

We have also implemented the insulation of high energy consuming
equipment like bottle washer and pasteurizer in 5 plants, which will be
extended 2 more plants in due course.

The Company continues to use various mechanism/methods for recharging
water into the ground.

Water recycling plant efficiency improvement projects and capacity
improvement action are underway to reduce freshwater intake.

Water with salt balance continues to be designed for all the plants such as
installing the WWRP (Wastewater Recovery Plant) and MEP (Mechanical
Evaporation Plant) to recycle the water and reduce its intake.

The continued systematic approach on preventive maintenance and better
production planning has helped to deliver better OEE, better output with
lowest usage of energy.

The continued automation in refrigeration and investment in technology
change in removal of heat has helped in reducing refrigeration power
consumption and water consumption. Vapour absorption system is
commissioned in two plants against conventional refrigeration system to
reduce energy consumption.

All plants have installed vapour recovery system from wort boiling.

Utility Metering (i.e., Water, Electricity & Energy) on the specific identified
points for measuring, analyzing to achieve better control and optimization.
The Boilers are equipped with effimax controls with Blowdown (all plants,
except Aurangabad) for optimization of fuel efficiency & monitoring.

Bench marking with industry standards consumption are being done to
identify further opportunity to reduce energy.

b. Steps taken by the Company for utilizing alternate sources of energy

The Installation of biofuel fire (Rice/ Ground Nut husk) boiler for Aurangabad
brewery is underway, this would eliminate carbon emission.
Biogas recovery (It is known as green energy fuel) from WWTP plant are

Page 24 of 27



.

working successfully in all the plants except Hyderabad. Its continued usage
as fuel has helped in reducing the usage of boiler fuel around 10%. The
approvals are in progress to implement the same in Hyderabad unit as well.
The Installation of rooftop solar plants at Dharuhera, Alwar and Aurangabad
plants to cover part of electrical load & Solar power from External Grid in
Mysuru continues to fulfil majority (90%) of load power requirement of
Mysore brewery with solar power.

We are in the process of tying up with I-REC global agencies to meet up our

target of Zero Emission by purchasing Green power for all the India
breweries.

Capital investment on energy conservation equipment

During the current year 2020 the Company plans to invest approx. INR 16 Million
on energy conservation equipment and key details are as follows:

B - | | - &
Category Capex Brewery 2021 E2
Productivity improvementCarton erector - Aurangabad 8
Aurangabad
Water usage reduction - Back wash system -  |Aurangabad -
Aurangabad
d Thermal energy reduction - Replacement of  |PS 2
Excellence & cost savings |+ ng trap with SOPT - Paonta Sahib
Thermal energy reduction -Separate PRS for  |PS 1
wort kettle and brewhouse CIP - Paonta Sahib
Plant regular projects - Excellence & cost All 20
|savings
Bio mass boiler - Aurangabad Aurangabad 103
WWRO upgradation in Aurangabad Aurangabad 12
Environment WWRO reocation from Alwar to Kolkata Kolkata 5
STP Dharuhera Dharuhera 5
Plant regular projects - Environment All 3

Total investment is approx. INR 16 Mn

Additional investiment proposals, if any, being implemented for reduction in
consumption of energy:

vi.

Improved ceramic Insulation of Bottle washer & Pasteurizer in the
remaining two plants to reduce steam consumption.

Boiler auto blow down system for efficient blow down of hot water.
Boiler automation through new technology implementation in Air-fuel ratio
controls are planned.

VFD for ID & FD fan automation inboiler and other high power consumption
electrical load

Wet bulb interlocks on cooling towers and evaporative compressors of
refrigeration plants as per discharge temperature for improved electrical
efficiency.

LED lights, where-ever necessary.

Impact of measures at (a) and (b) above on reduction of energy
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consumption and consequent impact on cost of production ofgoods:

The above proposals will result in environment conservation because of reduction
in the use of Power, Fuel and Water consumption.

TECHNOLOGYABSORPTION
Efforts made towards technology absorption

During the Financial Year under review.

i Brewing technology provided by technical team from Carlsberg A/S is
continued.

i. Training of our people on machine handling, operations, brewing and
quality checks are provided through E - learning platform.

i All manufacturing facilities are equipped with empty bottle inspection,
which helped to reduce foreign bodies contamination in the product.

Benefits derived like product improvement, cost reduction, product development or
import substitution

To ensure availability of finest premium beer of international standard to the
customers in the Indian Market.

In case of imported technology (imported during the last three years reckoned
from the beginning of the financial year).

Import of Technology to manufacture beer of international quality started in 2008-09
and the technologies are being absorbed.

Expenditure incurred onR&D

For Research and Development insights the Company draws its reference from the
R&D activities undertaken by the Carlsberg Group. The Company gets constant
guidance from the Carlsberg Group to improve product and its efficiencies.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO

The Foreign Exchange earned in terms of actual inflows during the year and the
Foreign Exchange outgo during the year in terms of actual outflows.

i During the Financial Year under review, your Company had made
expenditure in foreign currency amounting to Rs.420 MINR (previous year
Rs. 502.7MINR).
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